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Dear Fellow Stockholders

ast yeai wrote you about the strong tions wc ok to position HQ fbi

success am cry plea ed to epor that thc se actions resulted significant

turnaround in just one ear \\c ha\e strengthen our organization our produd

pipeline and our halanc sheet enabling us to west in profitable gw wth and

build long ci stockholder value

Successful Turnaround in Fiscal 2010

In fiscal 2010 our net sales grew 9% in market

that was down I2o reflecting strong market share

gains for us over the past twelve months In
just

one year se went from $165 million operating

loss to $16 million operating profit We delivered

eai nings per share of $0.19 versus loss of $1 52

last vear

thonnnnd rxcepl UPS

GAAP

Net sales

Operating income loss

Earninqs loss per share

Non-GAAP

Net sales

Operating income loss

Earnings loss per share

899137 829963

9649 387713

013 6.45

888652 1112615

15603 164606

0.19 0.52

We strengthened our balance sheet ending the

year with cash cash equivalents and shoit-lerin

investments of $271 million including $97 million

in net proceeds from the issuance of convertible

senior notes Our net sales profitability
and cash

generation each surpassed the financial
targets we

set forth year ago This strong financial turnaround

was accomplished by crisp execution on the
strategic

plan outlined one year ago and significant cost

savings resulting from our business realignment

Business Unit Structure and Product

Quality Drive Success Building Strong

Product Pipeline for Future Growth

During the past yeai we made fundamental changes

to our organization to address the olving market

for video games lhi new business unit structure we

implemented in June of last year playe an nportant

role in IQs successful turnaround by focusing

seasoned executives on key aspects of our business

In addition our enhanced creativ de\ elopment

organization and disciplined green light and pioject

management processes delivered consistent high

quality titles Our average Metacritic quality scores

in fiscal 2010 increased to 82 from 80 in fiscal 2009

and 72 in fiscal 2008

We recently announced the
integi atmon of our

Online Games Busi ess Unit into our Core Games

and Kids Family Casual Games ismness Units

This move positions TIIQ to seamlessly integrate

digital and online game strategies into all of our

key franchise plans in order to apitilize on the

industrys largest growth opportunity We are

embracing the Internet social gaming digital

connectivity and mobility as integral components

of our franchise plans as our consumers migrate

to acquit ing and playing games online

Twelve Months Ended

March 31

2010 2009

lion riiii/fs tconti/niliiin non 1P to 1J en1i it ni idd in Iii /tnnnrial lnhkt jo/mu ig
1/it u/ru/i 11 in u/nt inuuul
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Average Metacritic Score on Key Titles

tHQ executed on each of the five operating goals

we set forth in fiscal 2010 as follows

First Dehver one ntno ouc its 1ore james

In fiscal 2010 we shipped internally developed

and owned intellectual properties Red Faction

Guerrilla and Durksiderc with Metacritic
ratings

of 8a and 83 respect veiy Building oii ns success

out Core Gun teaul coi tniues to desciop

robnst pipeline with Homcfront and Red Faction

Armageddon schednled fhr fiscal 2011

rrrrqu

ns
Vt4 arnflnnrtiu

Our orld class internal Studio Sy stem is supoorting

HQs Core Games efibrts In Decenibei we

announced plans to open new dcvelopnicut

studio in Mo streel Quebec which we exoect will

become the largest studio in our global Studio

System Montreal stood out as the ideal location

for our new studio because of its outstandii pool

of creatise talent and its highly regarded univers ty

system coupled with significant fnancial and

cc inoinic incentives

Second Extend our leadership in the high ng

gaines category In May 2009 we successfully

launched the Ultimate Fight ng Championship

UFC franchise earning an 84 Metacritic rating

and slnpping irly mdhoi its in fisc 201

caaesre nannanosnr
On May 25 2010 we again set the stasdaid tor

mixed martial arts gaines with the release of

UFC Undisputed 2010 Ihe game aunchcd

vith an 87 Metacritic rating underscoring our

ability to consistently deliver quality gaines and

build blockbuster franchises We lo forward to

working closely with UFC in the coming ycars as

we work together to help extend their leade ship

here in North America and sew markets

around the globe

We arc also pleased to have settled the
litigation

with Wor Wrestling Entertainnic it WWE
and JAKKS Pacific resulting in new direct eight

year agreement with WWE to continue to publish

games based on this tremendous brand We are

now working niore closcly than eser before with



our partners at \v WF to maximize the success

this franchise In fiscal 2010 we shipped nearly

million units of WWT Smacklown vs Raw 2010

For fiscal 2011 plan to build on this popular

ideo game franchise with WWE SrnackDown vs

Raw 2011 this fall \e also plan to launch brand

extension WWF All Stars and to go ide with

WWF SrnackDown vs Raw Online in Korea later

this fiscal year

Third Reinvigorate our kids licensed portfolio

luring fiscal 2010 we executed on our stated strat

egy to strengthen our portfolio and improve profit

ability
in our kids licensed business We announced

multi year multi property

agreement with Dream Works

Animation to publish gamesDRLiwWK
based on Kung Lu Panda

Puss in Boots and Ihe Penguins of Madagasca

Combined with the previousl signed Mega\/Iine

we now hase two DreamWorks Animation gaines

scheduled in both fiscal 2011 and 2012 Marvel Su

per Squad was new opportunity foi LI IQ

this year and se shipped more than one million

units of our first games based on this
exciting

branc

We look forward to launching new games based on

this
great

brand in fiscal 2011

Fourth Build our portfolio of casual games Vv

executed on our goal to build strong mass ppeal

and family gaming franchises with titles si ch as

The Biggest Loser It aas the fitness game from

an independent publisher in the US during the

holidiy quarter and anked in the top tUe fitness

gaines in the US for calendar 2009 accot ding to the

NP1 Group Inc We continue to build ow Drawn

to LJe brand with our latest title shipping more

than one million units and total lifetime fi anchise

shipments in excess of three million units We also

established nen original franchise with World

of Zoo at nearly 800000 units shipped Looking

into mr new fis al ear we plan to bring our

critically acclaimed de Blob franchise back in the

fourth quarter of seal 2011 We also look forn ard

to publishing Wheel of Fortune and JEOPARDY

games based on our new multi ear agreement with

Sony Pictures Consumer Products Our focused

Kids Family and Casual Games business ur it has

made substantial piogress toward whieving uur

goal of building strong casual and family gaming

franchises while at the same time lowering our

development and licensing costs

Fifth Extend our brands onto online and
digital

platforms We see digital gaming as significant



future market opportunity and we are iucreasmg

our investments in this area to build pipehr1e of

online and connected games around the world

\e are integrating digital strategy
into all of our

key franehi es using buincss models such as free

to-play micro-transactions paid downloadable

content and full scale MMOs During fiscal

2011 we plan to launch two free to-play micro-

transaction-based games Cornpc fly uf Heroes

Oalinc in Korea and North Anie ica and WWE
SrnackDowfi vs Raw Online in Korea We intend

to publish digital games on all reler ant platforms

including Facebook Xhox LIVE Arcade

PlayStation Network along with iPlione and iPad

significant online initiative for 1IIQ is our

Warhamrner 40000 Dark Vlillenniam Online

nsassively nrultiplayer online MMO game which

is expected to launch in fiscal 2013 Developed by

our Vigil Games studio Dark Adillenniam Online

will deliver the deepest experience the Warhamnner

40000 universe has to offer and we believe it will

set new standards in graphical and grme pay

quality withn th MMO genre

In summary in fiscal 2010 we exceeded our

stated goals of revenue growth profitability and

significant cash generation and we have built the

toundation for our long term success with our

focused business units and lower cost structure

We gained global market share ranking as the

independent publisher with 4Ao share

according to NPD Chart Track rd GIN We

established three highly rated core game franchises

UFC Darksdeis and Red Fic ior We aided

new hit family and casual franchises such as Ihe

Biggest Loser and secured multi-year licensing

agreements to make games based on some of

the worlds mo well known brands WV
Dream Works Animation HOP RDY and Wheel

of Fortune We have invested in TI HQs online and

digital busness and expect it to grow meaningfully

over the next several years

Our goal in fiscal 2011 is to position the company

for growth in fiscal 2012 and beyond

Product Pipeline Positions FHQ for

Accelerated Growth in Fiscal 2012 and

Fiscal 2013

We have positioned our organization to deliver

accelerated net sales growth and continued margin

expansion in fiscal 2012 and beyond

hi fiscal 2012 we plan to release three major

Core Game titles with the third installment of

our popular Saints Row franchise sequel to
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not historical facts may
be forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform

Act of 1995 Such statements include but are not limited to statements regarding industry

prospects and future results of operations or financial position We generally use words such as

anticipate believe could estimate expect forecast future intend may plan
positioned potential project scheduled set to subject to upcoming and other

similar expressions to help identify forward-looking statements These forward- looking

statements are based on current expectations estimates and projections about the business of

THQ Inc and its subsidiaries and are based upon managements current beliefs and certain

assumptions made by management Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and

uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied

by such forward-looking statements including but not limited to business competitive

economic legal political and technological factors affecting our industry operations markets
products or pricing The forward-looking statements contained herein speak only as of the date

on which they were made and we disclaim any obligation to update any forward-looking

statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report Risks and

uncertainties that may affect our future results include but are not limited to those discussed

under the heading Risk Factors included in Item 1A herein

All references to we us our THQ or the Company in the following discussion and

analysis mean THQ Inc and its subsidiaries Most of the properties and titles referred to in this

Annual Report are subject to trademark protection

PART

Item Business

Introduction

We are leading worldwide developer and publisher of interactive entertainment software for all popular

game systems including

home video game consoles such as the Microsoft Xbox 360 Xbox 360 Nintendo Wii Wii Sony

PlayStation PS3 and Sony PlayStation PS2

handheld platforms such as the Nintendo DS and DS1 collectively referred to as DS and Sony

PlayStation Portable PSP
wireless devices including the iPhone iTouch and iPad and

personal computers PCs including games played online

We also develop and publish titles for digital distribution via Sonys PlayStation Network PSN and

Microsofts Xbox LIVE Marketplace Xbox LIVE and Xbox LIVE Arcade XBLA as well as digitally offer

our PC titles through online download stores and services such as Steam We believe that digital delivery of

games and game content is becoming an increasingly important part of our business

Our titles span wide range of categories including action adventure fighting racing role-playing

simulation sports and strategy We have created licensed and acquired group of highly recognizable

brands which we market to variety of consumer demographics ranging from products targeted at core

garners to products targeted to children and the mass market Our portfolio of Core Games includes games
based on popular fighting brands such as the Ultimate Fighting Championship UFC and World Wrestling

Entertainment WWE racing games based on our MX vs ATV brand and action shooter and strategy

games based on our owned intellectual properties such as Company of Heroes Darksiders Red Faction

and Saints Row as well as games based on Games Workshops Warhammer 40000 universe Our Kids

Family and Casual portfolio includes games based on popular brands such as DreamWorks Animation

DisneyPixar Marvel Entertainment NBCs The Biggest Loser Nickelodeon and Sony Picture Consumer



Products JEOPARDY and Wheel of Fortune as well as games based on our owned intellectual properties

including de Blob and Drawn to Life

We develop our products using both internal and external development resources The internal resources

consist of producers game designers software engineers artists animators and game testers located within

our internal development studios and corporate headquarters The external development resources consist

of third-party software developers and other independent resources such as artists voice-over actors and

composers We refer to this group of development resources as our Studio System

Our global sales network includes offices throughout North America Europe and Asia Pacific In the U.S and

Canada we market and distribute games directly to mass merchandisers consumer electronic stores

discount warehouses and other national retail chain stores Internationally we market and distribute games
on direct-to-retail basis in the territories where we have direct sales force and to lesser extent in the

territories where we do not have direct sales force third parties distribute our games We also globally

market and distribute games digitally via the Internet and through high-end wireless devices such as the

iPhone iTouch and iPad

We were originally incorporated in New York in 1989 as Trinity Acquisition Corporation which changed its

name in 1991 to T.HQ Inc following merger with THQ Inc California corporation We were

reincorporated in Delaware as THQ Inc in 1997 Our principal executive offices are located at 29903 Agoura

Road Agoura Hills California 91301 and our telephone number is 818 871-5000 Our Internet address is

http//www.thq.com

Fiscal Periods

Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest March 31st For simplicity all fiscal periods are presented or

referenced as ending on calendar month end The fiscal year ending March 31 2011 and the fiscal years

ended March 31 2010 2009 and 2008 contain the following number of weeks

Fiscal Number of

Period Weeks Fiscal Period End Date

Year ending March 31 2011 fiscal 2011 52 weeks April 2011

Year ended March 31 2010 fiscal 2010 53 weeks April 2010

Year ended March 31 2009 fiscal 2009 52 weeks March 28 2009

Year ended March 31 2008 fiscal 2008 52 weeks March 29 2008

Changes to our Operating Structure and Strategy in Fiscal 2010

During the last two fiscal years we have restructured our organization in order to support our more focused

product strategy This strategy consists of the following operating goals

develop select number of high quality owned intellectual properties targeted at the core gamer
each year

extend our leadership in fighting games

reinvigorate our kids portfolio and improve profitability in our kids business

build our portfolio of casual games that appeal to broad gamer demographic and

embrace digital integration and extend our brands to online gaming markets

During fiscal 2010 we restructured our organization into three business unitsCore Games Kids Family and

Casual Games and Online Games Each business unit operates globally with dedicated game development
and marketing teams We also created our Global Publishing unit which operates in three regionsNorth

America Europe and Asia Pacificand is responsible for global distribution and sales of our products

Core Games

Our Core Games group oversees the production and marketing of action fighting racing shooter and

strategy games primarily targeted to avid or core gamers The THQ Core Games franchise portfolio includes

games based on popular fighting brands such as UFC and WWE racing games based on our MX vs ATV



brand and action shooter and strategy games based on our established franchises such as Darksiders Red

Faction Saints Row and Warhammer 40000 THQs Core Games are developed primarily at the following

THQ studios Kaos Studios Relic Entertainment THQ Digital Studio Phoenix THO Digital Studio UK THQ
San Diego Vigil Games and Volition Inc THQ Core Games may also be developed externally For example

our UFC Undisputed and WWE SmackDown vs Raw fighting games are currently being developed by

external studio Yukes Co Ltd of which we own approximately 15%

Kids Family and Casual Games

Our Kids Family and Casual Games group oversees production and marketing of games targeted to the

mass market and families Our Kids Family and Casual Games portfolio includes original games such as de

Blob Drawn to Life The Next Chapterand World of Zoo and games based on leading entertainment brands

such as DreamWorks Animations MegaMind Marvel Super Hero Squad DisneysPixars Up NBCs The

Biggest Loser and Sony Pictures Consumer Products popular game shows JEOPARDY and Wheel of

Fortune THQs Kids Family and Casual Games are developed at THQs Blue Tongue studio and Studio

Australia as well as by external game developers

Online Games

THQs Online Games group oversees production and marketing of dedicated online games Our online

strategy is to leverage our established brands such as Company of Heroes Warhammer 40000 and WWE
into the dedicated online space We are currently partnering with companies in China and Korea to deliver

Company of Heroes and WWE online in those markets We also plan to launch Company of Heroes Online in

North America In addition we are internally developing Massively Multiplayer Online MMO game based

on the Warhammer 40000 universe

Our Industry

The interactive entertainment software industry includes the economic sector involved with the development

marketing and sale of video PC and online games It encompasses dozens of job disciplines and employs

thousands of people worldwide Video games have increasingly become mainstream entertainment choice

for both children and adults According to the Entertainment Software Association more than two-thirds of

American households play games and the average gamer is aged 35 and has been playing for 12 years In

addition 40% of all players are women

According to the International Development Group Inc IDG an independent consulting and advisory

services company that analyzes the consumer electronics and interactive entertainment industries sales of

console handheld and PC games excluding wireless and online surpassed $21.0 billion in North America

and Europe combined in calendar 2009

The first modern video game platform was introduced by Nintendo in 1985 Since then advances in

technology have resulted in continuous increases in the processing power of the chips that power both the

consoles and PC Todays video game consolesthe PS3 Xbox 360 and Wiiare not simply gaming

platforms but also function as multimedia hubs that can deliver high-quality digital movies and television

programs Video games are also played on PCs that contain powerful graphics cards and on advanced

handheld devices such as the PSP and DS Additionally both online gaming and wireless gaming have

become popular platforms for video game players over the last several years

Our Products

We develop market and sell video games and other interactive software and content for play on console

platforms handheld platforms mobile devices PCs and online The following games generated 10% or more

of our net sales during the respective fiscal years

in fiscal 2010 UFC 2009 Undisputed and WWESmackDown vs Raw 2010

in fiscal 2009 WWE SmackDown vs Raw 2009 Saints Row and Wall-E and

in fiscal 2008 WWE SmackDown vs Raw 2008 and Ratatouille



Our games are based on intellectual property that is either wholly-owned by us or licensed from third parties

We develop our games using both internal development resources and external development resources

working for us pursuant to contractual agreements Whether game is developed internally or externally

upon completion of development we extensively play-test each game and if required send the game to the

platform manufacturer Microsoft Nintendo or Sony for its review and approval Other than games we
release for PCs for online play or for wireless devices the platform manufacturers or their authorized vendors

manufacture our products for us We then market and distribute our games for sale throughout the world

Creating and Acquiring Our Intellectual Property

Our business process begins with an idea Inspiration for our interactive entertainment software comes from

many sourcesfrom our internal studios from our external studio partners and from existing intellectual

properties that we either license or acquire Historically most of our titles have been based upon licensed

properties that have attained high level of consumer recognition or acceptance We have relationships with

many well-known licensors and create games based on certain properties they own or control Licensors

generally do not grant exclusive output agreements for all of their properties with any one publisher and thus

our licenses are limited to certain of licensors properties Our current key licenses allow us to publish

games based on the following properties

Licensor Properties

Disney.Pixar Ratatouille WALL.E Up and future yet to be announced title

DreamWorks Animation MegaMind Kung Fu Panda The Kaboom of Doom Puss In Boots
and The Penguins of Madagascar

Games Workshop Warhammer 40000 universe

Marvel Entertainment Super Hero Squad
NBC The Biggest Loser

Nickelodeon Kids 6-14 animated properties and related live action movies including

SpongeBob SquarePants and The Last Airbender

Sony Pictures Consumer
Products JEOPARDY and Wheel of Fortune
World Wrestling Entertainment World Wrestling Entertainment content

Zutfa LLC Ultimate Fighting Championship content

These intellectual property licenses generally grant us the exclusive use of the property for specified titles on

specified platforms and for specified license term The licenses are of varying duration and we pay

royalties to our property licensors generally based on our net sales of the title that includes the licensors

intellectual property We typically advance payments against minimum guaranteed royalties over the license

term Royalty rates are generally higher for properties with proven popularity and less perceived risk of

commercial failure

In addition to licensed properties we continue to create or acquire new intellectual properties that we own
We refer to these properties as our owned intellectual property Our owned intellectual property is

generally created by one of our development studios or by third-party developer with whom we contract

We have also acquired intellectual properties from other publishers or developers The titles we create based

on our owned intellectual properties may contain certain licensed content such as music or rights to use of

name or object such as brand-name vehicle In this case we enter into license agreement with the

content owner and pay either fixed fee or royalty for the use of such content

Developing Our Products

We develop our products using both internal and external development resources The internal resources

consist of producers game designers software engineers artists animators and game testers located within

our internal studios located throughout North America in the United Kingdom and in Australia and in our

corporate headquarters The external development resources consist of third- party software developers and

other independent resources such as artists voice-over actors and composers We refer to this collective

group of development resources as our Studio System

We make the decision as to which development resources to use based upon the creative and technical

challenges of the product including whether the intellectual property being developed into game is

licensed an original concept that we created or an original concept created by third-party developer Once

we determine where product will be developed our product development team oversees the internal or

external resources in its design technical assessment and construction of each game



The development cycle for new game depends on the platform and the complexity and scope of the game
AdditionaDy when developing an intellectual property into game that is simultaneously being made into

motion picture our development schedule is designed to ensure that our games are commercially available

by the motion pictures theatrical release Our development cycles generally range as follows

18-36 months for our console and PC games

9-18 months for our handheld games

6-18 months for our casual/social online games and

1-5 years for our Core Online Games with the longer end of that range for our large scale MMO
games

These development cycles require that we assess whether there will be adequate retailer and consumer

demand for game and its platform well in advance of its release

The investments in our product development prior to when game reaches technological feasibility and

other non-capitalizable costs are recorded as product development expenses in our consolidated statement

of operations In fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 we had product development expenses of $87.2 million

$109.2 million and $128.9 million respectively

Upon completion of development each game is extensively play-tested by us to ensure compatibility with the

appropriate hardware systems and configurations and to minimize the number of bugs and other defects

found in the products If required we also send the game to the manufacturer for its review and approval To

support our products after release we provide online access to our customers on 24 hour basis as well as

operator help lines during regular business hours The customer support group tracks customer inquiries and

we use this data to help improve the development and production processes

Manufacturing Our Products

Other than games we release for sale on PCs digital download or wireless devices our video games are

manufactured for us by the platform manufacturers or their authorized vendors We contract with various DVD

replicators for the manufacturing of our PC products

The platform game manufacturing process begins with our placing purchase order with manufacturer We
then send the approved software code to the manufacturer together with related artwork user instructions

warranty information brochures and packaging designs for manufacturing We order sufficient amount of

product units to meet the requirements of our customers based upon our sales forecasts for game
Because we do not manufacture our products ourselves we do not carry significant amounts of inventory to

meet rapid delivery requirements of customers or to assure ourselves of continuous allotment of goods from

manufacturers At the time our product unit orders are filled by the manufacturer we become responsible for

the costs of manufacturing and the applicable per unit royalty on such units even if the units do not

ultimately sell

We are required by our platform licenses to provide standard defective product warranty on all of the

products sold Generally we are responsible for resolving at our own expense any warranty or repair claims

We have not experienced any material warranty claims but there is no guarantee that we will not experience

such claims in the future

Marketing Our Products

The manner in which we drive consumer demand for our brands across the globe has evolved significantly in

recent years as we have expanded our franchise portfolio At the global brand management level we take

disciplined approach to defining and refining positioning for our key game releases We implement extensive

consumer research including concept and play testing that is conducted in conjunction with our development
studios and third party developers This research conducted prior to the commencement of product and

continued through projects development allows us to create game experiences that are optimally targeted

to the appropriate demographic via content and play patterns that provide maximum marketability to

consumers



Our marketing plans vary by target demographic but generally consist of three-pronged media plan

encompassing TV print and online advertising Certain of our campaigns also include billboard advertising

event sponsorship in-theater advertising and radio placements We also perform extensive consumer testing

of game packaging and TV creative prior to launch in order to determine the efficacy of the creative in

communicating the games positioning tone and attributes as well as measuring to what extent the creative

drives purchase interest Retail or Channel Marketing efforts for our games include pre-sell give-aways

displays and/or demonstrations at retailer- specific trade shows and cooperative retail advertising campaigns

We are taking more aggressive approach in what we term the connected marketing space This includes

how we build our brand in the online space via editorial opportunities screen shot trailer and other game
content releases online advertising official game websites and community outreach and management
Social media sites have grown in both their popularity and influence within our diverse target demographic
This new consumer immersion in social media has allowed us to create new ways to drive brand awareness
and purchase intent via medium that is both relevant and authentic to our target demographics acquisition

of information Game trial has been key driver of consumer demand for several of our Core Games through

consumer demos released at retail or online or game demos available at kiosks stationed at sports or other

entertainment events

Publicity is another key driver of awareness for our game portfolio as well as for THQ as publicly-held

company We maintain strong relationships with broad group of business consumer entertainment and

games enthusiast reporters across the globe working closely to secure positive editorial coverage across

broadcast print and online editorial outlets

Distributing and Selling Our Products

In North America our products are primarily sold directly to mass merchandisers consumer electronics stores

discount warehouses and national retail chain stores Our products are also sold to smaller regional retailers

as well as distributors who in turn sell our products to retailers that we do not service directly such as

grocery and drug stores Our North American sales activities are conducted by THQ sales representatives

throughout the United States as well as by our representatives in Canada and Mexico

Our international publishing activities are conducted via our offices throughout Europe and Asia Pacific The
international offices market and distribute to direct-to-retail customers and through distributors in both their

home territories and collectively to approximately 60 additional territories

We utilize electronic data interchange with most of our major customers in order to efficiently receive

process and ship customer product orders and ii accurately track and forecast sell-through of products to

consumers in order to determine whether to order additional products from the manufacturers We believe

that the direct relationship model we use allows us to better manage inventory merchandise and

communications We ship all of our products to our North American customers from warehouses located in

Michigan and Minnesota and we ship most of our products to our international customers from warehouses

located throughout Europe and Asia Pacific

As discussed in Part lIItem Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations we typically only allow returns for our PC products however we may decide to provide price

protection or allow returns for our video games after we analyze inventory remaining in the retail channel

ii the rate of inventory sell-through in the retail channel and iii our remaining inventory on hand We
maintain policy of giving credits for price protection and returns but we do not give cash refunds

We also globally market and distribute games and content digitally via the Internet and through high-end

wireless devices such as the iPhone iTouch and iPad The industry is delivering growing amount of

games downloadable content and product add-ons by direct digital download through the Internet and

gaming consoles We believe that much of the growth in the industry will come via online distribution such as

massively multi-player games both subscription and free-to-play casual micro-transaction based games
paid downloadable content and digital downloads of games Accordingly we plan to continue integrating

digital strategy into all of our key franchises



Platform License Agreements

Before we can develop market or sell video games on console or handheld platform we must enter into

license agreement with the manufacturer of such platform The current platform manufacturers are Microsoft

Nintendo and Sony Each of these platform license agreements allows us non-exclusive right to use for

fixed term and in designated territory technology that is owned by the platform manufacturer in order to

publish our games on such platform We are currently licensed to publish in most countries throughout the

world titles on Xbox 360 PS3 PS2 and PSP and the Wii and DS Additionally we are authorized to

develop and publish online content compatible with each console that utilizes online content As each

platform license expires if we intend to continue publishing games on such platform we must enter into

new agreement or an amendment with the platform manufacturer to extend the term of the agreement

Certain agreements such as the licenses with Sony for the PS3 and PS2 and with Microsoft for the

Xbox 360 automatically renew each year unless either party gives notice by the applicable date that it

intends to terminate the agreement

Our platform licenses require that each title be approved by the applicable platform manufacturer The

platform manufacturers have the right to review evaluate and approve prototype of each title and the titles

packaging and marketing materials Once title is developed and has been approved by the platform

manufacturer except for online content the title is manufactured solely by such platform manufacturer or its

designated vendor The licenses establish the payment terms for the manufacture of each cartridge or disc

made which generally provide for charge for every cartridge or disc manufactured and also establish

royalty rate for delivery of online content compatible with such manufacturers platform The amounts charged

by the platform manufacturers for both console discs and handheld cartridges include manufacturing

printing and packaging fee as well as royalty for the use of the platform manufacturers name proprietary

information and technology and are subject to adjustment by the platform manufacturers at their discretion

The platform license agreements also require us to indemnify the platform manufacturers with respect to all

loss liability and expense resulting from any claim against the platform manufacturer involving the

development marketing sale or use of our games including any claims for copyright or trademark

infringement brought against the platform manufacturer Each platform license may be terminated by the

platform manufacturer if breach or default by us is not cured after we receive written notice from the

platform manufacturer or if we become insolvent Upon termination of platform license for any reason other

than our breach or default we have limited period of time to sell any existing product inventory remaining

as of the date of termination The length of this sell-off period varies between 90 and 180 days depending

upon the platform agreement We must destroy any such inventory remaining after the end of the sell-off

period Upon termination as result of our breach or default we must destroy any remaining inventory within

minimum number of days as specified by the platform manufacturer

Seasonality and Deferral of Revenue

The interactive entertainment software industry is highly seasonal with sales typically significantly higher

during the third quarter of our fiscal year due primarily to the increased demand for interactive games during

the year-end holiday buying season

Net sales are impacted by the deferral and/or recognition of revenue from the sale of titles for which the

online service is more-than-inconsequential to the overall functionality of the game and as such represents

deliverable Such deferrals are recognized ratably over the estimated service period of six months beginning

the month after initial sale

Major Customers

Our largest customers worldwide include Best Buy GameStop Target and Wal-Mart We also sell our

products to other national and regional retailers discount store chains specialty retailers and distributors

GameStop and Wal-Mart each accounted for more than 0% of our gross sales in fiscal 201 We have two

Vendor agreements with Wal-Mart one for our console products and one for our PC products that we

entered into in 2001 and 2002 respectively that address certain standard terms and conditions such as

payment terms between us and Wal-Mart however the agreements do not contain any commitment for Wal

Mart to purchase or for us to sell any minimum level of products We do not have any agreements with

GameStop With respect to both Wal-Mart and GameStop as well as our other customers the customer

submits purchase order for each purchase request and that purchase order contains basic pricing and

delivery terms for such purchase None of the purchase orders individually with any customer accounted for



more than 10% of the Companys consolidated net sales for fiscal 2010 substantial reduction in

purchases termination of purchases or business failure by any of our largest customers could have

material adverse effect on us

Competition

As publisher of interactive entertainment software we consider ourselves to be part of the entertainment

industry At the most fundamental level our products compete with other forms of entertainment such as

motion pictures television music Internet and online services for the leisure time and discretionary spending
of consumers Our primary competition for sales of video games comes from Microsoft Nintendo and Sony
each of which is large developer and publisher of software for its own platforms as well as other publishers

and developers of interactive entertainment software such as Activision/Blizzard Atari Electronic Arts

LucasArts Namco Sega Take-Two Interactive Software and Ubisoft Additionally certain large intellectual

property owners such as Disney Viacom and Warner Bros have established video game units to develop

and publish games based upon certain of the properties they own In recent years our competition has

expanded to include online publishers of interactive entertainment such as Zynga and Shanda Interactive

Entertainment

In addition to competing for video game sales we compete with our competitors over licenses and brand-

name recognition access to distribution channels and effectiveness of marketing and price We also face

intense competition from our competitors for the services of talented video game producers artists engineers

and other employees

Employees

As of March 31 2010 we employed approximately 1680 people of whom over 640 were outside the United

States We believe that our ability to attract and retain qualified employees is critical factor in the successful

development and exploitation of our products and that our future success will depend in large measure on

our ability to continue to attract and retain qualified employees None of our employees are represented by

labor union or covered by collective bargaining agreement and we consider our relations with employees to

be favorable

Financial Information About Geographic Areas

See Part lIItem Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
and Note 22Segment and Geographic Information in the notes to the consolidated financial statements

included in Part IlItem

Available Information

We file annual quarterly and current reports proxy statements and other information with the Securities and

Exchange Commission SEC Our SEC filings including our annual report on Form 10-K quarterly reports

on Form 10-0 current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant

to Section 13a of the Exchange Act are available to the public free of charge over the Internet at our

website at http//www.thq.com or at the SECs web site at http//www.sec.gov Our SEC filings will be

available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we have electronically filed or furnished

them to the SEC Information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this annual

report on Form 10-K You may also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SECs Public

Reference Room at 100 Street NE Washington D.C 20549 You may obtain information on the operation

of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 You can view our Code of Business

Conduct and Ethics our Code of Ethics for Executive Officers and Other Senior Financial Officers and the

charters for each of our committees of the Board of Directors free of charge on the corporate governance
section of our website

Item 1A Risk Factors

Our business is subject to many risks and uncertainties that may impact our future financial performance
Some of those important risks and uncertainties that may cause our operating results to vary or may
materially and adversely impact our operating results are as follows



We must continue to develop and sell new titles in order to generate net sales and remain

profitable

We derive almost all of our net sales from sales of interactive software games Even the most successful

video games remain popular for only limited periods of time often less than six months and thus the success

of our business is dependent upon our ability to continually develop and sell successful new games
Because net sales associated with an initial product launch generally constitutes high percentage of the

total net sales associated with the life of product the inability of our products to achieve significant market

acceptance delays in product releases or disruptions following the commercial release of our products may
have material adverse impact our net sales and profitability

Our business is uhit driven If we do not deliver whit games our net sales and profitability can

suffer

While many new products are regularly introduced only relatively small number of hit titles account for

significant portion of video game sales If we fail to develop hit titles or if hif products published by our

competitors take larger share of consumer spending than we anticipate our product sales could fall below

our expectations which could negatively impact both our net sales and profitability

Ongoing uncertainty regarding the duration and extent of the recent economic downturn could

result in reduction in discretionary spending by consumers that could reduce demand for our

products

Our products involve discretionary spending on the part of consumers Consumers are generally more willing

to make discretionary purchases including purchases of products like ours during periods in which favorable

economic conditions prevail As result our products may be sensitive to general economic conditions and

economic cycles continuation or worsening of current adverse worldwide economic conditions including

declining consumer confidence inflation recession and rising unemployment may lead consumers to delay or

reduce purchases of our products Reduced consumer spending may also require us to incur increased

selling and promotional expenses reduction or shift in domestic or international consumer spending could

negatively impact our business results of operations and financial condition

We may not be able to adequately adjust our cost structure in timely fashion in response to

sudden decrease in demand

significant portion of our selling and marketing and our general and administrative expense is attributable

to expenses for personnel and facilities In the event of significant decline in net sales we may not be able

to dispose of facilities reduce personnel or make other changes to our cost structure without disruption to

our operations or without significant termination and exit costs Management may not be able to implement

such actions in timely manner if at all to offset an immediate shortfall in net sales and profit Moreover

reducing costs may impair our ability to produce and develop software titles at sufficient levels in the future

We have significant net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards NOLs If we are unable to

use our NOLs our future profitability may be significantly impacted

As of March 31 2010 we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $353.8 million and federal RD tax

credit carryforwards of $24.5 million Under applicable tax rules we may carry forward these NOLs in certain

circumstances to offset any current and future taxable income and thus reduce our income tax liability

subject to certain requirements and restrictions Therefore we believe that these NOLs could be

substantial asset However if we experience an ownership change as defined in Section 382 of the

Internal Revenue Code our ability to use the NOLs could be substantially limited which could significantly

increase our future income tax liability An ownership change generally is deemed to occur if our 5-percent

shareholders increase their aggregate percentage ownership of our stock by more than 50 percentage

points over the lowest percentage of our stock owned by these 5-percent shareholders at any time during

the three-year period prior to any such increase in ownership While the rules for identifying 5-percent

shareholders and their ownership are quite complex 5-percent shareholders generally include persons that

own at any time during the three-year testing period 5% or more of our stock directly as well as by

attribution from other persons and certain groups of stockholders each of whom owns less than 5% of our

stock On May 12 2010 we entered into Section 382 Rights Agreement with Computershare Trust

Company N.A as rights agent in an effort to prevent an ownership change from occurring and thereby

protect the value of the NOLs There can be no assurance however that the Section 382 Rights Plan will



prevent an ownership change from occurring or that entering into the Section 382 Rights Plan will in fact

protect the value of the NOLs

We believe our financial condition is sufficient to meet our operating requirements for at least the

next twelve months However in the event our net sales differ significantly from our

expectations we may need to defer and/or curtail currently-planned expenditures and/or pursue
additional funding to meet our cash needs

In fiscal 201 we generated positive operating cash flow and raised $1 00.0 million through the issuance of

convertible senior notes bringing our cash cash equivalents and short-term investments to $271.3 million as

of March 31 2010 from $140.7 million as of March 31 2009 However we operate in capital intensive

business and intend to invest in product development and licenses in fiscal 2011 and thus do not expect to

generate positive cash flow from operations in fiscal 2011 Although we believe that our financial condition is

sufficient to meet our operating requirements for at least the next twelve months in the event our net sales

and/or required expenditures differ significantly from our expectations we may need to defer and/or curtail

currently-planned expenditures and/or pursue additional funding to meet our cash needs

Since significant portion of our net sales are based upon licensed properties failure to renew
such licenses or renewals of such licenses on less advantageous terms could cause our net

sales and/or our profitability to decline

Games we develop based upon licensed brands make up substantial portion of our sales each year Sales

of our games based upon our two top-selling licensed brands UFC and WWE comprised approximately 35%
of our net sales in fiscal 2010 In fiscal 2009 sales of our games based upon our three top-selling licensed

brands DisneyPixar Nickelodeon and WWE comprised 47% of our net sales limited number of licensed

brands may continue to produce disproportionately large amount of our sales Due to the importance to us

of limited number of brands and the intense competition from other video game publishers to publish

games based upon these licensed brands we may not be able to renew our current licenses or may have to

renew brand license on less advantageous terms which could significantly lower our net sales and/or our

profitability On January 2010 we entered into an eight year license with WWE Our license with UFC

expires on December 31 2011 however we have the right to extend the term of the license to

December 31 2015 if we pay certain amount of royalties to the licensor based upon units sold which we
believe will be achieved in fiscal 2011 There can be no assurance that we will be able to extend such

licenses and if we are not able to extend them our net sales may decline significantly

decrease in the popularity of our licensed brands could materially impact our net sales and
financial position

As previously mentioned significant portion of our net sales are derived from products based on popular

licensed properties decrease in the popularity of the underlying property of our licenses could negatively

impact our ability to sell games based on such licenses and could lead to lower net sales profitability and/or

an impairment of our licenses

Our inability to acquire or create new intellectual property that has high level of consumer

recognition or acceptance could negatively impact our net sales and profitability

We generate portion of our net sales from wholly-owned intellectual property The success of our internal

brands depends upon our ability to create original ideas that appeal to the core gamer Titles based on

wholly-owned intellectual property can be expensive to develop and market since they do not have built-in

consumer base or licensor support Our inability to create new products that find consumer acceptance could

negatively impact our net sales and profitability

Increasing development costs for games which may not perform as anticipated and failure of

platforms to achieve significant market penetration could decrease our profitability and result in

potential impairments of capitalized software development costs

Over the last few years video games have become increasingly expensive to develop Because the current

generation console platforms and PCs have greater complexity and capabilities than the earlier platforms and

PCs costs to develop games for the current generation platforms and PCs are higher In the last two fiscal

years these greater costs have led to lower operating margins negatively impacting our profitability If these
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increased costs are not offset by higher net sales and other cost efficiencies in the future our margins and

profitability will continue to be impacted and could result in impairment of capitalized software development
costs If these platforms or games we develop for these platforms do not achieve significant market

penetration we may not be able to recover our development costs which could result in the impairment of

capitalized software costs which would negatively impact our profitability

We rely on small number of customers that account for significant amount of our sales If

these customers reduce their purchases of our products or become unable to pay for them our
business could be harmed

Our largest customers Best Buy GameStop Target and Wal-Mart accounted for approximately 43% of our

gross sales in fiscal 2010 substantial reduction termination of purchases or business failure by any of our

largest customers could have material adverse impact on us

significant portion of our net sales are derived from our international operations which may
subject us to economic currency political regulatory and other risks

In fiscal 2010 we derived 38% of our net sales from outside of North America Our international operations

subject us to many risks including different consumer preferences challenges in doing business with foreign

entities caused by distance language and cultural differences unexpected changes in regulatory

requirements tariffs and other barriers difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations and possible

difficulties collecting foreign accounts receivable These factors or others could have an adverse impact on

our future foreign sales or the profits generated from those sales

There are additional risks inherent in doing business in certain international markets such as China For

example foreign exchange controls may prevent us from expatriating cash earned in China and standard

business practices in China may increase our risk of violating U.S laws such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices

Act

Additionally sales generated by our international offices will generally be denominated in the currency of the

country in which the sales are made and may not correlate to the currency in which inventory is purchased
or software is developed To the extent our foreign sales are not denominated in U.S dollars our sales and

profits could be materially and adversely impacted by foreign currency fluctuations Year-over-year changes
in foreign currency translation rates had the mathematical effect of increasing our reported net loss by

approximately $0.2 million in fiscal 2010

Fluctuations in our quarterly operating results due to seasona/ity in the interactive entertainment

software industry and other factors related to our business operations could result in substantial

losses to investors

We have experienced and may continue to experience significant quarterly fluctuations in sales and

operating results The interactive entertainment software industry is highly seasonal with sales typically

significantly higher during the year-end holiday buying season Other factors that cause fluctuations in our

sales and operating results include

the timing of our release of new titles as well as the release of our competitors products

the popularity of both new titles and titles released in prior periods

the profit margins for titles we sell

the competition in the industry for retail shelf space

fluctuations in the size and rate of growth of consumer demand for titles for different platforms

the timing of the introduction of new platforms and the accuracy of retailers forecasts of consumer

demand and

the deferral or subsequent recognition of net sales and costs related to certain of our products which

contain online functionality
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We believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results are not good indication of our

future performance We may not be able to maintain consistent profitability on quarterly or annual basis It

is likely that in some future quarter our operating results may be below the expectations of public market

analysts and investors as result of the factors described above and others described throughout this Risk

Factors section which may in turn cause the price of our common stock to fall or significantly fluctuate

Our stock price has been volatile and may continue to fluctuate significantly

The market price of our common stock historically has been and we expect will continue to be subject to

significant fluctuations These fluctuations may be due to factors specific to us including those discussed in

this Risk Factors section as well as others not currently known to us or that we currently do not believe are

material to changes in securities analysts earnings estimates or ratings to our results or future financial

guidance falling below our expectations and analysts and investors expectations to factors impacting the

entertainment computer software Internet media or electronics industries to our ability to successfully

integrate any acquisitions we may make or to national or international economic conditions In particular

economic downturns may contribute to the public stock markets experiencing extreme price and trading

volume volatility These broad market fluctuations have and could continue to adversely impact the market

price of our common stock

Video game product development schedules are difficult to predict and can be subject to delays

Postponements in shipments can substantially impact our sales and profitability in any given

quarter

Our ability to meet product development schedules is impacted by number of factors including the creative

processes involved the coordination of large and sometimes geographically-dispersed development teams

required by the complexity of our products the need to localize certain products for distribution outside of the

U.S the need to refine our products prior to their release and the time required to manufacture game
once it is submitted to the platform manufacturer In the past we have experienced development and

manufacturing delays for several of our products Failure to meet anticipated production schedules may

cause shortfall in our expected sales and profitability and cause our operating results in any given quarter

to be materially different from expectations Delays that prevent release of our products during peak selling

seasons or in conjunction with specific events such as the release of related movie could significantly

impact the sales of such products and thus our profitability

Our business is dependent upon the success and availability of the video game platforms on

which consumers play our games

We derive most of our net sales from the sale of products for play on video game platforms manufactured by

third parties such as PS3 and PSP Xbox 360 and the Wii and DS The following factors related to such

platforms can adversely impact sales of our video games and our profitability

Popularity of platforms In the previous console platform cycle the PS2 was the best-selling platform

and games for that platform dominated software sales In the current platform cycle the Wii is the best-selling

console platform to date and in calendar 2009 the Wii surpassed the Xbox 360 as the most popular

console in terms of software game sales according to IDG However recent trends indicate that the PS3 and

Xbox 360 may be gaining popularity over the twelve months ended March 31 2011 Since the typical

development cycle for console handheld or PC game is from to 36 months we must make decisions

about which games to develop on which platforms based on current expectations of what the consumer

preference for the platforms will be when the game is finished Launching game on platform that has

declined in popularity or failure to launch game on platform that has grown in popularity could negatively

impact our net sales and profitability

Platform pricing Prices for the current generation of console platforms are higher than for their

respective predecessor platforms The Xbox 360 can cost as much as $299.99 the Wii is priced at $1 99.99

and the PS3 costs $299.99 The cost of the hardware could adversely impact the sales of these platforms

which could in turn negatively impact sales of our products for these platforms since consumers need

platform in order to play our games

Platform shortages In the past few years many of the platforms on which our games are played

have experienced shortages Platform shortages generally negatively impact the sales of video games since

consumers do not have consoles on which to play the games
12



Our inability to enter into agreements with the manufacturers to develop publish and distribute

titles on their platforms could seriously impact our operations

We are dependent on the platform manufacturers Microsoft Nintendo and Sony and our non-exclusive

licenses with them both for the right to publish titles for their platforms and for the manufacture of our

products for their platforms Our existing platform licenses require that we obtain approval for the publication

of new games on title-by-title basis As result the number of titles we are able to publish for these

platforms and our sales from titles for these platforms may be limited Should any manufacturer choose not

to renew or extend our license agreement at the end of its current term or if any license were terminated we
would be unable to publish additional titles for that manufacturers platform which could negatively impact

our operating results

Additionally since each of the manufacturers publishes games for its own platform and also manufactures

products for all of its other licensees manufacturer may give priority to its own products or those of other

publishers in the event of insufficient manufacturing capacity Unanticipated delays in the delivery of products

due to delayed manufacturing could also negatively impact our operating results

Software pricing and sales allowances may impact our net sales and profitability

Software prices for games sold for play on the PS3 and Xbox 360 are generally higher than prices for games
for the Wil handheld platforms or PC games Our product mix in any given fiscal quarter or fiscal year may
cause our net sales to significantly fluctuate depending on which platforms we release games on in that

quarter or year Additionally reductions in software pricing on any platform may result in lower net sales

which could materially impact our profitability

In addition we establish sales allowances based on estimates of future price protection and returns with

respect to current period product net sales While we believe that we can reliably estimate future returns and

price protection if product sell-through does not perform in line with our current expectations return rates

and price protection could exceed our reserves and our net sales could be negatively impacted in future

periods

Increased sales of used video game products could reduce demand for new copies of our games

Large retailers including one of our largest customers GameStop have increased their focus on selling

used video games which provides higher margins for the retaUers than sales of new games This focus

reduces demand for new copies of our games We believe customer retention through compelling online play

and downloadable content offers may reduce consumers propensity to trade in games however continued

sales of used games rather than new games may negatively impact our ability to sell new games and thus

lower our net sales in any given quarter

We may face difficulty obtaining access to retail shelf space necessary to market and sell our

products effectively

Retailers typically have limited amount of shelf space and promotional resources and there is intense

competition among consumer interactive entertainment software products for high quality retail shelf space
and promotional support from retailers To the extent that the number of products and platforms increases

competition for shelf space may intensify and may require us to increase our marketing expenditures

Retailers with limited shelf space typically devote the most and highest quality shelf space to those products

expected to be best sellers We cannot be certain that our new products will consistently achieve such best

seller status Due to increased competition for limited shelf space retailers and distributors are in an

increasingly better position to negotiate favorable terms of sale including price discounts price protection

marketing and display fees and product return policies Our products constitute relatively small percentage

of most retailers sales volume We cannot be certain that retailers will continue to purchase our products or

to provide those products with adequate levels of shelf space and promotional support on acceptable terms

prolonged failure in this regard may significantly harm our business and financial results

Competitive launches may negatively impact the sales of our games

We compete for consumer dollars with several other video game publishers and consumers must make

choices among available games If we make our games available for sale at the same time as our

competitors games become available consumers may choose to spend their money on products published

by our competitors rather than our products and retailers may choose to give more shelf space to our
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competitors products leaving less space to sell our products Since the life cycle of game is short strong

sales of our competitors games could negatively impact the sales of our games

Failure to appropriately adapt to rapid technological changes or emerging distribution channels

may negatively impact our market share and our operating results

Rapid technology changes in our industry require us to anticipate sometimes years in advance which

technologies we must implement and take advantage of in order to make our products and services

competitive Currently our industry is experiencing an increasing shift to online content and digital

downloads We believe that much of the growth in the industry will come via online markets or digital

distribution such as massively multi-player games both subscription and free-to-play casual

micro-transaction based games paid downloadable content and digital downloads of games Accordingly we

plan to continue integrating digital strategy into all of our key franchises However if we fail to anticipate

and adapt to these and other technological changes our market share and our operating results may suffer

Our future success in providing online games wireless games and other content will depend upon our ability

to adapt to rapidly-changing technologies develop applications to accommodate evolving industry

standards and improve the performance and reliability of our applications

Our platform licensors control the fee structures for online distribution of our games on their

platforms

Certain platform licensors have retained the right to change the fee structures for online distribution of both

paid content and free content including patches and corrections on their platforms Each licensors ability to

set royalty rates makes it difficult for us to forecast our costs Increased costs could negatively impact our

operating margins We may be unable to distribute our content in cost-effective or profitable manner

through this distribution channel which could adversely impact our results of operations

Development of software by platform manufacturers may lead to reduced sales of our products

The platform manufacturers Microsoft Nintendo and Sony each develop software for their own hardware

platforms As result of their commanding positions in the industry the platform manufacturers may have

better bargaining positions with respect to retail pricing shelf space and retailer accommodations than do

any of their licensees including us Additionally the platform manufacturers can bundle their software with

their hardware creating less demand for individual sales of our products In the twelve month period ended

March 31 2010 Nintendos market share across North America and top European territories was nearly 49%

on its Wii platform and more than 37% on its DS platforms Continued or increased dominance of software

sales by the platform manufacturers may lead to reduced sales of our products and thus lower net sales

Increased development of software and online games by intellectual property owners may lead to

reduced net sales

As discussed above significant portion of our net sales are due to sales of games based upon licensed

properties In recent years some of our key licensors including Disney and Viacom Nickelodeon have

increased their development of video games which could lead to such licensors not renewing our licenses to

publish games based upon their properties that we currently publish or not granting future licenses to us to

develop games based on their other properties For example in fiscal 2009 Disney decided to internally

develop video games based upon its upcoming movie Toy Story rather than granting the license to

develop and publish the game to an external publisher such as us This may impact our net sales in fiscal

2011 as we are not releasing new DisneysPixar title this year If intellectual property owners continue

expanding internal efforts to develop video games based upon properties that they own rather than

renewing our licenses or granting us additional licenses our net sales could be significantly impacted

Competition for licenses may negatively impact our profitability

Some of our competitors have greater name recognition among consumers and licensors of properties

broader product line or greater financial marketing and other resources than we do Accordingly these

competitors may be able to market their products more effectively or make larger offers or guarantees in

connection with the acquisition of licensed properties As competition for popular properties increases our

cost of acquiring licenses for such properties may increase which could result in reduced margins and thus

negatively impact our profitability

Competition with emerging forms of home-based entertainment may reduce sales of our products

We also compete with other forms of entertainment and leisure activities For example we believe the overall

growth in the use of the Internet and online services including social networking by consumers may pose
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competitive threat if customers and potential customers spend less of their available time using interactive

entertainment software and more of their time using the Internet and online services

Competition for qualified personnel is intense in the interactive entertainment software industry

and failure to hire and retain qualified personnel could seriously harm our business

To substantial extent we rely on the management marketing sales technical and software development
skills of limited number of employees to formulate and implement our business plan To significant extent

our success depends upon our ability to attract and retain key personnel Competition for employees can be
intense and the process of locating key personnel with the right combination of skills is often lengthy The

loss of key personnel could have material adverse impact on our business

We rely on external developers for the development of some of our titles

large percentage of our net sales are derived from games developed by third- party developers While we
own approximately 5% of Yukes the developer of our UFC Undisputed and WWE SmackDown vs Raw

games we do not have direct control over the business finances and operational practices of these external

developers including Yukes delay or failure to complete the work performed by external developers has

and may in the future result in delays in or cancellations of product releases Additionally the future

success of externally-developed titles will depend on our continued ability to maintain relationships and

secure agreements on favorable terms with skilled external developers Our competitors may acquire the

businesses of key developers or sign them to exclusive development arrangements In either case we would

not be able to continue to engage such developers services for our products except for those that they are

contractually obligated to complete for us We cannot guarantee that we will be able to establish or maintain

such relationships with external developers and failure to do so could result in material adverse impact on

our business and financial results

Defects in our game software could harm our reputation or decrease the market acceptance of

our products

Our game software may contain defects In addition because we do not manufacture our games for console

platforms we may not discover defects until after our products are in use by retail customers Any defects in

our software could damage our reputation cause our customers to terminate relationships with us or to

initiate product liability suits against us divert our engineering resources delay market acceptance of our

products increase our costs or cause our net sales to decline

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights against piracy infringement by
third parties or declining legal protection for intellectual property

We defend our intellectual property rights and combat unlicensed copying and use of software and
intellectual property rights through variety of techniques Preventing unauthorized use or infringement of

our rights is difficult Unauthorized production occurs in the computer software industry generally and if

significant amount of unauthorized production of our products were to occur it could materially and adversely

impact our results of operations We hold copyrights on the products manuals advertising and other

materials owned by us and we maintain certain trademark rights We regard our titles including the

underlying software as proprietary and rely on combination of trademark copyright and trade secret laws

as well as employee and third-party nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements among other methods to

protect our rights We include with our products shrink-wrap or click-wrap license agreement which

imposes limitations on use of the software It is uncertain to what extent these agreements and limitations are

enforceable especially in foreign countries Policing unauthorized use of our products is difficult and
software piracy is persistent problem especially in some international markets Further the laws of some
countries where our products are or may be distributed either do not protect our products and intellectual

property rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S or are poorly enforced Legal protection of our

rights may be ineffective in such countries We cannot be certain that existing intellectual property laws will

provide adequate protection for our products

Software piracy may negatively impact our business

Software piracy is increasing rapidly in the video game industry Piracy related to customers obtaining

products through peer-to-peer networks and other Internet channels has increased substantially Modified

chips for the Xbox 360 and Wii systems have allowed increased piracy of games for those systems and the

R4 chip has dramatically increased illegal downloads of DS games While we are taking various steps to
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protect our intellectual property and prevent illegal downloading of our video games we may not be

successful in preventing or controlling such piracy which may negatively impact our business

Third parties may claim we in fringe their intellectual property rights

Although we believe that we make reasonable efforts to ensure our products do not violate the intellectual

property rights of others from time to time we receive notices from others claiming we have infringed their

intellectual property rights The number of these claims may grow Responding to these claims may require us

to enter into royalty and licensing agreements on unfavorable terms require us to stop selling or to redesign

impacted products or pay damages or satisfy indemnification commitments including contractual provisions

under various license arrangements If we are required to enter into such agreements or take such actions

our operating margins may decline as result

We cannot be certain of the future effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting or

the impact of the same on our operations and the market price for our common stock

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 we are required to include in our Annual Report

on Form 10-K our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting

Furthermore our independent registered public accounting firm is required to report on whether it believes we

maintain in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting Although we believe that

we currently have adequate internal control procedures in place we cannot be certain that our internal

control over financial reporting will be effective in the future If we cannot adequately maintain the

effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting we might be subject to sanctions or investigation

by regulatory authorities such as the SEC Any such action could adversely impact our financial results and

the market price of our common stock

Rating systems and future legislation may make it difficult to successfully market and sell our

products

Currently the interactive entertainment software industry is self-regulated and products are rated by the

Entertainment Software Rating Board ESRB Our retail customers take the ESRB rating into consideration

when deciding which of our products they will purchase If the ESRB or manufacturer determines that

product should have rating directed to an older or more mature consumer we may be less successful in our

marketing and sales of particular product

From time to time legislation has been introduced for the establishment of government mandated rating

and governing system in the U.S and in foreign countries for our industry In April 2010 the U.S Supreme

Court granted the state of Californias certiorari petition in connection with the constitutionality of Californias

proposed legislation to regulate the sale of violent video games to minors Various foreign countries already

allow government censorship of interactive entertainment products We believe that if our industry were to

become subject to government rating system or other regulation such as the law at issue in the California

case our ability to successfully market and sell our products could be adversely impacted

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Our principal corporate and administrative office is located in approximately 00000 square feet of leased

space in building located at 29903 Agoura Road Agoura Hills California Including this office the following

is summary of the square footage of the principal leased offices we maintained as of March 31 2010

North

Purpose America Europe Asia Pacific Total

Sales and administrative 123900 62400 18400 204700

Product development 424700 6100 27500 458300

Total leased square footage 548600 68500 45900 663000

We also own 10820 square feet of space in Phoenix Arizona which serves as our data center
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Item Legal Proceedings

From time to time we are involved in ordinary routine litigation incidental to our business In the opinion of our

management none of such pending litigation is expected to have material adverse effect on our

consolidated financial condition or results of operations

Item Removed and Reserved

PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer

Purchases of Equity Securities

THQs common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol THQI The following

table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low intraday sales prices of our common stock as

reported by the NASDAQ Global Select Market

Sales Prices

High Low

Fiscal Year Ended March 31 2010
Fourth Quarter ended March 31 2010 $7.30 $4.88

Third Quarter ended December31 2009 7.45 4.12

Second Quarter ended September 30 2009 8.82 5.29

First Quarter ended June 30 2009 9.03 2.95

Fiscal Year Ended March 31 2009

Fourth Quarter ended March 31 2009 $5.40 $2.23

Third Quarter ended December 31 2008 12.25 3.29

Second Quarter ended September 30 2008 20.79 11 .74

First Quarter ended June 30 2008 23.40 17.99

The last reported price of our common stock on May 28 2010 as reported by NASDAQ Global Select

Market was $6.00 per share

Holders

As of May 28 2010 there were approximately 293 holders of record of our common stock

Dividend Policy

We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock We currently intend to retain future earnings if

any to finance the growth and development of our business and therefore we do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future Additionally our Loan and Security Agreement with Bank of

America N.A restricts us from paying cash dividends see Note 12Credit Facility in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements included in Item

Stock Price Performance Graph

The following stock price performance information shall not be deemed to be filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission nor shall this information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the

Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended except to the

extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into filing

The following graph shows five-year comparison of cumulative total stockholder returns for the period from

March 31 2005 through March 31 2010 for the Companys common stock NASDAQ Global Select Market

Composite Index and the RDG Technology Index The comparison assumes an initial investment of $100 in

each on March 31 2005 We have not paid any cash dividends and therefore the cumulative total return

calculation is based solely upon stock price appreciation and not upon reinvestment of cash dividends

The comparisons in the graph below are based on historical data and are not intended to forecast the

possible future performance of THQs common stock
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$100 invested on 3/31/05 in stock or index including reinvestment of dividends Fiscal year ending

March 31

3/31/2005 __________ __________ __________ __________ __________

THQ Inc $100.00

NASDAQ Composite $100.00

RDG Technology Composite $100.00

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchases

On July 31 2007 and October 30 2007 our board authorized the repurchase of up to $25.0 million of our

common stock from time to time on the open market or in private transactions for an aggregate of

$50.0 million As of March 31 2010 and 2009 we had $28.6 million authorized and available for common
stock repurchases During fiscal 2010 we did not repurchase any shares of our common stock There is no

expiration date for the authorized repurchases

Item Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following table summarizes certain selected consolidated financial data which should be read in

conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and with Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere herein The selected

consolidated financial data presented below as of and for each of the fiscal years in the five-year period

ended March 31 2010 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements The consolidated

balance sheets as of March 31 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated statements of operations for fiscal

201 2009 and 2008 and the report thereon are included elsewhere in this Form 0-K

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among THQ Inc The NASDAQ Composite Index

And The RDG Technology Composite Index

3/05 3/06 3/07 3/08 3/09 3/10

3/31/2006

$138.01

$119.97

$118.23

3/31/2007 3/31/2008 3/31/2009 3/31/2010

$182.25 $116.20 $16.20 $37.37

$134.27 $118.46 $85.30 $142.80

$122.24 $118.17 $82.00 $130.94

18



STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA
In thousands except per share data

Net sales

Cost of sales

Product costs

Software amortization and royalties

License amortization and royalties

Venture partner expense

Total cost of sales

Gross Profit

Operating expenses

Product development

Selling and marketing

General and administrative

Goodwill impairment

Restructuring

Total operating expenses

Operating income loss

Interest and other income expense net

Income loss from continuing operations before income taxes

Income taxes

Income loss from continuing operations

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax

Net income loss prior to allocation of noncontrolling interest

Loss gain attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net income loss attributable to THQ Inc

Earnings loss per share attributable to THQ Incbasic

Continuing operationsb

Discontinued operations

Earnings loss per sharebasic

Earnings loss per share attributable to THQ Incdiluted

Continuing operationsb

Discontinued operations

Earnings loss per sharediluted

Shares used in per share calculation-basic

Shares used in per share calculationdiluted

Fiscal Year Ended March 31
2010 2009 2008 2007a 2006

$899137 $829963 $1030467 $1026856 $806560

318590 338882 389097 351449

196956 296688 231800 165462

95972 83066 99524 99533

14531 19707 24056 16730 __________

626049 738343 744477 633174 _________

273088 91620 285990 393682

87233 109201 128869 97105 94575

131954 162183 175288 139958 124809

57879 76884 69901 78413 57944

118799

5671 12266

282737 479333 374068 315476 277328

9649 387713 88068 78206 31835

2056 483 15433 12822 7955

11705 387230 72635 91028 39790

247 46226 35785 26206 7621

11952 433456 36850 64822 32169

2042 1513 3080

11952 431414 35337 67902 32169

2935 302 136 63
$9017 $431112 $35337 $68038 $32106

$0.13 $6.48 $0.55 $1.00 $0.51

0.03 0.02 0.05

$0.13 $6.45 $0.53 $1.05 $0.51

BALANCE SHEET DATA
In thousands

As of March 31
2010 2009 2008 2007

__________

Working capital $371641 $189604 $396505 $562316
Total assets $714329 $598329 $1084320 $1013541
Total THQ Inc stockholders equityb $324355 $307040 $740569 $768957

Beginning in our first quarter of fiscal 2007 we began expensing stock-based compensation

Based on amounts attributable to THQ Inc i.e subsequent to the allocation of noncontrolling

interest

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Our business is subject to many risks and uncertainties which may affect our future financial performance For

discussion of our risk factors see Part IItem Risk Factors

287946

116371

80508

12572

497397

309163

$0.13 $6.48

0.03

$0.13 $6.45

67522 66861

67522 66861

$0.55 $0.96 $0.49

0.02 0.05

$0.53 $1.01 $0.49

66475 65039 62615

66475 67593 65520

2006

$459558

$848468
$627751
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Overview

The following overview is top level discussion of our financial results as well as trends that have or that we

reasonably believe will impact our operations Management believes that an understanding of these trends

and drivers is important in order to understand our results for fiscal 2010 as well as our future prospects This

summary is not intended to be exhaustive nor is it intended to be substitute for the detailed discussion

and analysis provided elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 0-K and in other documents we have filed

with the SEC

Overview of Financial Results for Fiscal 2010

The video games industry in North America and Europe reported retail software sales of $1 9.0 billion in the

twelve months ended March 31 2010 down 12% from the prior-year period according to The NPD Group
Chart Track and GfK Despite these challenging conditions and weak macroeconomic environment we
achieved the following in fiscal 2010 we generated higher net sales in fiscal 2010 than in fiscal 2009

we reduced our loss per share by 98% to $0.13 in fiscal 2010 down from $6.45 in fiscal 2009 and we

generated significant operating cash flow Additionally in the twelve months ended March 31 2010 we

gained market share both in the U.S and globally according to The NPD Group Chart Track and GfK we

were the number four independent publisher in the U.S with 4.9% share up from 3.6% year ago and

we were the number four independent publisher globally with 4.4% share up from 3.7% year ago

Our net loss attributable to THQ Inc net loss for fiscal 2010 was $9.0 million or $0.13 per diluted share

compared to net loss of $431 .1 million or $6.45 per diluted share inclusive of gain on sale of

discontinued operations net of tax of $2.1 million for fiscal 2009

Our profitability is dependent upon revenue from the sales of our video games Net sales increased 8% in

fiscal 2010 to $899.1 million from $830.0 million in fiscal 2009 The increase in net sales was primarily due to

net sales of UFC 2009 Undisputed at higher average selling price compared to games sold in the same

period last year

Our profitability is also affected by the costs and expenses associated with developing and publishing our

games These costs and expenses include both cost of sales and operating expenses Our gross profit as

percent of net sales increased 19 points in fiscal 2010 to 30% from 11% in fiscal 2009 The increase in our

gross profit as percent of net sales was primarily due to decreases in software amortization and royalties

expense because of non-cash charges of $63.3 million in fiscal 2009 related to the write-off of capitalized

software for games that were cancelled as part of our fiscal 2009 business realignment and additional

amortization expense in fiscal 2009 as result of lower projected gross sales on various titles Additionally

the decrease in cost of sales as percent of net sales in fiscal 2010 was due to sales of games at higher

average selling prices as compared to fiscal 2009 led by the fiscal 2010 first quarter release of UFC 2009

Undisputed

Our profitability is also affected by our operating expenses which decreased by $196.6 million in fiscal 2010
to $282.7 million from $479.3 million in fiscal 2009 The decrease was primarily due to non-cash goodwill

impairment charge of $1 18.8 million in fiscal 2009 and lower costs in fiscal 2010 due to our fiscal 2009

business realignment

Our principal source of cash is from sales of interactive software games designed for play on video game
consoles handheld devices and PCs including via the Internet Our principal uses of cash are for product

purchases of discs and cartridges along with associated manufacturers royalties payments to external

developers and licensors the costs of internal software development and selling and marketing expenses
Our cash cash equivalents and short-term investments balance at March 31 2010 was $271.3 million as

compared to $140.7 million as of March 31 2009 Cash provided by operations was $33.4 million in fiscal

2010 as compared to cash used in operations of $194.2 million in fiscal 2009 The increase in cash provided

was primarily the result of our lower fiscal 2010 net loss as compared to fiscal 2009 adjusted for non-cash

goodwill impairment and higher amortization of licenses and software development in fiscal 2009

Additionally in fiscal 2010 we had lower investments in software development and licenses as compared to

fiscal 2009
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Executing on Our Strategy in Fiscal 2010

In addition to achieving the financial targets we set for fiscal 2010 we also made significant progress towards

our strategic operating goals

Core Games

The goals of our Core Games business unit are to develop select number of high quality titles each year

that are targeted at the core gamer to build franchises through sequels and to extend our leadership in the

fighting category In fiscal 2010 Core Games released Red Faction Guerrilla with an 85 Metacritic rating and

Darksiders with an 83 Metacritic rating We also extended our leadership in the fighting games category In

May 2009 we successfully launched our first games based on the UFC franchise UFC Undisputed 2009
with an 84 Metacritic rating and shipments of almost million units in fiscal 2010 In December 2009 we

signed direct eight-year license agreement with WWE and we plan to continue to publish games annually

based on this leading sports entertainment brand During fiscal 2010 we shipped nearly million units of

VVWESmackDown vs Raw 2010 which achieved Metacritic rating of 81

In February 2010 we announced realignment of two of our development studios to focus solely on the

creation of digital content and technology We renamed them THQ Digital Studios UK and THQ Digital

Studios Phoenix The three main objectives for our digital studios will be the creation of online-only games
based on our Core Games brands the development of new original digital intellectual properties and the

delivery of supporting technology to connect consumers to all of our Core Games using proprietary

technology

Kids Family and Casual Games

The goals of our Kids Family and Casual Games business unit are to reinvigorate our kids product portfolio

and improve profitability in our kids business and to build strong mass appeal/family game franchises During

fiscal 201 we signed multi-property multi-year license agreements with DreamWorks Animation to publish

games based on Kung Fu Panda The Kaboom of Doom Puss in Boots and The Penguins of Madagascar
In fiscal 2010 we shipped over one million units of our first games based on Marvel Super Hero Squad under

our multi-year agreement In addition we have been taking aggressive actions to reduce the cost structure

for our kids games by reducing our development spending and signing new license agreements at more

attractive rates

With respect to mass appeal/family game franchises we successfully launched The Biggest Loser in fiscal

2010 The Biggest Loserwas the fitness game from an independent publisher in the U.S during the

December quarter and ranked in the top five fitness games in the U.S for calendar 2009 according to The

NPD Group We continued to build our Drawn to Life brand with our fiscal 2010 title shipping more than one

million units and total lifetime franchise shipments in excess of million units We also established new

original game World of Zoo at nearly 800000 units shipped In fiscal 2010 we signed new multi-year

multi-property license agreement with Sony Pictures Consumer Products to publish games based on the

popular game shows Wheel of Fortune and JEOPARDY

Online Games

The goal of our Online Games business unit is to embrace digital migration and extend our brands into online

markets During fiscal 2010 we developed games to bring online in fiscal 2011 including Company of

Heroes Online for Korean and North American markets and WWE online game for release initially in Asian

markets In addition we are developing massively multiplayer online game based on Warhammer 40000

Trends Affecting Our Business

The following significant trends currently affect our business

Retail Video Game Sales

The video games industry in North America and Europe reported retail software sales of $1 9.0 billion in the

twelve months ended March 31 2010 down 12% from the prior-year period according to The NPD Group
Chart Track and GfK The decrease in retail software sales was due primarily to difficult consumer spending
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environment and declines in sales of games in the music category and for the handheld and PS2 gaming
platforms Despite these challenging market conditions and weak macroeconomic environment THQ
gained worldwide market share in the twelve months ended March 31 2010

The installed base of gaming hardware in North America and Europe was approximately 300 million units as

of December 31 2009 up 26% year over year according to IDG We expect North America and Europe
retail software sales to be roughly flat in calendar 2010 versus 2009 We expect growth in our business

during fiscal 2010 from sales of video games on the growing installed base of the PS3 and Xbox 360

platforms which generally have higher average selling prices than games sold on other platforms however
we also expect continued declines in sales of games for the handheld and PS2 gaming platforms

Sales of Used Video Games

Large retailers such as GameStop have increased their focus on selling used video games which provides

higher margins for the retailers than sales of new games This focus reduces demand for new copies of our

games We believe customer retention through compelling online play and downloadable content offers may
reduce consumers propensity to trade in games

Increasing Shift to Online Content and Digital Downloads

The interactive entertainment software industry is delivering growing amount of games downloadable

content and product add-ons by direct digital download through the Internet and gaming consoles We
believe that much of the growth in the industry will come via online distribution such as massively multi-player

games both subscription and free-to-play casual micro-transaction based games paid downloadable

content and digital downloads of games Accordingly we plan to continue integrating digital strategy into

all of our key franchises

Sales Concentration of Top Titles

During the last fiscal year the majority of money spent by consumers on video game software was spent on

select top titles We expect this trend to continue into fiscal 2011 Additionally the cost to develop video

games especially Core Games has increased significantly over the last few years Current generation
consoles have functionality that allows us to deliver exciting gaming experiences at high quality levels but

this increased functionality also increases the overall cost to develop games Accordingly our software

development costs have increased as we developed more games for these consoles Because of the

demand for select hit titles and the increased Core Game development investment we believe that it is

important to focus our Core Game development efforts on bringing smaller number of high-quality

competitive products to market This focus may lower our net sales and profitability in any given quarter as

we generally aim to ship games only when we believe the quality is high and the competitive window is most

advantageous

Foreign Currency Exchange Rates Impact on Results of Operations

Approximately 38% of our net sales for fiscal 2010 was produced by sales outside of North America We are

exposed to significant risks of foreign currency fluctuation primarily from receivables denominated in foreign

currency and are subject to transaction gains and losses which are recorded as component in determining

net income The income statements of our non-U.S operations are translated into U.S dollars at the month-

to-date average exchange rates for each applicable month in period To the extent the U.S dollar

strengthens against foreign currencies as it did during fiscal 2010 the translation of these foreign currency

denominated transactions results in decreased net sales operating expenses and income from our non-U.S

operations Similarly our net sales operating expenses and income from our non-U.S operations will

increase if the U.S dollar weakens against foreign currencies

Season ailty

The interactive entertainment software industry is highly seasonal Sales are typically significantly higher

during the third quarter of our fiscal year due primarily to the increased demand for interactive games during

the holiday buying season
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Results of Operations

Comparison of Fiscal 2010 to Fiscal 2009

Net Sales

Our net sales are principally derived from sales of interactive software games designed for play on video

game consoles handheld devices and PCs including digitally via the Internet

Fiscal 2010 net sales were primarily driven by sales of our first game based on the UFC franchise UFC 2009

Undisputed as well as WWE SmackDown vs Raw 2010 and catalog titles Net sales increased by

$69.1 million in fiscal 2010 to $899.1 million from $830.0 million in fiscal 2009

Net Sales by New Releases and Catalog Titles

The following table details our net sales by new releases titles initially released in the respective fiscal year

and catalog titles titles released in fiscal years previous to the respective fiscal year for fiscal 2010 and fiscal

2009 in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended March 31 Increase

2010 2009 Decrease Change

New releases $670306 74.5% $556384 67.0% $1 13922 20.5%

Catalog 228831 25.5 273579 33.0 44748 16.4%
Consolidated net sales $899137 100.0% $829963 100.0% $69174 8.3%

Net sales of our new releases increased by $1 13.9 million in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 primarily

due to sales of UFC 2009 Undisputed which was initially released in the three months ended June 30 2009

on Xbox 360 and PS3 at premium price e.g MSRP of $59.99 in the United States This title was the

primary driver of our net sales in fiscal 201 and had higher average selling price compared to sales of our

titles released in fiscal 2009 The increase in net sales of new releases due to sales of UFC 2009 Undisputed

was partially offset by decrease in net sales of games based on the WWE brand which was primarily due

to the release of WWE Legends of Wrestlemania in fiscal 2009 with no comparable title in fiscal 2010 and

ii fewer units shipped of games based on our license with Nickelodeon

Net sales of our catalog titles decreased by $44.7 million in fiscal 2010 due to fewer units sold as compared

to fisca 2009 Additionally with respect to sales of our catalog we had decrease in the recognition of

deferred revenue in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009

Net Sales by Territory

The following table details our net sales by territory for fiscal 201 and fiscal 2009 in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended March 31 Increase/

2010 2009 Decrease Change

North America $558673 62.1% $457819 55.2% $100854 22.0%

Europe 277647 30.9% 314063 37.8% 36416 11.6%
Asia Pacific 62817 7.0% 58081 7.0% 4736 8.2%

International 340464 37.9% 372144 44.8% 31680 8.5%
Consolidated net sales $899137 100.0% $829963 100.0% $69174 8.3%

Net sales in North America increased by $1 00.9 million in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 The

increase was due to an increase in units shipped of our new releases with higher average selling prices

which was primarily due to sales of UFC 2009 Undisputed

Net sales in Europe decreased by $36.4 million in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 The decrease was

primarily due to decrease in units shipped We shipped fewer games from our kids business due primarily to

fewer units sold of Upin fiscal 2010 as compared to Wall-Em fiscal 2009 and we shipped fewer games
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based on our WWE license which was primarily due to the release of WWE Legends of Wrestlemania in fiscal

2009 with no comparable title in fiscal 2010 The decrease in units shipped was partially offset by an

increase in average selling prices in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 driven by sales of UFC 2009

Undisputed We estimate that changes in foreign currency translation rates during fiscal 2010 decreased

reported net sales in Europe by $3.9 million

Net sales in Asia Pacific increased by $4.7 million in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 We estimate that

changes in foreign currency translation rates during fiscal 2010 increased reported net sales in this territory

by $6.1 million Excluding the increase due to changes in foreign currency translation rates net sales in Asia

Pacific decreased slightly in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009

Cost of Sales Operating Expenses Interest and Other Income Expense net Income Taxes
Noncontrolling Interest and Discontinued Operations

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales decreased by $112.3 million or 15% in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 As result our

gross profit increased by 19.4 points in fiscal 2010 The decrease in cost of sales was primarily due to

decrease in software amortization and royalties expense because of non-cash charges of $63.3 million in

fiscal 2009 related to the write-off of capitalized software for games that were cancelled as part of our fiscal

2009 business realignment and additional amortization expense in fiscal 2009 as result of lower projected

gross sales on various titles Additionally the decrease in cost of sales as percent of net sales in fiscal

2010 was due to sales of games at higher average selling prices as compared to fiscal 2009 led by the

release of UFC 2009 Undisputed

Cost of SalesProduct Costs in thousands

Year Ended Year Ended
March 31 2010 of net sales March 31 2009 of net sales change

$318590 35.4% $338882 40.8% 6.0%

Product costs primarily consist of direct manufacturing costs including platform manufacturer license fees net

of manufacturer volume rebates and discounts In fiscal 2010 product costs as percentage of net sales

decreased by 5.4 points as compared to fiscal 2009

The decrease as percent of net sales in fiscal 2010 was primarily due to sales of UFC 2009 Undisputed on

Xbox 360 and PS3 at premium price e.g MSRP of $59.99 in the United States This title was the primary

driver of our net sales in fiscal 2010 and had higher average selling price compared to titles released in

fiscal 2009

Cost of SalesSoftware Amortization and Royalties in thousands

Year Ended Year Ended
March 31 2010 of net sales March 31 2009 of net sales change

$196956 21.9% $296688 35.7% 33.6%

Software amortization and royalties expense consists of amortization of capitalized payments made to

third-party software developers and amortization of capitalized internal studio development costs

Commencing upon product release capitalized software development costs are amortized to software

amortization and royalties based on the ratio of current gross sales to total projected gross sales In fiscal

2010 software amortization and royalties as percentage of net sales decreased by 13.8 points as

compared to fiscal 2009 The decrease was primarily due to higher amortization in fiscal 2009 due to non
cash charges of $63.3 million related to the write-off of capitalized software for games that were cancelled as

part of our fiscal 2009 business realignment and additional amortization expense in fiscal 2009 as result of

lower projected gross sales on various titles Also contributing to the decrease was lower development costs

on UFC 2009 Undisputed in relation to its total projected gross sales as compared to most titles recognized in

fiscal 2009
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Cost of SalesLicense Amortization and Royalties in thousands

Year Ended

March 31 2010

$95.972

of net sales

10.7%

Year Ended

March 31 2009 of net sales change

$83066 10.0% 15.5%

Year Ended

March 31 2010

$14531

of net sales

9.7%
__________

of net sales change

13.2% 20.1%

Product development expense primarily consists of expenses incurred by internal development studios and

payments made to external development studios prior to products reaching technological feasibility Product

development expense decreased by $22.0 million in fiscal 201 as compared to fiscal 2009 The decrease

was primarily due to decreases in internal development spending primarily resulting from actions taken as part

of our fiscal 2009 business realignment including our more focused product strategy and the closure of

several of our studios

Selling and Marketing in thousands

Year Ended

March_31_2010 _______________ _______________ _______________ _________

$131954 ______________ ______________ ______________ ________

License amortization and royalties expense consists of royalty payments due to licensors which are

expensed at the higher of the contractual royalty rate based on actual net product sales for such license

or an effective rate based upon total projected net sales for such license

Net sales of games based on licensed properties represented 69% and 66% of our total net sales in fiscal

2010 and fiscal 2009 respectively In fiscal 2010 license amortization and royalties as percentage of net

sales increased slightly primarily due to the higher mix of sales from titles based on licensed properties

Cost of SalesVenture Partner Expense in thousands

Year Ended

________________
of net sales March 31 2009 of net sales change

____________ 1.6% $19707 2.4% 26.3%

Venture partner expense is related to the license agreement that the THQ JAKKS Pacific LLC LLC joint

venture comprised of THQ and JAKKS Pacific Inc Jakks had with WWE In August 2009 we settled our

preferred return dispute with Jakks at 40% lower payment rate which resulted in benefit of $24.2 million

In December 2009 as the result of various settlement agreements entered into between THQ Jakks and

WWE we recorded expense of $29.5 million In addition on December 31 2009 the LLC was dissolved the

WWE license held by the LLC was terminated and new eight-year license was entered into directly

between THQ and WWE Accordingly the final expenses related to the joint venture were recorded as of

December 31 2009

Excluding these items venture partner expense in fiscal 2010 would have been $9.2 million which reflects

the 40% lower payment rate as compared to fiscal 2009 For further information related to the settlements

see Note 6Balance Sheet Details and Note 7Settlement Agreements in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements included in Item

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses decreased by $1 96.6 million or 41% in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 This

decrease was primarily due to goodwill impairment charges of $1 18.8 miion recognized in fisca 2009 as well

as lower product development selling and marketing and general and administrative costs in fiscal 2010 due

to the actions taken as part of our fiscal 2009 business realignment

Product Development in thousands

Year Ended Year Ended

March 31 2010
________________

March 31 2009 ________________ _________

$87233 _____________ $109201 _____________ ________

Year Ended

of net sales March 31 2009 of net sales change

14.7% $162183 19.5% 18.6%

Selling and marketing expenses consist of advertising promotional expenses and personnel-related costs

Selling and marketing expenses decreased by $30.2 million and by 4.8 points as percent of net sales in
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Year Ended

March 31 2010

$57879

fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 These decreases were primarily due to more focused selling and

marketing spend on our key titles in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 and
ii

reductions in sales and

marketing personnel-related costs resulting from actions taken as part of our fiscal 2009 business

realignment including lower stock-based compensation expense Additionally the decrease as percent of

net sales in fiscal 2010 was due to high net sales from our first game based on the UFC franchise UFC 2009

Undisputed relative to its marketing spend

General and Administrative in thousands

Year Ended

of net sales March 31 2009 of net sales change

6.4% $76884 9.3% 24.7%

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel and related expenses of executive and
administrative staff and fees for professional services such as legal and accounting General and
administrative expenses decreased in fiscal 2010 by $19.0 million as compared to fiscal 2009 The decrease

was primarily due to bad debt expense recognized in fiscal 2009 due to the bankruptcy of certain customers

as well as recoveries of certain of those bad debts in fiscal 2010 Additionally general and administrative

expenses decreased due to reductions in personnel-related costs resulting from actions taken as part of our

fiscal 2009 business realignment including lower stock-based compensation expense partially offset by the

lack of bonus expense in fiscal 2009

Goodwill Impairment

In connection with the preparation of the fiscal 2009 third quarter financial statements we performed an

interim impairment test of goodwill at December 31 2008 and recorded goodwill impairment charges of

$1 18.8 million during fiscal 2009 representing the entire amount of our previously recorded goodwill We did

not have goodwill impairment charges in fiscal 2010

Restructuring

Restructuring charges include the costs associated with lease abandonments less estimates of sublease

income write-offs of related long-lived assets due to the studio closures as well as costs of other non-

cancellable contracts During fiscal 2009 we updated our strategic plan in an effort to increase our

profitability and cash flow generation We significantly realigned our business to focus on fewer higher

quality games and have established an operating structure that supports our more focused product strategy

The realignment included the cancellation of several titles in development the closure or spin-off of several

of our development studios and the streamlining of our corporate organization in order to support the new

product strategy including reductions in worldwide personnel As result of these initiatives we recorded

restructuring charges of $5.7 million in fiscal 2010 and $12.3 million in fiscal 2009 We do not expect any
future charges under the fiscal 2009 realignment other than additional facility related charges in the event

actual and estimated sublease income changes For further information related to our restructuring charges
see Note 9Restructuring in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item

Interest and Other Income Expense net

Interest and other income expense net consists of interest earned on our investments gains and losses

resulting from exchange rate changes for transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional

currency and interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs on our $1 00.0 million 5.00%

convertible senior notes Notes For further discussion of the Notes see Note 11Convertible Senior

Notes in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item Interest and other income

expense net decreased by $2.5 million in fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 Excluding the

recognition of $6.3 million other-than-temporary impairment loss on our investments in fiscal 2009 interest

and other income expense net decreased $8.8 million due to

lower average yields and investment balances as compared to fiscal 2009

interest expense on our Notes in fiscal 2010 and

foreign currency transaction losses

There were no other-than-temporary impairment losses in fiscal 2010
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In come Taxes

Income tax expense for fiscal 2010 was $0.2 million which primarily represents foreign and U.S state taxes

offset by $3.6 million valuation allowance release related to the recognition of net operating loss benefit

claimed pursuant to change in tax law compared to income tax expense of $46.2 million in fiscal 2009

The change in income taxes is primarily attributable to the recording of valuation allowance for deferred tax

assets in fiscal 2009 and income taxes incurred in foreign jurisdictions which are not reduced by losses in

the United States The effective tax rate differs significantly from the federal statutory rate primarily due to

losses in the United States that are fully offset by valuation allowance to the extent that such losses were

not subject to the new five year loss carry-back provisions

Noncontrolling Interest

The noncontrolling interest of $2.9 million in fiscal 2010 reflects the loss allocable to equity interests in

THQICE LLC joint venture with ICE Entertainment The loss allocable to equity interests in THQICE LLC

was $0.3 million in fiscal 2009 This noncontrolling interest reflects the loss allocable to equity interests that

are not owned by THQ We sold our interest in THQICE LLC on April 30 2010 and thus after this date we

will not have income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

Discontinued Operations

In December 2006 we sold our 50% interest in Minick Holding AG Minick As of December 31 2008 we

received $20.6 million in cash from the sale of Minick and we recognized gain of $2.1 million in the nine

months ended December 31 2008 The gain is presented as Gain on sale of discontinued operations net

of tax in our fiscal 2009 consolidated statement of operations Pursuant to the Minick sale agreement no

additional consideration was outstanding as of June 30 2008

Comparison of Fiscal 2009 to Fiscal 2008

Our net loss from continuing operations for fiscal 2009 was $433.5 million or $6.48 per diluted share

compared to net loss from continuing operations of $36.9 million or $0.55 per diluted share for fiscal

2008 Our net loss for fiscal 2009 was $431.1 million or $6.45 per diluted share and included $2.1 million

gain on sale of discontinued operations

Net Sales

In fiscal 2009 and 2008 net sales were $830.0 million and $1 030.5 million respectively

Net sales for fiscal 2009 were impacted by the deferral or recognition of revenue from the sale of titles with

significant online functionality The balance of deferred revenue related to these titles is included within

accrued and other current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets We also defer certain costs related to

these titles these costs are included within software development and prepaid expenses and other current

assets in our consolidated balance sheets

Net sales decreased by $200.5 million in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 from $1 030.5 million to

$830.0 million Worldwide net sales in fiscal 2009 were primarily driven by sales of WWE SmackDown vs Raw
2009 Saints Row and WALL.E As more fully described below the main factors that contributed to the

decrease in our net sales were an overall softening in our kids business ii
decline in sales of our games

based on the WWE license and iii unfavorable changes in foreign currency translation rates

Net Sales by New Re/eases and Catalog Titles

The following table details our net sales by new releases titles initially released in the respective fiscal year
and catalog titles titles released in fiscal years previous to the respective fiscal year for fiscal 2009 and 2008

in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended March 31 Increase/

2009 2008 Decrease Change

New releases $556384 67.0% $755126 73.3% $198742 26.3%
Catalog 273579 33.0 275341 26.7 1762 0.6%
Consolidated

net sales $829963 100.0% $1030467 100.0% $200504 19.5%
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Fiscal Year Ended March 31

2009 2008 Decrease Change

$45315 9.0%
140817 31.0%
14372 19.8%

155189 29.4%
$200504 19.5%

North America $457819 55.2% $503134 48.8%

Europe 314063 37.8% 454880 44.2%

Asia Pacific 58081 7.0% 72453 7.0% __________ _______
International 372144 44.8% 527333 51.2% _________ ______
Consolidated net sales $829963 100.0% $1 030467 100.0%

__________ _______

Net sales in North America and in our international territories decreased in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal

2008 by $45.3 million and $1 55.2 million respectively The decrease in net sales in both North America and

in our international territories was primarily due to the decrease in sales from our new releases Additionally

we estimate that unfavorable changes in foreign currency translation rates during fiscal 2009 resulted in

decrease of reported net sales from our international territories of $41 .0 million as compared to fiscal 2008

Cost of Sales Operating Expenses Interest and Other Income Expense net Income Taxes

Noncontrolling Interest and Discontinued Operations

Excluding the impact of goodwill impairment charges of $1 18.8 million cost of sales and operating expenses
decreased by $1 9.6 million or .8% in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 to $1 098.9 million from

$1 18.5 million The decrease was primarily due to decreases in product costs license amortization and

royalties product development and selling and marketing expense in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal

2008 which were primarily the result of lower sales and cost reductions in product development stemming
from our business realignment These decreases were partially offset by an increase in software development

expense in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 primarily due to games cancelled in connection with our

realignment as well as other realignment charges incurred in fiscal 2009

Net sales of our new releases decreased by $198.7 million in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 primarily

due to decrease in the number of units sold The decrease in units sold was primarily the result of releasing

25 fewer SKUs in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 which was primarily due to decrease in titles from

our kids business SKU is version of title designed for play on particular platform The decrease in

units sold was also the result of fewer units sold of WWESmackdown vs Raw 2009 and Wall-Em fiscal 2009

compared to sales of WWE Smackdown vs Raw 2008 and Ratatouille in fiscal 2008

Additionally there was decrease in the average selling price on our new releases in fiscal 2009 as

compared to fiscal 2008 The decrease in the average selling price of our new releases was primarily due to

shift in title mix on the Wit platform toward lower priced titles such as Big Beach Sports and All Star

Cheer and

decrease in the average selling price on Smackdown vs Raw 2009 in fiscal 2009 as compared to

Smackdown vs Raw 2008 in fiscal 2008 as well as decrease in average selling price on Wal/-E in

fiscal 2009 as compared to Ratatouille in fiscal 2008 The decrease in average selling price on these

titles was due to decrease in the gross selling price as well as higher percentage of fiscal 2009

estimates for price protection as compared to fiscal 2008

These decreases were partially offset by the net deferred revenue activity on our new releases

Net sales of our catalog titles remained relatively flat however we had decline in the number of catalog

units shipped in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 The decline in units shipped was partially offset by

the fiscal 2009 recognition of the fiscal 2008 deferred revenue Additionally our catalog titles sold at slightly

higher average selling prices in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008

Net Sales by Territory

The following table details our net sales by territory for fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 in thousands

Increase/
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Cost of SalesProduct Costs in thousands

Year Ended Year Ended

March 31 2009 of net sales March 31 2008 of net sales change

$338882 40.8% $389097 37.8% 12.9%

Product costs primarily consist of direct manufacturing costs including platform manufacturer license fees
net of manufacturer volume rebates and discounts Product costs as percentage of net sales increased by

3.0 points in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 This increase was primarily due to

shift in title mix on the Wii platform toward lower priced titles such as Big Beach Sports and All Star

Cheer and

decrease in the average selling price on Smackdown vs Raw 2009 in fiscal 2009 as compared to

Smackdown vs Raw 2008 in fiscal 2008 as well as decrease in average selling price on WaII-E in

fiscal 2009 as compared to Ratatouille in fiscal 2008 The decrease in average selling price on these

titles was due to decrease in the gross selling price as well as higher percentage of fiscal 2009

estimates for price protection as compared to fiscal 2008

Cost of SalesSoftware Amortization and Royalties in thousands

Year Ended

March 31 2008of net sales of net sales change

35.7% $231800 22.5% 28.0%

of net sales of net sales change

10.0% 9.7% 16.5%

License amortization and royalties expense consists of royalty payments due to licensors which are

expensed at the higher of the contractual royalty rate based on actual net product sales for such license

or an effective rate based upon total projected revenue for such license License amortization and

royalties decreased on dollar basis due to lower net sales from our portfolio of licensed products in fiscal

2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 Also net sales of our licensed properties made up smaller portion of our

net sales mix in fiscal 2009 with approximately 66% of our net sales compared to fiscal 2008 with

approximately 76% of our net sales Although net sales of our licensed properties made up smaller portion

of our net sales mix license amortization and royalties as percentage of net sales increased slightly in fiscal

2009 as compared to fiscal 2008

This slight increase is primarily the result of overall higher license rates due to the performance of our

licensed properties and contractual minimum license requirements which results in higher effective rate

Cost of SalesVenture Partner Expense in thousands

Year Ended Year Ended

March 31 2009 of net sales March 31 2008 of net sales change

$19707 2.4% $24056 2.3% 18.1%

Year Ended

March 31 2009

$296688

Year Ended

March 31 2009

$83066

Software amortization and royalties consists of amortization of capitalized payments made to third-party

software developers and amortization of capitalized internal studio development costs Commencing upon
product release capitalized software development costs are amortized to software amortization and royalties

based on the ratio of current revenues to total projected revenues In fiscal 2009 software amortization and

royalties increased by 3.2 points as percentage of net sales as compared to fiscal 2008 The increase

was primarily due to non-cash charges of $63.3 million incurred in fiscal 2009 related to games that were
cancelled as part of our business realignment compared to $23.9 million incurred in fiscal 2008 The

increase was also due to lower net sales on fiscal 2009 new releases as compared to fiscal 2008

Cost of SalesLicense Amortization and Royalties in thousands

Year Ended

March 31 2008

$99524
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Venture partner expense is related to the license agreement that the LLC joint venture comprised of THQ
and Jakks had with WWE see Note 17Settlement Agreements in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements included in Item Venture partner expense decreased by $4.3 million in fiscal 2009 as

compared to fiscal 2008 This decrease is due to an overall decrease in net sales of games based on the

WWE license

Product Development in thousands

Year Ended Year Ended

March 31 2009 of net sales March 31 2008 of net sales change

$109201 13.2% $128869 12.5% 15.3%

Product development expense primarily consists of expenses incurred by internal development studios and

payments made to external development studios prior to products reaching technological feasibility Product

development expense decreased by $1 9.7 million in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 This decrease is

primarily due to decreases in internal development spending resulting from the closure of several of our

studios as part of our business realignment as well as an increase in spend on products that have reached

technological feasibility These decreases were partially offset by an increase in expense due to severance

payments made to product development employees as part of our business realignment

Selling and Marketing in thousands

Year Ended

March_31_2009 ________________ _______________ _______________ _________

$162183 _____________ _____________ _____________ ________

Selling and marketing expenses consist of advertising promotional expenses and sales and marketing

personnel-related costs fiscal 2009 selling and marketing expenses decreased on dollar basis by

$1 3.1 million as compared to fiscal 2008 This decrease was primarily due to lower marketing spend on

Smackdown vs Raw 2009 in fiscal 2009 as compared to Smackdown vs Raw 2008 in fiscal 2008 and high

marketing spend in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 due to the launch of our owned intellectual property

Frontlines Fuel of War

In fiscal 2009 selling and marketing expenses increased by 2.5 points as percentage of net sales as

compared to fiscal 2008 This increase is primarily due to decrease in net sales primarily due to lower

average selling prices in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 as well as fewer units shipped of our fiscal

2009 new releases as compared to fiscal 2008

General and Administrative in thousands

Year Ended

March 31 2009

$76884

Restructuring

Year Ended

March 31 2008

$69901

Year Ended

of net sales March 31 2008 of net sales

19.5% $175288 17.0%
change

7.5%

%_of_net_sales

9.3%

of net sales

6.8%
_________________ _________________ _________ _________________ change

_____________ _____________ _____________ _____________
10.0%

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel and related expenses of executive and

administrative staff as well as fees for professional services such as legal and accounting services General

and administrative expenses increased by $7.0 million in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008 The

increase was primarily due to $10.1 million additional bad debt expense in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal

2008 resulting from the bankruptcy of certain customers partially offset by decrease in employee related

expenses

Goodwill Impairment

In connection with the preparation of the fiscal 2009 third quarter financial statements we performed an

interim impairment test of goodwill at December 31 2008 and recorded goodwill impairment charges of

$118.8 million during fiscal 2009 representing the entire amount of our previously recorded goodwill

Restructuring charges consist primarily of lease and other contact termination costs and asset impairments

related to facility closures Restructuring charges were $12.3 million in fiscal 2009 We had no restructuring

charges in fiscal 2008
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Interest and Other Income Expense net

Interest and other income expense net consists of interest earned on our investments as well as gains

and losses resulting from exchange rate changes for transactions denominated in currencies other than the

functional currency Interest and other income expense net decreased by $14.9 million in fiscal 2009 as

compared to fiscal 2008 The decrease in fiscal 2009 was primarily due to the recognition of $6.3 million

other-than-temporary impairment loss on our investments as well as lower average yields on lower average

investment balance in fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008

Income Taxes

We recorded an income tax expense of $46.2 million for fiscal 2009 as compared to income tax benefit of

$35.8 million for fiscal 2008 The income tax expense in fiscal 2009 reflects an effective tax rate of 12%
which is different than our statutory rate of 35% The significant items that generated the variance between

our effective tax rate and the statutory tax rate for fiscal 2009 were recording of valuation allowance

against deferred tax assets ii goodwill impairment the majority of which is not tax deductible iii fiscal 2009

research and development tax credits and iv tax free interest income

The income tax benefit for fiscal 2008 reflects an effective income tax rate of 49% which is higher than our

statutory rate of 35% The significant items that generated the variance between our effective tax rate and

the statutory tax rate for fiscal 2008 were the partial release of the reserve on previous years research and

development tax credits ii fiscal 2008 research and development tax credits and iii tax free interest

income

Noncon trolling Interest

The noncontrolling interest of $0.3 million in fiscal 2009 reflects the loss allocable to equity interests in

THQICE LLC joint venture with ICE Entertainment formed in fiscal 2009 This noncontrolling interest

reflects the loss allocable to equity interests that are not owned by THQ

Discontinued Operations

In December 2006 we sold our 50% interest in Minick As of December 31 2008 we received $20.6 million in

cash from the sale of Minick and we recognized gain of $2.1 million in the nine months ended
December 31 2008 The gain is presented as Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax in our

consolidated statement of operations Pursuant to the Minick sale agreement no additional consideration

was outstanding as of June 30 2008

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In

thousands

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments

Cash cash equivalents and short-term investments

Percentage of total assets

March 31 2010 March 31 2009 Change

$188378 $131858 $56520

82941 8804 74137

$271319 $140662 $130657

38% 24%

In

thousands

Cash provided by used in operating activities

Cash provided by used in investing activities

Cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Year Ended March 31

2010 2009 Change

$33385 $194174 $227559

69784 59533 129317
86418 33954 52464

6501 15275 21776

$56520 $115962 $172482

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash cash equivalents and short-term investments Our principal source

of cash is from sales of interactive software games designed for play on video game consoles handheld

devices and PCs including via the Internet Our principal uses of cash are for product purchases of discs
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and cartridges along with associated manufacturers royalties payments to external developers and

licensors the costs of internal software development and selling and marketing expenses

In fiscal 2010 our cash cash equivalents and short-term investments increased by $130.7 million from

$140.7 million at March 31 2009 to $271.3 million at March 31 2010 The primary reasons for the increase

were proceeds received from the August 2009 issuance of the Notes for further discussion of the Notes

see Note 11Convertible Senior Notes in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in

Item and ii cash provided by our fiscal 2010 operating activities The increase was partially offset by

payment of $32.8 million to Jakks which was settlement payment related to the preferred return rate

arbitration and payment of $1 3.2 million to WWE related to the settlement of our litigation with WWE For

further discussion of the settlement payment related to the preferred return rate arbitration see Note
Balance Sheet Details and for further discussion of the settlement of our litigation with WWE see

Note 7Settlement Agreements both in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in

Item

In order to position the company for long-term growth during fiscal 2011 we intend to use $75.0 to $100.0

million of our cash cash equivalents and short-term investments principally to fund additional product

development and invest in additional licenses Consistent with prior years we expect to use cash in the first

half of fiscal 2011 and to generate cash in the second half of fiscal 2011

Cash Flow from Operating Activities Cash provided by operating activities increased by $227.6 million

in fiscal 201 as compared to fiscal 2009 The increase in cash provided was primarily the result of our lower

fiscal 2010 net loss as compared to fiscal 2009 adjusted for non-cash goodwill impairment and higher

amortization of licenses and software development in fiscal 2009 Additionally in fiscal 201 we had lower

investments in software development and licenses

Cash F/ow from Investing Activities Cash used in investing activities increased by $1 29.3 million in

fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 The increase in cash used was primarily due to the investment of the

proceeds from the issuance of the Notes in short-term securities and fewer sales and maturities of short-term

securities

Cash F/ow from Financing Activities Cash provided by financing activities increased by $52.5 million in

fiscal 2010 as compared to fiscal 2009 The increase in cash provided was due to proceeds from the

issuance of the Notes on August 2009 partially offset by net repayments under our secured credit lines in

fiscal 2010 as compared to net borrowings in fiscal 2009 Borrowings under our secured credit lines relate to

our auction rate securities ARS see Note 3Investment Securities for further information related to our

ARS and Note 10Secured Credit Lines for further information on our secured credit lines both in the

notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash Changes in foreign currency translation rates increased our

reported cash balance by $6.5 million

Key Balance Sheet Accounts

Total current assets at March 31 2010 were $562.5 million up from $444.2 million at March 31 2009 In

addition to cash cash equivalents and short-term investments our current assets consist primarily of

Accounts Receivable Accounts receivable decreased by $1 9.1 million from $60.4 million at March 31 2009

to $41.3 million at March 31 2010 Net accounts receivable was lower at the end of fiscal 2010 as

compared to fiscal 2009 primarily due to the timing of our releases Darksiders was released in the first week

of our fiscal 2010 fourth quarter and thus large percentage of accounts receivable for this title had been

paid by March 31 2010 Accounts receivable allowances were $77.5 million as of March 31 2010
$23.5 million decrease from March 31 2009 Allowances for price protection and returns as percentage of

trailing nine month net sales were 0% and 11% as of March 31 2010 and 2009 respectively We believe

our current reserves are adequate based on historical experience inventory remaining in the retail channel

and the rate of inventory sell-through in the retail channel

Inventory Inventory decreased by $11.8 million from $25.8 million at March 31 2009 to $14.0 million at

March 31 2010 The decrease in inventory was primarily due to the timing of product purchases and an

effort to manage towards lower levels of inventory on hand Inventory turns on rolling twelve month basis

were 12 and at March 31 2010 and 2009 respectively
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Licenses Our investment in licenses including the long-term portion increased by $47.4 million from

$92.9 million at March 31 2009 to $1 40.3 million at March 31 2010 The increase was primarily due to the

eight-year license agreement we entered into with WWE on December 22 2009 and multi-property

agreements with DreamWorks Animation and Sony Pictures Consumer Products This increase is also

reflected within accrued and other current liabilities as well as other long-term liabilities in the consolidated

balance sheet at March 31 2010

Software Development Capitalized software development including the long-term portion decreased by

$3.5 million from $162.5 million at March 31 2009 to $159.0 million at March 31 2010 Approximately 82%

of the software development asset balance at March 31 2010 is for games that have expected release

dates in fiscal 2011 and beyond

Total current liabilities at March 31 2010 were $190.9 million down from $254.6 million at March 31 2009

Current liabilities consist primarily of

Accounts Payable Accounts payable increased by $0.2 million from $40.1 million at March 31 2009 to

$40.3 million at March 31 2010

Accrued and Other Current Liabilities Accrued and other current liabilities decreased by $52.8 million from

$190.1 million at March 31 2009 to $137.3 million at March 31 2010 The decrease was primarily due to the

settlement agreement we entered into with Jakks which established the preferred payment rate to Jakks for

WWE video games sold under license granted by WWE for the period beginning July 2006 and ending

December 31 2009 at rate 40% lower than the previous contract rate As result of establishing the

preferred payment rate for the period under dispute we revised our previous estimate which resulted in

one-time reduction in accrued venture partner expense of $24.2 million In addition during the three months

ended September 30 2009 we paid Jakks $33.5 million which we had previously not paid pending the

settlement of the preferred return rate matter for additional information see Note 6Balance Sheet Details

in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item

Secured Credit Lines Secured credit lines decreased by $1 .2 million from $24.4 million at March 31 2009

to $13.2 million at March 31 2010 due to net repayments of borrowings under our margin account with Wells

Fargo and our line of credit with UBS Borrowings under our secured credit lines relate to our ARS see

Note 3Investment Securities for further information related to our ARS and Note 0Secured Credit

Lines for further information on our secured credit lines both in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements included in Item

Our liabilities at March 31 2010 also consisted of

Other long-term liabilities Other long-term liabilities increased by $65.3 million from $33.5 million at

March 31 2009 to $98.8 million at March 31 2010 The increase was primarily due to the eight-year license

agreement we entered into with WWE on December 22 2009 and multi-property agreements with

DreamWorks Animation and Sony Pictures Consumer Products Also contributing to the increase is portion

of the consideration payable to Jakks related to the agreement that terminated the LLC operating agreement

see Note 17Settlement Agreements in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in

Item

Convertible Senior Notes We issued the Notes on August 2009 see Note 11Convertible Senior Notes

in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item

Inflation

Our management currently believes that inflation has not had and does not currently have material impact

on continuing operations

Financial Condition

At March 31 2010 we held cash cash equivalents short-term investments and short term investments

pledged net of borrowings on secured credit lines of $280.8 million We believe that this amount will be

sufficient to meet our operating requirements for at least the next twelve months including working capital

requirements and contractual obligations capital expenditures and potential future acquisitions or strategic

investments
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In June 2009 we entered into Loan and Security Agreement the Credit Facility with Bank of America
N.A of as agent and the lenders party thereto from time to time The Credit Facility provides for

$35.0 million revolving credit facility which can be increased to $50.0 million subject to lender consent

pursuant to $1 5.0 million accordion feature and includes $15.0 million letter of credit subfacility See

Note 12Credit Facility in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item for

additional information regarding the Credit Facility We may use the Credit Facility to provide us with working

capital and cash for other corporate purposes however our ability to borrow and the lenders obligation to

lend under the Credit Facility is subject to our compliance with certain terms and conditions including

requirement that we meet minimum fixed charge coverage ratio The borrowing capacity under the Credit

Facility fluctuates based upon our levels of U.S accounts receivable subject to standard deductions and

reserves As of March 31 2010 we had no borrowings under the Credit Facility and $35.0 million of available

borrowing capacity

On August 2009 we issued the Notes see Note 11Convertible Senior Notes in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements included in Item After offering costs the net proceeds to us were

$96.8 million The Notes are due August 15 2014 unless earlier converted redeemed or repurchased The

Notes pay interest semiannually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year beginning

February 15 2010 through maturity and are convertible at each holders option at any time prior to the close

of business on the trading day immediately preceding the maturity date In fiscal 2010 we paid $2.7 million in

interest on the Notes and absent any conversions we expect to pay $5.0 million in each of the fiscal years

2011 through 2014 and $2.5 million in fiscal 2015 for an aggregate of $25.2 million in interest payments
over the term of the Notes The Notes are our unsecured and unsubordinated obligations The Notes will be

redeemable in whole or in part at our option at any time after August 20 2012 for cash at redemption

price of 100% of the principal amount of the Notes plus accrued but unpaid interest if the price of share of

our common stock has been at least 50% of the conversion price then in effect for specified periods

In the case of certain events such as acquisition or liquidation of THQ or delisting of our common stock from

U.S national securities exchange holders may require us to repurchase all or portion of the Notes for

cash at purchase price of 100% of the principal amount of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest

At March 31 2010 we had $82.9 million of short-term available-for-sale investments and $1 .9 million of long-

term available-for-sale investments We classified certain of these investments as long-term to reflect the lack

of liquidity of these securities In addition we had $21 .0 million of short-term pledged trading securities

Our ability to maintain sufficient liquidity could be affected by various risks and uncertainties described in

Part IlItem Risk Factors We may choose at any time to raise or borrow additional capital to

strengthen our cash position facilitate expansion pursue strategic investments or to take advantage of

business opportunities as they arise

Contractual Obligations

Guarantees and Commitments

summary of annual minimum contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of March 31 2010 is

as follows in thousands

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments6
Fiscal License

Years Software

Ending Development
March 31 Commitments1 Advertising2 Leases3 Debt4 Other5 Total

2011 $112478 $5798 $14905 $13249 $6653 $153083
2012 59963 14207 14209 6582 94961
2013 16600 2676 11217 4000 34493
2014 12000 1325 10043 4000 27368
2015 10000 577 8850 100000 119427
Thereafter 22500 1000 11560 35060

$233541 $25583 $70784 $113249 $21235 $464392

Licenses and Software Development We enter into contractual arrangements with third parties

for the rights to exploit intellectual property and for the development of products Under these
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agreements we commit to provide specified payments to an intellectual property holder or

developer Assuming all contractual provisions are met the total future minimum contract

commitments for such agreements in place as of March 31 2010 are $233.5 million

License/software development commitments in the table above include $1 11 .2 million of

commitments to licensors/developers that are included in our consolidated balance sheet as of

March 31 2010 because the licensors do not have any significant performance obligations to us
These commitments were included in both current and long-term licenses and accrued

royalties/current and long-term software development and accrued liabilities

Advertising We have certain minimum advertising commitments under most of our major license

agreements These minimum commitments generally range from 2% to 12% of net sales related

to the respective license

Leases We are committed under operating leases with lease termination dates through 2020

Most of our leases contain rent escalations Of these obligations $1 .6 million and $0.8 million are

accrued and classified as accrued and other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities

respectively in the March 31 2010 consolidated balance sheet due to abandonment of certain

lease obligations in connection with our fiscal 2009 business realignment We expect to receive

$0.8 million $0.4 million $0.2 million in sublease rental income in fiscal 2011 fiscal 2012 and

fiscal 2013 respectively under non-cancelable sublease agreements Rent expense was

$13.9 million $15.9 million and $16.1 million for fiscal years 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Secured Credit Lines In fiscal 2009 we obtained credit line with UBS related to our portfolio of

ARS held by UBS We had $13.2 million in borrowings outstanding on the UBS credit line at

March 31 2010 see Note 10Secured Credit Lines

Convertible Senior Notes On August 2009 we issued the Notes The Notes pay interest

semiannually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year beginning February 15

2010 through maturity and are convertible at each holders option at any time prior to the close

of business on the trading day immediately preceding the maturity date In fiscal 2010 we paid

$2.7 million in interest on the Notes and absent any conversions we expect to pay $5.0 million in

each of the fiscal years 2011 through 2014 and $2.5 million in fiscal 2015 for an aggregate of

$25.2 million in interest payments over the term of the Notes see Note 11Convertible Senior

Notes in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in Item

Other As discussed more fully in Note 17Settlement Agreements in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements included in Item the amounts payable to Jakks totaling

$20.0 million are reflected in the table above The present value of these amounts is included in

other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet at

March 31 2010 The remaining other commitments included in the table above are also included

as current or long-term liabilities in our March 31 2010 consolidated balance sheet

We have omitted unrecognized tax benefits from this table due to the inherent uncertainty

regarding the timing and amount of certain payments related to these unrecognized tax benefits

The underlying positions have not been fully developed under audit to quantify at this time At

March 31 201 we had $6.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits See Note 19Income Taxes

in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item for further information

regarding the unrecognized tax benefits

Manufacturer Indemnification We must indemnify the platform manufacturers Microsoft Nintendo Sony of

our games with respect to all loss liability and expenses resulting from any claim against such manufacturer

involving the development marketing sale or use of our games including any claims for copyright or

trademark infringement brought against such manufacturer As result we bear risk that the properties

upon which the titles of our games are based or that the information and technology licensed from others

and incorporated into the products may infringe the rights of third parties Our agreements with our

third-party software developers and property licensors typically provide indemnification rights for us with

respect to certain matters However if manufacturer brings claim against us for indemnification the

developers or licensors may not have sufficient resources to in turn indemnify us
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Indemnity Agreements We have entered into indemnification agreements with the members of our Board of

Directors our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer to provide contractual right of

indemnification to such persons to the extent permitted by law against any and all liabilities costs expenses
amounts paid in settlement and damages incurred by any such person as result of any lawsuit or any

judicial administrative or investigative proceeding in which such person is sued as result of service as

member of our Board of Directors as Chief Executive Officer or as Chief Financial Officer The indemnification

agreements provide specific procedures and time frames with respect to requests for indemnification and

clarify the benefits and remedies available to the indemnitees in the event of an indemnification request

Critical Accounting Estimates

The Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses our

consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America The preparation of these consolidated financial

statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated

financial statements and the reported amounts of net sales and expenses during the reporting period The
estimates discussed below are considered by management to be critical because they are both important to

the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and because their application places the

most significant demands on managements judgment with financial reporting results relying on estimates

about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain Specific risks for these critical accounting estimates

are described in the following paragraphs For all of these estimates we caution that actual results may differ

materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions

Accounts receivable allowances We derive revenue from sales of packaged software for video game
systems and PCs and sales of content and services over the Internet and for wireless devices Product sales

are recognized net of allowances for price protection and returns and various customer discounts We
typically only allow returns for our PC products however we may decide to provide price protection or allow

returns for our video games after we analyze inventory remaining in the retail channel ii the rate of

inventory sell-through in the retail channel and iii our remaining inventory on hand We maintain policy of

giving credits for price protection and returns but do not give cash refunds We use significant judgment and

make estimates in connection with establishing allowances for price protection returns and doubtful

accounts in any accounting period Included in our accounts receivable allowances is our allowance for co
operative advertising that we engage in with our retail channel partners Our co-operative advertising

allowance is based upon specific contractual commitments and does not involve estimates made by

management

We establish sales allowances based on estimates of future price protection and returns with respect to

current period product sales We analyze historical price protection granted historical returns current sell-

through of retailer and distributor inventory of our products current trends in the video game industry and the

overall economy changes in customer demand and acceptance of our products and other related factors

when evaluating the adequacy of the price protection and returns allowance In addition we monitor the

volume of our sales to retailers and distributors and their inventories because slow-moving inventory in the

distribution channel can result in the requirement for price protection or returns in subsequent periods Actual

price protection and returns in any future period are uncertain While we believe we can make reliable

estimates for these matters if we changed our assumptions and estimates our price protection and returns

reserves would change which would impact the net sales we report In addition if actual price protection and
returns were significantly greater than the reserves we have established the actual results of our reported

net sales would decrease Conversely if actual price protection and returns were significantly less than our

reserves our reported net sales would increase In circumstances when we do not have reliable basis to

estimate returns and price protection or are unable to determine that collection of receivable is probable

we defer the sale until such time as we can reliably estimate any related returns and allowances and

determine that collection of the receivable is probable

Similarly we must use significant judgment and make estimates in connection with establishing allowances

for doubtful accounts in any accounting period We analyze customer concentrations customer

credit-worthiness and current economic trends when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful

accounts Material differences may result in the amount and timing of our bad debt expense for any period if

we made different judgments or utilized different estimates If our customers experience financial difficulties

and are not able to meet their ongoing financial obligations to us our results of operations may be adversely

impacted
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Licenses Minimum guaranteed royalty payments for intellectual property licenses are initially recorded on our

balance sheet as an asset licenses and as liability accrued royalties at the contractual amount upon
execution of the contract if no significant performance obligation remains with the licensor When significant

performance obligation remains with the licensor we record royalty payments as an asset licenses and as

liability accrued royalties when payable rather than upon execution of the contract Royalty payments for

intellectual property licenses are classified as current assets and current liabilities to the extent such royalty

payments relate to anticipated product sales during the subsequent year and long-term assets and long-term

liabilities if such royalty payments relate to anticipated product sales after one year

We evaluate the future recoverability of our capitalized licenses on quarterly basis The recoverability of

capitalized license costs is evaluated based on the expected performance of the specific products in which

the licensed trademark or copyright is to be used As many of our licenses extend for multiple products over

multiple years we also assess the recoverability of capitalized license costs based on certain qualitative

factors such as the success of other products and/or entertainment vehicles utilizing the intellectual property

whether there are any future planned theatrical releases or television series based on the intellectual

property and the rights holders continued promotion and exploitation of the intellectual property Prior to the

related products release we expense as part of cost of saleslicense amortization and royalties

capitalized license costs when we estimate such amounts are not recoverable

Licenses are expensed to cost of saleslicense amortization and royalties at the higher of the contractual

royalty rate based on actual net product sales related to such license or ii an effective rate based upon
total projected net sales related to such license When in managements estimate future cash flows will not

be sufficient to recover previously capitalized costs we expense these capitalized costs to cost of sales
license amortization and royalties If actual net sales or revised forecasted net sales fall below the initial

forecasted net sales for particular license the charge to cost of saleslicense amortization and royalties

expense may be larger than anticipated in any given quarter At March 31 2010 the net carrying value of

our licenses was $140.3 million and is reflected as Licenses and Licenses net of current portion in the

consolidated financial statements included in Item Additionally as of March 31 201 we had commitments

of $1 22.3 million that are not reflected in our consolidated financial statements due to remaining performance

obligations of the licensor If we were required to impair these licenses due to changes in market conditions

or product acceptance our results of operations could be materially adversely affected

Software Development We utilize both internal development teams and third-party software developers to

develop our software We capitalize software development costs once technological feasibility is established

and we determine that such costs are recoverable against future net sales We evaluate technological

feasibility on product-by-product basis For products where proven game engine technology exists the

establishment of technological feasibility may occur early in the development cycle We capitalize the

milestone payments made to third-party software developers and the direct payroll and overhead costs for

our internal development teams Amounts related to software development for which technological feasibility

is not yet met are charged as incurred to product development expense in our consolidated statements of

operations

On quarterly basis we compare our unamortized software development costs to net realizable value on

product-by-product basis The amount by which any unamortized software development costs exceed their

net realizable value is charged to cost of salessoftware amortization and royalties The net realizable value

is the estimated future net sales from the product reduced by the estimated future direct costs associated

with the product such as completion costs cost of sales and advertising

Commencing upon product release capitalized software development costs are amortized to cost of sales
software amortization and royalties based on the ratio of current gross sales to total projected gross sales In

fiscal 2010 we recorded $10.8 million of additional amortization expense related to the cancellation of

certain games As of March 31 2010 the net carrying value of our software development was $1 59.0 million

The milestone payments made to our third-party developers during their development of our games are

typically considered non-refundable advances against the total compensation they can earn based upon the

sales performance of the products Any additional compensation earned beyond the milestone payments is

expensed to cost of salessoftware amortization and royalties as earned Additionally we have studio

bonus plan that allows for our internal product development staff to participate in the success of the games

they develop As certain performance targets are reached any additional compensation earned under the

studio bonus plan is expensed to cost of salessoftware amortization and royalties
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Revenue Recognition We recognize net sales for packaged software when title and risk of loss transfers to

the customer provided that we have no significant remaining support obligations and that collection of the

resulting receivable is deemed probable by management Certain products are sold to customers with

street date the earliest date these products may be sold by retailers For these products we recognize net

sales on the later of the street date or the sale date

Some of our packaged software products are developed with the ability to be connected to and played via

the Internet In order for consumers to participate in online communities and play against one another via the

Internet we either directly or through outsourced arrangements with third parties maintain servers that

support an online service we provide to consumers for activities such as matchmaking roster updates
tournaments and player rankings Generally we do not consider the online service to be deliverable as it is

incidental to the overall product offering Accordingly we do not defer any net sales related to products

containing the limited online service

In instances where the online service is considered deliverable and where we have significant continuing

involvement in addition to the software product we account for the sale as bundled sale or multiple

element arrangement in which we sell both the packaged software product and the online service for one
combined price Vendor specific objective evidence for the fair value of the online service does not exist as

we have not separately offered or charged for the online service Therefore when the online service is

determined to be deliverable we recognize the revenue from sales of such software products ratably over

the estimated online service period of six months beginning the month after shipment of the software

product Costs of sales related to such products are also deferred and recognized with the related net sales

and include product costs software amortization and royalties and license amortization and royalties At

March 31 2010 the deferred revenue related to these games was $1.4 million and is included within accrued

and other current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet

Determining whether the online service for particular game constitutes deliverable is subjective and

requires managements judgment Determining the estimated service period over which to recognize the

related net sales and costs of sales is also subjective and involves managements judgment

Although we generally sell our products on no-return basis in certain circumstances we may allow price

protection returns or other allowances on negotiated basis We estimate such price protection returns or

other allowances based upon managements evaluation of our historical experience retailer inventories the

nature of the titles and other factors Such estimates are deducted from gross sales See Note 5Accounts
Receivable Allowances in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item Software is

sold under limited 90-day warranty against defects in material and workmanship To date we have not

experienced material warranty claims

Stock-based compensation We estimate the fair value of stock options and our employee stock purchase

plan on date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model which requires the input of subjective

assumptions including the expected volatility of our common stock and an options expected life The fair

value of our restricted stock and restricted stock units is determined based on the closing trading price of our

common stock on the grant date The amount of expense recognized represents the expense associated

with the stock-based awards we expect to ultimately vest based upon an estimated rate of forfeitures Our
estimate of forfeitures is based on historical forfeiture behavior as well as any expected trends in future

forfeiture behavior this rate of forfeitures is updated as necessary and any adjustments needed to recognize

the fair value of options that actually vest or are forfeited are recorded The fair value for awards that are

expected to vest is then amortized on straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award
which is generally the option vesting term As result the financial statements include amounts that are

based upon our best estimates and judgments relating to the expenses recognized for stock-based

compensation

Income taxes The provision for income taxes is computed using the asset and liability method under which

deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently enacted tax rates that apply to

taxable income in effect for the years in which those tax assets are expected to be realized or settled To the

extent recovery of deferred tax assets is not likely based on our estimates of future taxable income in each

jurisdiction valuation allowance is established As part of the process of preparing our consolidated

financial statements we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we

operate This process involves estimating our current tax exposure in each jurisdiction including the

impact if any of changes or interpretations to applicable tax laws and regulations ii estimating additional

taxes resulting from tax examinations and iii making judgments regarding the recoverability of deferred tax

assets
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The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax

regulations We recognize liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in the U.S and other tax jurisdictions

based on our estimate of whether and the extent to which additional taxes will be due Our estimate for the

potential outcome for any uncertain tax issue including our claims for research and development income tax

credits requires judgment We believe we have adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable

outcome related to these matters However our future results may include favorable or unfavorable

adjustments to our estimated tax liabilities in the period in which they are resolved or when statutes of

limitation on potential assessments expire We recognize the financial statement benefit of tax position only

after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an

audit For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold the amount recognized in the financial

statements is the largest benefit that has greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate

settlement with the relevant tax authority

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards SFAS No 160 Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic 810
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements FAS 160 This Statement amends

Accounting Research Bulletin ARB No 51 Consolidated Financial Statements to establish accounting

and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of

subsidiary It clarifies that noncontrolling interest in subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated

entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements FAS 160 is effective for

fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning on or after December 15 2008 We
adopted this statement on April 2009 The presentation and disclosure requirements of FAS 160 were

applied retrospectively Other than the change in presentation of noncontrolling interests the adoption of

FAS 160 had no impact on our results of operations financial position or cash flows

In June 2009 the FASB issued SFAS No 166 ASC Topic 860 Accounting for Transfers of Financial

Assetsan amendment to FASB Statement No 140 FAS 166 The purpose of FAS 166 is to improve

the relevance representational faithfulness and comparability of the information that reporting entity

provides in its financial statements about transfer of financial assets the effects of transfer on its financial

position financial performance and cash flows and transferors continuing involvement if any in

transferred financial assets FAS 166 is effective at the start of companys first fiscal year beginning after

November 15 2009 which will be our fiscal year 2011 The adoption did not have material impact on our

results of operations financial position or cash flows

In June 2009 the FASB issued SFAS No 167 ASC Topic 810 Amendments to FASB Interpretation

No 46R FAS 167 The purpose of FAS 167 is to improve financial reporting by enterprises involved with

variable interest entities FAS 167 is effective at the start of companys first fiscal year beginning after

November 15 2009 or January 12010 for companies reporting earnings on calendar-year basis which

will be our fiscal year 2011 Our adoption of this pronouncement on April 201 did not have material

impact on our results of operations financial position or cash flows In December 2009 the FASB issued

ASU 2009-17 Consolidations Topic 810Improvements to Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved

with Variable Interest Entities which codified FAS 67

In October 2009 the FASB issued ASU 2009-13 Revenue Recognition Topic 605 Multiple-Deliverable

Revenue Arrangementsa consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force ASU 2009-13 ASU

2009-13 provides criteria for separating consideration in multiple-deliverable arrangements It establishes

selling price hierarchy for determining the price of deliverable and expands the disclosures related to

vendors multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements ASU 2009-13 is effective prospectively for arrangements

entered into or materially modified in years beginning after June 15 2010 which will be our fiscal 2012 We
are still evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2009-13 will have on our results of operations

financial position or cash flows

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU 2010-02 Consolidation Topic 810 Accounting and Reporting for

Decreases in Ownership of Subsidiary ASU 201 0-02 This amendment to Topic 810 clarifies but does

not change the scope of current US GAAP It clarifies the decrease in ownership provisions of Subtopic 810-

10 and removes the potential conflict between guidance in that Subtopic and asset derecognition and gain

or loss recognition guidance that may exist in other US GAAP An entity will be required to follow the

amended guidance beginning in the period that it first adopts FAS 160 now included in Subtopic 810-10
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For those entities that have already adopted FAS 160 the amendments are effective at the beginning of the

first interim or annual reporting period ending on or after December 15 2009 which will be our quarter

ending March 31 2010 The amendments should be applied retrospectively to the first period that an entity

adopted FAS 160 Our adoption of this pronouncement did not have material impact on our results of

operations financial position or cash flows

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU 201 0-06 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic 820
Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements ASU 2010-06 ASU 2010-06 amends ASC 820
and clarifies and provides additional disclosure requirements related to recurring and non-recurring fair value

measurements and employers disclosures about postretirement benefit plan assets ASU 2010-06 is

effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15 2009 which was our quarter

ending March 31 2010 Our adoption of this pronouncement did not have material impact on our results of

operations financial position or cash flows Disclosures about purchases sales issuances and settlements

in the roll forward activity in Level fair value measurements are effective for fiscal years beginning after

December 15 2010 and for interim periods within those fiscal years which will be our quarter ending

June 30 2011 The adoption is not expected to have material impact on our results of operations financial

position or cash flows

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Risk

We are exposed to certain market risks arising from transactions in the normal course of business principally

risks associated with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations Market risk is the potential loss arising

from changes in market rates and market prices We employ established policies and practices to manage
these risks We use foreign exchange option and forward contracts to hedge anticipated exposures or

mitigate some existing exposures subject to foreign currency exchange rate risk as discussed below We do

not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes

Interest Rate Risk

We have interest rate risk primarily related to our investment portfolio At March 31 2010 our $1 88.4 million

of cash and cash equivalents were comprised of cash and time deposits money market funds negotiable

certificates of deposit corporate securities and municipal securities $51 .2 million of our cash equivalents are

classified as trading securities specifically the negotiable certificates of deposit corporate securities and

municipal securities At March 31 2010 our $82.9 million of short-term investments included $17.2 million of

municipal securities $64.4 million of corporate securities and $1 .3 million of negotiable certificates of

deposit our long-term investments of $1 .9 million consisted entirely of municipal securities Our March 31
2010 short-term and long-term investments were classified as available-for-sale Additionally we had

$21.0 million in trading auction rate securities classified as short-term investments pledged at March 31
2010 We manage our interest rate risk by maintaining an investment portfolio generally consisting of debt

instruments of high credit quality and relatively short maturities However because short-term investments

mature relatively quickly and are generally reinvested at the then current market rates interest income on

portfolio consisting of cash equivalents and short-term investments is more subject to market fluctuations

than portfolio of longer term investments The value of these investments may fluctuate with changes in

interest rates however the contractual terms of the investments do not permit the issuer to call prepay or

otherwise settle the investments at prices less than the stated par value

We had no outstanding letters of credit at March 31 2010

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We transact business in many different foreign currencies and are exposed to financial market risk resulting

from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates particularly the GBP and the Euro which may result in

gain or loss of earnings to us Our international business is subject to risks typical of an international

business including but not limited to foreign currency exchange rate volatility Accordingly our future results

could be materially and adversely affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates Throughout the

year we frequently monitor the volatility of the GBP and the Euro and all other applicable currencies
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Cash Flow Hedging Activities From time to time we hedge portion of our foreign currency risk related to

forecasted foreign currency denominated sales and expense transactions by entering into foreign exchange
forward contracts that generafly have maturities less than 90 days Our hedging programs reduce but do not

entirely eliminate the impact of currency exchange rate movements in net sales and operating expenses
During fiscal 2010 we entered into foreign exchange forward contracts related to cash flow hedging

activities in the notional amount of $29.2 miHion These contracts were settled during fiscal 2010 and

resulted in loss of $0.7 million which is included in interest and other income expense net in our

consolidated statements of operations

Balance Sheet Hedging Activities We utilize foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate foreign currency

risk associated with foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities primarily certain inter-company

receivables and payables Our foreign exchange forward contracts are not designated as hedging

instruments and are accounted for as derivatives whereby the fair value of the contracts are reported as

other current assets or other current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets and the associated gains

and losses from changes in fair value are reported in interest and other income expense net in the

consolidated statements of operations The forward contracts generally have contractual term of one

month or less and are transacted near month-end Therefore the fair value of the forward contracts generally

is not significant at each month-end

At March 31 2010 we had foreign exchange forward contracts related to balance sheet hedging activities in

the notional amount of $90.1 million with fair value that approximates zero All of the contracts had

maturities of one month and consisted primarily of Euro GBP CAD and AUD The net gain recognized from

these contracts during fiscal 2010 was $4.8 million and is included in interest and other income expense
net in our consolidated statement of operations

Foreign exchange forward contracts are designed to offset gains and losses on the underlying foreign

currency denominated assets and liabilities Any movement in foreign currency exchange rates resulting in

gain or loss on our foreign exchange forward contracts are offset by an opposing gain or loss in the

underlying foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities that were hedged and would not have

material impact on our financial position

The counterparties to these forward contracts are creditworthy multinational commercial or investment banks

The risks of counterparty non-performance associated with these contracts are not considered to be material

Notwithstanding our efforts to manage foreign exchange risks there can be no assurances that our

mitigating or hedging activities will adequately protect us against the risks associated with foreign currency

fluctuations

We do not hedge foreign currency translation risk hypothetical 0% adverse change in foreign currency

translation rates would result in reduction of reported net sales of approximately $34.0 million and an

increase in reported loss from continuing operations before income taxes of approximately $1 .6 million for

fiscal 2010 hypothetical 10% adverse change in foreign currency translation rates would result in

reduction of reported total assets of approximately $13.3 million These estimates assume an adverse shift in

all foreign currency exchange rates which do not always move in the same direction actual results may differ

materially

Item Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm consolidated financial statements and notes

to consolidated financial statements follow below
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of THQ Inc

Agoura Hills California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of THQ Inc and subsidiaries the

Company as of April 2010 and March 28 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations

total equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended April 2010 These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits

provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of THQ Inc and subsidiaries as of April 2010 and March 28 2009 and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended April 2010 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of April 2010 based on the

criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated June 2010 expressed an unqualified

opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting

/s/DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP

Los Angeles California

June 42010
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THQ INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In thousands except share data

March 31 March31
2010 2009

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $188378 $131858
Short-term investments 82941 8804

Cash cash equivalents and short-term investments 271319 140662
Short-term investments pledged 22774
Accounts receivable net of allowances 41318 60444

Inventory 13970 25785
Licenses 56555 45025
Software development 132223 137820
Deferred income taxes 5590 6112
Income taxes receivable 4914 903

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 13864 27441

Total current assets 562527 444192

Property and equipment net 28374 33511

Licenses net of current portion 83752 47875
Software development net of current portion 26792 24647
Deferred income taxes 433 1982

Long-term investments 1851 5025

Long-term investments pledged 30618
Other long-term assets net 10600 10479

TOTAL ASSETS $714329 $598329

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $40305 $40088
Accrued and other current liabilities 137332 190140
Secured credit lines 13249 24360

Total current liabilities 190886 254588
Other long-term liabilities 98825 33503
Convertible senior notes 100000
Commitments and contingencies see Note 21
THQ Inc stockholders equity

Preferred stock par value $0.01 1000000 shares authorized

Common stock par value $0.01 225000000 shares authorized as of

March 31 2010 67729952 and 67471659 shares issued and outstanding

as of March 31 2010 and March 31 2009 respectively 677 675

Additional paid-in capital 511922 495851
Accumulated other comprehensive income loss 7867 2392
Accumulated deficit 196111 187094

Total THQ Inc stockholders equity 324355 307040

Noncontrolling interest 263 3198

Total equity 324618 310238

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $714329 $598329

See notes to consolidated financial statenents
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THQ INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

In thousands except per share data

318590 338882
196956 296688

95972 83066

14531 19707

626049 738343

273088 91620

87233 109201

131954 162183
57879 76884

118799
5671 12266

282737 479333

9649 387713
2056 483

11705 387230
247 46226

11952 433456
2042

11952 431414
2935 302

$9017 $431 12

$0.13 $6.48
0.03

$0.13 $6.45

389097
231800

99524
24056

744477

285990

128869
175288
69901

374058

88068
15433

72635
35785
36850

1513

35337

$35337

$0.55
0.02

$0.53

Based on amounts attributable to THQ Inc i.e subsequent to the allocation of noncontrolling

interest

See notes to consolidated financial statements

Fiscal Year Ended March 31
2010 2009 2008

$899137 $829963 $1030467Net sales

Cost of sales

Product costs

Software amortization and royalties

License amortization and royalties

Venture partner expense

Total cost of sales

Gross profit

Operating expenses
Product development

Selling and marketing

General and administrative

Goodwill impairment

Restructuring

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Interest and other income expense net

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes

Income taxes

Loss from continuing operations

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax

Net loss prior to allocation of noncontrolling interest

Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net loss attributable to THQ Inc

Earnings loss per share attributable to THQ Incbasic

Continuing operations1

Discontinued operations

Loss per sharebasic

Earnings loss per share attributable to THQ Incdiluted

Continuing operations1

Discontinued operations

Loss per sharediluted

Shares used in per share calculationbasic

Shares used in per share calculationdiluted

$0.13 $6.48 $0.55
0.03 0.02

$0.13 $6.45 $0.53

67522 66861 66475

67522 66861 66475
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Balance at March 31 2007
Exercise of options

Issuance of restricted stock net

Issuance of ESPP shares

Conversion of stock unit awards

Cancellation of restricted stock

Repurchase of common stock

Stock-based compensation

Tax benefit related to the exercise of

employee stock options

Comprehensive income loss

Net loss

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation gain

Unrealized gain on investments net of

$0.1 million tax expense

Cancellation of restricted stock

Stock-based compensation

Taxes related to the exercise and

cancellation of employee stock options

Noncontroll ing interest investment

Comprehensive loss

Net loss

Other comprehensive income loss

Foreign currency translation loss

U1 II eaittd iuUI II IVCbLI WI IL IWL UI

$4.5 million tax benefit

Less Reclassification of loss on

investments included in net loss

net of $3.5 million tax benefit

Comprehensive loss

Balance at March 31 2009

Exercise of options

Issuance of restricted stock net

Issuance of ESPP shares

Conversion of stock unit awards

Cancellation of restricted stock

Stock-based compensation

Taxes related to stock options

Comprehensive income loss

Net loss

Other comprehensive income loss

Foreign currency translation gain

Unrealized gain on investments net of

$1.0 million tax expense

Reclassification of loss on

investments included in net loss

net of $0.2 million tax benefit

Comprehensive income loss

67471659

121714

16836

134928

43328

24841

$664 $468693

5995

3588

Retained

Earnings

Accumulated

________________ Deficit ___________ _________

$279355 $768957

21136

557

5948

54910

21820

3921

35337 35337

9372 9372

219 219

9591 35337 25746

$27194 $244018 $740569

5999

3595

18326

751

3500 3500

431112 302 431414

28019

7428 7428

THQ INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF TOTAL EQUITY

In thousands except share data
Fiscal Years Ended March 31 2008 2009 and 2010

Accumulated

Other

_________________ Comprehensive

_________ _______ _________ Income_Los

Additional

Common Stock Paid-In

Shares Amount Capital

66677721

1421907

194600

304881

$667

14

$471332

21122

559
5945

$17603

Non-

Controlling Total

Interest Equity

8100

60815

2193400 22 54888
21820

3921

Comprehensive income loss __________

Balance at March 31 2008 66352994

Exercise of options 437754

Issuance of ESPP shares 693711

Conversion of stock unit awards

28019

5861

29586

$2392

8100

20900
18326

751

$675 $495851

554

157
616

133

11150

4041

400

_________ ________ __________ 10259

_________
$677 $511922 $7867

5861

431112 302 460698

$187094 $3198 $310238

555

157
617

133

11150

4041

Balance at March 31 2010 67729952

9017 2935 11952

8978 8978

1681 1681

9017

$196111

2935

$263

400

1693

$324618
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See notes to consolidated financial statements

THQ INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In thousands

13592

241240

780

5671

529

818

797
11883

2532

23460

12245

41809

180838

14699

789
52379

1174

3646
100000

2500

13610

86418

6501

56520

131858

$188378

19327

327885

118799

2042
2835

12266

846

6779

18665

33388

38529

10577

59979

254220

5218

16266
14793

18722

257051

1513
270

825

13
22860

3921

2157
42537

38232

9622
38423

225433

7031
30635

40826

617754

458561

986
32636

1513

21264

105820

54910
26240

2157

26513
3479

73072

174748

$2470

Excludes amortization of capitalized stock-based compensation expense

Includes the net effects of capitalization and amortization of stock- based compensation expense

Fiscal Year Ended March 31
2010 2009 2008

$11952 $431 414 $35337

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net loss prior to allocation of noncontrolling interest

Adjustments to reconcile net loss prior to allocation of noncontrolling interest to net cash provided by

operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of licenses and software developmentW

Goodwill impairment charges

Gain on sale of discontinued operations

Loss on disposal of property and equipment

Restructuring charges

Amortization of debt issuance costs

Amortization of interest

Gain loss on investments

Stock-based compensation2

Tax benefit related to stock-based awards

Excess tax benefit related to stock-based awards

Deferred income taxes

changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable net of allowances

Inventory

Licenses

Software development

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Accounts payable

Accrued and other liabilities

Income taxes

Net cash provided by used in operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sales and maturities of available-for-sale investments

Proceeds from sales and maturities of trading investments

Purchase of available-for-sale investments

Other long-term assets

Acquisitions net of cash acquired

Net proceeds from sale of discontinued operations

Purchases of property and equipment

Net cash provided by used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Stock repurchase

Proceeds from issuance of common stock to employees

Payment of debt issuance costs

Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes

Borrowings on secured credit lines

Payment of secured credit lines

Excess tax benefit related to stock-based awards

Net cash provided byused in financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalentsbeginning of penod

Cash and cash equivalentsend of period

Supplemental cash flow information

Cash paid during the period for income taxes

Cash paid during the period for interest

5500 138 15474

33385 194174 9714

25776 118295

8000

96559 47365
147 66

840 4847

2042

6308 8658

69784 59533

9594

29300

4940

33954

15275

115962

247820

$131858

$12580 $16184 $14076

$2876 $348 $190
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See notes to consolidated financial statements

THQ INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

We are leading worldwide developer and publisher of interactive entertainment software for all popular

game systems including

home video game consoles such as the Microsoft Xbox 360 Xbox 360 Nintendo Wii Wii
Sony PlayStation PS3 and Sony PlayStation PS2
handheld platforms such as the Nintendo DS and DS1 collectively referred to as DS and Sony

PlayStation Portable PS

wireless devices including the iPhone iTouch and iPad and

personal computers PCs including games played online

We also develop and publish titles for digital distribution via Sonys PlayStation Network PSN and

Microsofts Xbox LIVE Marketplace Xbox LIVE and Xbox LIVE Arcade XBLA as well as digitally offer

our PC titles through online download stores and services such as Steam We believe that digital delivery of

games and game content is becoming an increasingly important part of our business

Our titles span wide range of categories including action adventure fighting racing role-playing

simulation sports and strategy We have created licensed and acquired group of highly recognizable

brands which we market to variety of consumer demographics ranging from products targeted at core

gamers to products targeted to children and the mass market Our portfolio of Core Games includes games
based on popular fighting brands such as the Ultimate Fighting Championship UFC and World Wrestling

Entertainment WWE racing games based on our MX vs ATV brand and action shooter and strategy

games based on our owned intellectual properties such as Company of Heroes Darksiders Red Faction

and Saints Row as well as games based on Games Workshops Warhammer 40000 universe Our Kids

Family and Casual portfolio includes games based on popular brands such as DreamWorks Animation

DisneysPixar Marvel Entertainment NBCs The Biggest Loser Nickelodeon and Sony Picture Consumer

Products JEOPARDY and Wheel of Fortune as well as games based on our owned intellectual properties

including de Blob and Drawn to Life

Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of THQ Inc and our

wholly-owned and majority owned subsidiaries The consolidated financial statements also include the THQ
JAKKS Pacific LLC LLC joint venture which was comprised of THQ and JAKKS Pacific Inc Jakks
through December 31 2009 the date the LLC was dissolved see Note 17Settlement Agreements The

results of operations for acquired companies have been included in the consolidated statements of

operations beginning on the closing date of acquisition All material intercompany balances and transactions

have been eliminated in consolidation

We have consolidated the results of THQICE LLC joint venture with ICE Entertainment Inc Delaware

Corporation in the consolidated financial statements as we believe we are the primary beneficiary and would

receive the majority of expected returns or absorb the majority of expected losses of the entity We sold our

interest in THQICE LLC on April 30 2010 and thus after this date we will not have income or loss

attributable to noncontrolling interest
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Fiscal Year We report our fiscal year on 52/53-week period with our fiscal year ending on the Saturday

nearest March 31 The results of operations for the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2009 and 2008

contain the following number of weeks

Number of Fiscal Period End

Fiscal Period Weeks Date

Year ended March 31 2010fiscal 2010 53 weeks April 2010

Year ended March 31 2009 fiscal 2009 52 weeks March 28 2009

Year ended March 31 2008 fiscal 2008 52 weeks March 29 2008

For simplicity all fiscal periods in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are

presented as ending on calendar month end

Pervasiveness of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of net sales and expenses

during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those estimates The most significant estimates

relate to accounts receivable allowances licenses software development revenue recognition stock-based

compensation expense and income taxes

Foreign Currency Translation Assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at current rates of

exchange while results of operations are translated at average rates in effect for the period Translation

gains or losses are shown as separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss
Foreign currency transaction gains and losses result from exchange rate changes for transactions

denominated in currencies other than the functional currency and are included in interest and other income

expense net in our consolidated statements of operations For fiscal 2010 foreign currency transaction

losses were $1.1 million compared to gains of $0.8 million and $0.5 million in fiscal 2009 and 2008

respectively

Cash Cash Equivalents and Investment Securities We consider all money market funds and highly liquid

investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents

Investments designated as trading securities are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them

in the near term and are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in earnings

Investments designated as available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value based on quoted market

prices or estimated based on quoted market prices for financial instruments with similar characteristics

Unrealized gains and losses of the Companys available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings and

reported as component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss Additionally the Company
assesses whether an other-than-temporary impairment loss on its available-for-sale securities has occurred

due to declines in fair value or other market conditions Declines in fair value that are considered other-than-

temporary are recorded as interest and other income expense net in the consolidated statements of

operations

In general investments with original maturities of greater than three months and remaining maturities of less

than one year when purchased are classified as short-term investments Investments with maturities beyond

one year may also be classified as short-term based on their highly liquid nature and because such

investments represent the investment of cash that is available for current operations

The Companys investments include auction rate securities AIRS These ARS are variable rate bonds tied

to short-term interest rates with long-term maturities ARS have interest rate resets through modified Dutch

auction at predetermined short-term intervals typically every 28 or 35 days Interest on ARS is generally

paid at the end of each auction process or semi-annually and is based upon the interest rate determined

during the prior auction The majority of our AIRS are AAA/Aaa rated and are typically collateralized by

student loans guaranteed by the U.S government under the Federal Family Education Loan Program or

backed by monoline bond insurance companies See Note 3Investment Securities for further details

Financial Instruments The carrying value of certain financial instruments including cash and cash

equivalents accounts receivable accounts payable accrued expenses accrued royalties and secured

credit lines approximate fair value based on their short-term nature Investments classified as

available-for-sale and trading are stated at fair value
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The assets or liabilities associated with our derivative instruments and hedging activities are recorded at fair

value in other current assets or liabilities respectively on our consolidated balance sheets As discussed

below gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value are accounted for depending on the use of the

derivative and whether it is designated and qualifies for hedge accounting

We utilize forward contracts in order to reduce financial market risks These instruments are used to hedge

foreign currency exposures of underlying assets liabilities or certain forecasted foreign currency

denominated transactions Our accounting policies for these instruments are based on whether they meet

the criteria for designation as hedging transactions Changes in fair value of derivatives that are designated

as cash flow hedges are highly effective and qualify as hedging instruments are recorded in other

comprehensive income until the underlying hedged item is recognized in earnings within the financial

statement line item consistent with the hedged item Any ineffective portion of derivative change in fair

value is immediately recognized in earnings During the periods presented we did not have any derivatives

that qualify for hedge accounting Changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge

accounting treatment are recorded in earnings The fair value of foreign currency contracts is estimated

based on the forward rate of the various hedged currencies as of the end of the period

Accounts Receivable Allowances We derive revenue from sales of packaged software for video game

systems and PCs and sales of content and services over the Internet and for wireless devices Product sales

are recognized net of allowances for price protection and returns and various customer discounts We
typically only allow returns for our PC products however we may decide to provide price protection or allow

returns for our video games after we analyze inventory remaining in the retail channel ii the rate of

inventory sell-through in the retail channel and iii our remaining inventory on hand We maintain policy of

giving credits for price protection and returns but we do not give cash refunds We use significant judgment
and make estimates in connection with establishing allowances for price protection returns and doubtful

accounts in any accounting period Included in our accounts receivable allowances is our allowance for co

operative advertising that we engage in with our retail channel partners Our co-operative advertising

allowance is based upon specific contractual commitments and does not involve estimates made by

management

We establish sales allowances based on estimates of future price protection and returns with respect to

current period product sales We analyze historical price protection granted historical returns current sell-

through of retailer and distributor inventory of our products current trends in the video game industry and the

overall economy changes in customer demand and acceptance of our products and other related factors

when evaluating the adequacy of the price protection and returns allowance In addition we monitor the

volume of our sales to retailers and distributors and their inventories because slow-moving inventory in the

distribution channel can result in the requirement for price protection or returns in subsequent periods Actual

price protection and returns in any future period are uncertain While we believe we can make reliable

estimates for these matters if we changed our assumptions and estimates our price protection and returns

reserves would change which would impact the net sales we report In addition if actual price protection and

returns were significantly greater than the reserves we have established the actual results of our reported

net sales would decrease Conversely if actual price protection and returns were significantly less than our

reserves our reported net sales would increase In circumstances when we do not have reliable basis to

estimate returns and price protection or are unable to determine that collection of receivable is probable

we defer the sale until such time as we can reliably estimate any related returns and allowances and

determine that collection of the receivable is probable

Similarly we must use significant judgment and make estimates in connection with establishing allowances

for doubtful accounts in any accounting period We analyze customer concentrations customer

credit-worthiness and current economic trends when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful

accounts Material differences may result in the amount and timing of our bad debt expense for any period if

we made different judgments or utilized different estimates If our customers experience financial difficulties

and are not able to meet their ongoing financial obligations to us our results of operations may be adversely

impacted
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Concentrations of Credit Risk Financial instruments which potentially subject us to concentration of credit

risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents short-term investments accounts receivable and long-

term investments We place cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments with high credit-quality

financial institutions and limit the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution We believe the

risk related to cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable is not material due to the short-term

nature of such assets Our investments include significant holdings of ARS Although there has been recent

uncertainty in the credit markets all of the securities are investment grade securities and we have no reason

to believe that any of the underlying issuers of our ARS are presently at risk or that the underlying credit

quality of the assets backing our ARS has been impacted by the reduced liquidity of these investments See

Note 3Investment Securities in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further information

related to our investments

Most of our sales are made directly to mass merchandisers and national retailers Due to the increased

volume of sales to these channels we have experienced an increased concentration of credit risk and as

result may maintain individually significant receivable balances with such mass merchandisers and national

retailers We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers maintain an allowance for potential credit

losses and most of our foreign receivables are covered by credit insurance As of March 31 2010 and 2009
20% and 16% respectively of our gross accounts receivable outstanding was with one major customer Our

largest single customer accounted for 17% of our gross sales in fiscal 2010 14% of our gross sales in fiscal

2009 and 14% of our gross sales in fiscal 2008 Our second largest customer accounted for 15% of our

gross sales in fiscal 2010 13% of our gross sales in fiscal 2009 and 12% of our gross sales in fiscal 2008

Inventory Inventory which consists principally of finished products is stated at the lower of cost moving

weighted average or market We estimate the net realizable value of slow-moving inventory on title by title

basis and charge the excess of cost over net realizable value to cost of salesproduct costs

Property and Equipment Property and equipment are recorded at cost Depreciation is computed using the

straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets Leasehold improvements are depreciated

over the shorter of their useful lives or the remaining lease term

Licenses Minimum guaranteed royalty payments for intellectual property licenses are initially recorded on our

balance sheet as an asset licenses and as liability accrued royalties at the contractual amount upon
execution of the contract if no significant performance obligation remains with the licensor When significant

performance obligation remains with the licensor we record royalty payments as an asset licenses and as

liability accrued royalties when payable rather than upon execution of the contract Royalty payments for

intellectual property licenses are classified as current assets and current liabilities to the extent such royalty

payments relate to anticipated product sales during the subsequent year and long-term assets and long-term

liabilities if such royalty payments relate to anticipated product sales after one year

We evaluate the future recoverability of our capitalized licenses on quarterly basis The recoverability of

capitalized license costs is evaluated based on the expected performance of the specific products in which

the licensed trademark or copyright is to be used As many of our licenses extend for multiple products over

multiple years we also assess the recoverability of capitalized license costs based on certain qualitative

factors such as the success of other products and/or entertainment vehicles utilizing the intellectual property

whether there are any future planned theatrical releases or television series based on the intellectual

property and the rights holders continued promotion and exploitation of the intellectual property Prior to the

related products release we expense as part of cost of saleslicense amortization and royalties

capitalized license costs when we estimate such amounts are not recoverable

Licenses are expensed to cost of saleslicense amortization and royalties at the higher of the contractual

royalty rate based on actual net product sales related to such license or ii an effective rate based upon
total projected net sales related to such license When in managements estimate future cash flows will not

be sufficient to recover previously capitalized costs we expense these capitalized costs to cost of sales
license amortization and royalties If actual net sales or revised forecasted net sales fall below the initial

forecasted net sales for particular license the charge to cost of saleslicense amortization and royalties

expense may be larger than anticipated in any given quarter At March 31 2010 the net carrying value of

our licenses was $140.3 million and is reflected as Licenses and Licenses net of current portion in the

consolidated financial statements Additionally as of March 31 2010 we had commitments of $122.3 million

that are not reflected in our consolidated financial statements due to remaining performance obligations of

the licensor If we were required to impair these licenses due to changes in market conditions or product

acceptance our results of operations could be materially adversely affected
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Software Development We utilize both internal development teams and third-party software developers to

develop our software We capitalize software development costs once technological feasibility is established

and we determine that such costs are recoverable against future net sales We evaluate technological

feasibility on product-by-product basis For products where proven game engine technology exists the

establishment of technological feasibility may occur early in the development cycle We capitalize the

milestone payments made to third-party software developers and the direct payroll and overhead costs for

our internal development teams Amounts related to software development for which technological feasibility

is not yet met are charged as incurred to product development expense in our consolidated statements of

operations

On quarterly basis we compare our unamortized software development costs to net realizable value on

product-by-product basis The amount by which any unamortized software development costs exceed their

net realizable value is charged to cost of salessoftware amortization and royalties The net realizable value

is the estimated future net sales from the product reduced by the estimated future direct costs associated

with the product such as completion costs cost of sales and advertising

Commencing upon product release capitalized software development costs are amortized to cost of sales
software amortization and royalties based on the ratio of current gross sales to total projected gross sales In

fiscal 2010 we recorded $10.8 million of additional amortization expense related to the cancellation of

certain games As of March 31 2010 the net carrying value of our software development was $1 59.0 million

The milestone payments made to our third-party developers during their development of our games are

typically considered non-refundable advances against the total compensation they can earn based upon the

sales performance of the products Any additional compensation earned beyond the milestone payments is

expensed to cost of salessoftware amortization and royalties as earned Additionally we have studio

bonus plan that allows for our internal product development staff to participate in the success of the games
they develop As certain performance targets are reached any additional compensation earned under the

studio bonus plan is expensed to cost of salessoftware amortization and royalties

Revenue Recognition We recognize net sales for packaged software when title and risk of loss transfers to

the customer provided that no significant vendor support obligations remain outstanding and that collection

of the resulting receivable is deemed probable by management Certain products are sold to customers with

street date the earliest date these products may be sold by retailers For these products we recognize net

sales on the later of the street date or the sale date

Some of our packaged software products are developed with the ability to be connected to and played via

the Internet In order for consumers to participate in online communities and play against one another via the

Internet we either directly or through outsourced arrangements with third parties maintain servers that

support an online service we provide to consumers for activities such as matchmaking roster updates
tournaments and player rankings Generally we do not consider the online service to be deliverable as it is

incidental to the overall product offering Accordingly we do not defer any net sales related to products

containing the limited online service

In instances where the online service is considered deliverable and where we have significant continuing

involvement in addition to the software product we account for the sale as bundled sale or multiple

element arrangement in which we sell both the packaged software product and the online service for one

combined price Vendor specific objective evidence for the fair value of the online service does not exist as

we have not separately offered or charged for the online service Therefore when the online service is

determined to be deliverable we recognize the revenue from sales of such software products ratably over

the estimated online service period of six months beginning the month after shipment of the software

product Costs of sales related to such products are also deferred and recognized with the related net sales

and include product costs software amortization and royalties and license amortization and royalties At

March 31 201 the deferred net sales related to these games was $1 .4 million and is included within

accrued and other current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet

Determining whether the online service for particular game constitutes deliverable is subjective and

requires managements judgment Determining the estimated service period over which to recognize the

related net sales and costs of sales is also subjective and involves managements judgment
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Although we generally sell our products on no-return basis in certain circumstances we may allow price

protection returns or other allowances on negotiated basis We estimate such price protection returns or

other allowances based upon managements evaluation of our historical experience retailer inventories the

nature of the titles and other factors Such estimates are deducted from gross sales See Note 5Accounts
Receivable Allowances Software is sold under limited 90-day warranty against defects in material and

workmanship To date we have not experienced material warranty claims

Software Licenses For those agreements that provide the customers the right to multiple copies in exchange
for guaranteed minimum royalty amounts net sales are recognized at delivery of the product master or the

first copy Per copy royalties on sales that exceed the guarantee are recognized as earned

We also license the rights to our owned intellectual property and through these agreements we receive

royalties from the licensees We recognize these royalties as net sales as statements of amounts earned are

received from our licensees For those agreements which provide for guaranteed minimum royalty amounts

we recognize such minimums as net sales when no further performance obligations exist We recognize any

upfront licensing fee received over the term of the agreement

Wireless Revenue We recognize wireless revenue principally from the sale or subscription of our applications

to wireless subscribers under distribution agreements with wireless carriers in the period in which the

applications are purchased by the subscribers assuming that fees are fixed and determinable we have no

significant obligations remaining and collection of the related receivable is reasonably assured In

accordance with the distribution agreements the wireless carriers are responsible for billing collecting and

remitting our fees to us The wireless carriers generally report the final sales data to us within 10 to 45 days

following the end of each month When final sales data is not available in timely manner for reporting

purposes we estimate our net sales based on available sales data and historical trends We will record

differences between estimated net sales and actual net sales in the next reporting period once the actual

amounts are determined

We recognize as net sales the net amount the wireless carrier pays to us upon the sale of our applications

net of any service or other fees earned and deducted by the wireless carrier

Shipping and Handling Shipping and handling costs which consist primarily of packaging and

transportation charges incurred to move finished goods to customers are included in costs of salesproduct
costs

Advertising Advertising and sales promotion costs are generally expensed as incurred except for television

airtime and print media costs associated with media campaigns which are deferred and charged to expense
in the period the airtime or advertising space is used for the first time We engage in co-operative advertising

with some of our retail channel partners We accrue the associated costs when net sales are recognized and

such amounts are included in selling and marketing expense if there is separate identifiable benefit for

which we can reasonably estimate the fair value of the benefit identified otherwise they are recognized as

reduction of net sales Advertising costs included in selling and marketing expense for fiscal 2010 2009

and 2008 were $69.7 million $77.6 million and $85.7 million respectively

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets In the three months ended December 31 2008 specifically in the

latter half of that fiscal quarter our stock price declined significantly resulting in market capitalization that

was substantially below the carrying value of our net assets In addition the unfavorable macroeconomic

conditions and uncertainties had adversely affected our environment As result in connection with the

preparation of the financial statements for our fiscal quarter ended December 31 2008 we performed an

interim goodwill impairment test

We performed the first step of the two-step impairment test which includes comparing the fair value of our

single reporting unit to its carrying value Due to market conditions at the time of the test our analysis was

weighted towards the market value approach which is based on recent share prices and includes control

premium based on recent transactions that have occurred within our industry to determine the fair value of

our single reporting unit We concluded that the fair value of our single reporting unit was less than the

carrying value of our net assets and thus performed the second step of the impairment test Our step two

analysis involved preparing an allocation of the estimated fair value of our reporting unit to the tangible and

intangible assets other than goodwill as if the reporting unit had been acquired in business combination

Based on our analysis we recorded goodwill impairment charges of $118.8 million during fiscal 2009

representing the entire amount of our previously recorded goodwill
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As of March 31 2010 all identifiable intangible assets other than licenses and software development were

fully amortized

Stock-based compensation We estimate the fair value of stock options and our employee stock purchase

plan on date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model which requires the input of subjective

assumptions including the expected volatility of our common stock and an options expected life The fair

value of our restricted stock and restricted stock units is determined based on the closing trading price of our

common stock on the grant date The amount of expense recognized represents the expense associated

with the stock-based awards we expect to ultimately vest based upon an estimated rate of forfeitures Our

estimate of forfeitures is based on historical forfeiture behavior as well as any expected trends in future

forfeiture behavior this rate of forfeitures is updated as necessary and any adjustments needed to recognize

the fair value of options that actually vest or are forfeited are recorded The fair value for awards that are

expected to vest is then amortized on straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award
which is generally the option vesting term As result the financial statements include amounts that are

based upon our best estimates and judgments relating to the expenses recognized for stock-based

compensation

Income Taxes The provision for income taxes is computed using the asset and liability method under which

deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on their expected future tax carrying value Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in

effect for the years in which those tax assets are anticipated to be realized or settled We record valuation

allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is believed more likely than not to be realized

The calculation of tax liabilities involves judgment assumptions and estimates in evaluating the application of

authoritative accounting guidance enacted tax laws our interpretation of tax laws and potential outcomes of

audits conducted by tax authorities Material changes in tax laws our interpretation of tax laws or the

resolution of tax audits if and when conducted by tax authorities could significantly impact the amount of

income tax expense in our consolidated financial statements

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share Basic earnings loss per share is computed as net income loss
attributable to THQ Inc divided by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding for the period

Diluted earnings loss per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur from common shares issuable

through stock-based compensation plans including stock options stock-based awards purchase

opportunities under our ESPP and the conversion of our convertible senior notes On August 2009 we
issued $1 00.0 million 5.00% convertible senior notes Notes see Note 11Convertible Senior Notes
Under the provisions of the if-converted method the Notes are assumed to have been converted at the

beginning of the respective period or at the time of issuance if later and are included in the denominator of

the diluted calculation and the after-tax interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs in

connection with the Notes are added back to the numerator of the diluted calculation However the if-

converted amounts are only included in the numerator and denominator of the diluted calculation if the result

of the if-converted calculation is dilutive

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements In December 2007 the Financial Accounting Standards

Board FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 60 Accounting
Standards Codification ASC Topic 810 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements

FAS 160 This Statement amends Accounting Research Bulletin ARB No 51 Consolidated Financial

Statements to establish accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in subsidiary

and for the deconsolidation of subsidiary It clarifies that noncontrolling interest in subsidiary is an

ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial

statements FAS 160 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning on or

after December 2008 We adopted this statement on April 2009 The presentation and disclosure

requirements of FAS 160 were applied retrospectively Other than the change in presentation of

noncontrolling interests the adoption of FAS 160 had no impact on our results of operations financial

position or cash flows

In June 2009 the FASB issued SFAS No 166 ASC Topic 860 Accounting for Transfers of Financial

Assetsan amendment to FASB Statement No 140 FAS 66 The purpose of FAS 166 is to improve

the relevance representational faithfulness and comparability of the information that reporting entity

provides in its financial statements about transfer of financial assets the effects of transfer on its financial

position financial performance and cash flows and transferors continuing involvement if any in

transferred financial assets FAS 66 is effective at the start of companys first fiscal year beginning after

November 15 2009 which will be our fiscal year 2011 The adoption did not have material impact on our

results of operations financial position or cash flows
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In June 2009 the FASB issued SFAS No 167 ASC Topic 810 Amendments to FASB Interpretation

No 46R FAS 167 The purpose of FAS 167 is to improve financial reporting by enterprises involved with

variable interest entities FAS 167 is effective at the start of companys first fiscal year beginning after

November 15 2009 or January 12010 for companies reporting earnings on calendar-year basis which

will be our fiscal year 2011 Our adoption of this pronouncement on April 2010 did not have material

impact on our results of operations financial position or cash flows In December 2009 the FASB issued

ASU 2009-17 Consolidations Topic 810Improvements to Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved

with Variable Interest Entities which codified FAS 67

In October 2009 the FASB issued ASU 2009-13 Revenue Recognition Topic 605 Multiple-Deliverable

Revenue Arrangementsa consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force ASU 2009-13 ASU
2009-13 provides criteria for separating consideration in multiple-deliverable arrangements It establishes

selling price hierarchy for determining the price of deliverable and expands the disclosures related to

vendors multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements ASU 2009-13 is effective prospectively for arrangements

entered into or materially modified in years beginning after June 15 2010 which will be our fiscal 2012 We
are still evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2009-13 will have on our results of operations

financial position or cash flows

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU 201 0-02 Consolidation Topic 810 Accounting and Reporting for

Decreases in Ownership of Subsidiary ASU 201 0-02 This amendment to Topic 810 clarifies but does

not change the scope of current US GAAP It clarifies the decrease in ownership provisions of Subtopic 810-

and removes the potential conflict between guidance in that Subtopic and asset derecognition and gain

or loss recognition guidance that may exist in other US GAAP An entity will be required to follow the

amended guidance beginning in the period that it first adopts FAS 160 now included in Subtopic 810-10
For those entities that have already adopted FAS 160 the amendments are effective at the beginning of the

first interim or annual reporting period ending on or after December 2009 which will be our quarter ended

March 31 2010 The amendments should be applied retrospectively to the first period that an entity adopted
FAS 160 Our adoption of this pronouncement did not have material impact on our results of operations

financial position or cash flows

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU 2010-06 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic 820
Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements ASU 2010-06 ASU 2010-06 amends ASC 820

and clarifies and provides additional disclosure requirements related to recurring and non-recurring fair value

measurements and employers disclosures about postretirement benefit plan assets ASU 201 0-06 is

effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 2009 which was our quarter

ending March 31 2010 Our adoption of this pronouncement did not have material impact on our results of

operations financial position or cash flows Disclosures about purchases sales issuances and settlements

in the roll forward activity in Level fair value measurements are effective for fiscal years beginning after

December 201 and for interim periods within those fiscal years which will be our quarter ending

June 30 2011 The adoption is not expected to have material impact on our results of operations financial

position or cash flows

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The following table summarizes the components of our cash and cash equivalents in thousands

March 31 March31
2010 2009

Cash and time deposits $116170 $93624

Money market funds 21049 38234

Negotiable certificates of deposit1 28545

Corporate securities 8439

Municipal securitie2 14175

Cash and cash equivalents $188378 $131858

Negotiable certificates of deposit consist of deposits issued by institutions outside the U.S

Municipal securities consist of bonds issued or deemed to be guaranteed by non-U.S

governments
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As of March 31 2010 we had $51 .2 million of trading securities classified as cash equivalents These

investments are made up of negotiable certificates of deposit corporate securities and municipal securities

which when purchased by us had remaining maturities of three months or less There were no gains or

losses on these trading securities in fiscal 2010 As of March 31 2009 there were no trading securities

classified as cash equivalents

Investment Securities

The following table summarizes our investment securities and their related inception-to-date gross unrealized

gains and losses as of March 31 2010 in thousands

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

Short-term investments

Municipal securitie $17222 $26 $7 $17241

Corporate securities 64220 187 53 64354

Negotiable certificates of deposit2 1347 1346

Total short-term investments 82789 213 61 82941

Long-term investments

Municipal securities3 2000 149 1851

Total long-term investments 2000 149 1851

Total available-for-sale

investments $84789 $213 $210 84792

Put option 1738

Trading securities4 21036

Total short-term investments

pledged 22774

Total investment securities $107566

Municipal securities classified as short-term includes bonds issued or deemed to be

guaranteed by non-U.S governments U.S agency securities U.S Treasury securities and

local governments

Negotiable certificates of deposit consist of deposits issued by institutions outside the U.S

Municipal securities classified as long-term consist of municipai ARS substantiaiiy au of

which are backed by monoline bond insurance companies

Trading securities classified as short-term pledged consist of student loan ARS

substantially all of which are guaranteed by the U.S government under the Federal Family

Educational Loan Program and backed by monoline bond insurance companies
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The following table summarizes our investment securities and their related inception-to-date gross unrealized

gains and losses as of March 31 2009 in thousands

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value

Short-term investments

Municipal securities $6397 $5 $3 $6399
Corporate securities 2405 2405

Total short-term

investments 8802 8804

Long-term investments

Municipal securities 5475 450 5025
Total long-term

investments 5475 450 5025
Total available-for-sale

investments $14277 $5 $453 $13829

Put option 4541
Trading securitie1 26077

Total long-term

investments pledged 30618
Total investment securities $44447

The municipal securities included in the table above and classified as long-term are all

auction rate securities with most collateralized by student loans guaranteed by the U.S
government under the Federal Family Education Loan Program and the majority of the

remaining securities backed by monoline bond insurance companies

Available-for-sale in vestments

Our entire portfolio of available-for-sale investments had fair value of $84.8 million at March 31 2010 and

inception-to-date net unrealized gains of $3000 that are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income loss Included in our portfolio of available-for-sale investments at March 31 2010 are inception-to-

date gross unrealized losses of $0.2 million these losses are temporary as we believe the decline in fair

value is primarily attributable to the limited liquidity of these investments During fiscal 2010 no securities had
an other-than-temporary impairment During fiscal 2009 we recorded impairment charges of $6.3 million to

interest and other income expense net related to declines in fair value that we concluded were other than

temporary Of this fiscal 2009 impairment $2.0 million related to downgrade in one securitys rating from

to CCC and $4.3 million related to securities received as collateral for former auction rate securities ARS
that were required to be unwound as result of Lehman Brothers filing for bankruptcy protection

Included in our portfolio of available-for-sale investments at March 31 2010 are two long-term municipal

securities both ARS which had fair value of $1 .9 million and inception-to-date unrealized losses of

$0.1 million and have been in continuous unrealized loss position for more than 12 months These losses

are temporary as we believe the decline in fair value is primarily attributable to the limited liquidity of these

investments None of the available-for-sale securities held as of March 31 2009 were in an unrealized loss

position for more than 12 months

The amount of pre-tax net unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities that has been included in

accumulated other comprehensive income in fiscal 2010 was $1.0 million In addition in fiscal 2010 we had

pre-tax unrealized holding gain of $1 .7 million on our investment in Yukes Co Ltd Yukes that is

classified as available-for-sale and is included in other long-term assets net see Note 8Other Long-Term
Assets

During fiscal 2010 there were $0.6 million of pre-tax realized gains and no realized losses from sales of

available-for-sale securities During fiscal 2009 there were $0.1 million of pre-tax realized gains and

$0.4 million of pre-tax realized losses from sales of available-for-sale securities Realized gains and losses on

sales of available-for-sale securities are recognized in net income on the specific identification basis
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The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair value of our available-for-sale investment

securities classified by stated maturity at March 31 2010 in thousands

Amortized Fair

Cost Vaue

Short-term investments

Due in one year or less $31 834 $31 888

Due after one year through five years 50955 51053

Total short-term investments 82789 82941

Long-term investments

Due after one year through five years 500 490

Due after ten years 1500 1361

Total long-term investments 2000 851

Total available-for-sale investment securities $84789 $84792

The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair value of our investment securities classified by

stated maturity as of March 31 2009 in thousands

Amortized Fair

Cost Value

Short-term investments

Due in one year or less $8802 $8804

Total short-term investments 8802 8804

Long-term investments

Due after one year through five years 500 490

Due after ten years 4975 4535

Total long-term investments 5475 5025

Total investment securities $14277 $13829

Auction Rate Securities

At March 31 2010 we had $1.9 million of ARS classified as long-term available-for-sale investments and

$21 .0 million of ARS classified as short-term trading investments pledged These ARS are variable rate

bonds tied to short-term interest rates with long-term maturities ARS have interest rate resets through

modified Dutch auction at predetermined short-term intervals typically every 28 or 35 days Interest on

ARS is generally paid at the end of each auction process or semi-annually and is based upon the interest

rate determined during the prior auction In addition as further discussed below we held $1 .7 million put

option related to the short-term trading ARS that is also classified as short-term investments pledged

In October 2008 we entered into settlement agreement with UBS the broker of certain of our ARS the

UBS Agreement The UBS Agreement provides us with Auction Rate Securities Rights Rights to sell

such ARS to UBS at the par value of the underlying securities at any time during the period from June 30
2010 through July 2012 These Rights are freestanding instrument accounted for separately from the

ARS and are registered nontransferable securities accounted for as put option Under the UBS

Agreement UBS may at its discretion sell the ARS at any time through July 2012 without prior notice

and must pay us par value for the ARS within one day of the settlement The put option had fair value of

$1 .7 million and is recorded in short-term investments pledged in our March 31 2010 consolidated balance

sheet along with the underlying ARS which have fair value of $21 .0 million

In fiscal 2010 the put option had decline in value of $2.8 million which is recorded as loss in interest and

other income expense net in the consolidated statement of operations Of this $2.8 million loss $1 .1 million

relates to ARS which were settled in fiscal 2010 and is offset by gain of $1.1 million on the settlement of

the underlying ARS The remaining loss on the put option of $1 .7 million relates to trading securities still held

by us at March 31 2010 for which there is an offsetting gain of $1 .9 million related to changes in their fair

value In aggregate the gains from trading securities net almost entirely against the loss recognized on the

put option

In fiscal 2009 $0.2 million of net mark-to-market losses have been recorded in interest and other income

expense net in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations related to trading securities still

held at March 31 2009 Included in the $0.2 million of net mark-to-market losses were gross losses of

$5.5 million related to transfers of securities from the available-for-sale category into the trading category
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Additionally pursuant to the UBS Agreement we have the ability to borrow up to 75% of the market value of

the ARS as determined by UBS at any time on no net interest basis to the extent that such ARS
continue to be illiquid or until June 30 2010 see Note 10Secured Credit Lines and in return we agreed

to release UBS from certain potential claims related to the ARS in certain specified circumstances The credit

line is secured by certain of our ARS held with UBS which have par value of $23.0 million and fair value

of $21.0 million at March 31 2010 At March 31 2010 we had $13.2 million in borrowings outstanding under

the UBS Agreement

Fair Value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants on the measurement date Valuation techniques used to measure
fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs There is

fair value hierarchy based on three levels of inputs of which the first two are considered observable and
the last unobservable that may be used to measure fair value We used the following methods and

assumptions to estimate the fair value of our investment securities

Level 1Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity

has the ability to access at the measurement date We do not adjust the quoted prices for these

investments

Level 2Inputs other than Level that are observable either directly or indirectly such as

quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar

assets or liabilities in markets that are not active or other inputs that are observable or can be

corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities

Level 3Discounted cash flow analysis using unobservable inputs that are supported by little or

no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities as discussed

further below

Our policy is to recognize transfers between these levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the beginning of the

reporting period

The following table summarizes our financial assets measured at fair value on recurring basis as of

March 31 2010 in thousands

Level Level Level Total

Cash equivalents

Money market funds $21 049

Negotiable certificates of deposit

Corporate securities

Municipal securities

Short-term investments

Municipal securities

Corporate securities

Negotiable certificates of deposit

Short-term investments pledged
Student loan ARS
Put option

Long-term investments

Municipal securities

Other long-term assets net

Investment in Yukes 5564

Total $26613

$21049
28545 28545
8439 8439

14175 14175

17241 17241

64354 64354
1346 1346

21036 21036
1738 1738

1851 1851

5564

$134100 $24625 $185338

58



The following table summarizes our financial assets measured at fair value on recurring basis as of

March 31 2009 in thousands

Level Level Level Total

Cash Equivalents

Money market funds $38234 $38234
Short-term investments

Municipal securities 6399 6399

Corporate securities 1343 1062 2405

Long-term investments

Municipal securities 31102 31102
Put option 4541 4541
Investment in Yukes 3847 3847

Total $43424 $7461 $35643 $86528

Level assets primarily consist of ARS the majority of which are AAA/Aaa rated and collateralized by

student loans guaranteed by the U.S government under the Federal Family Education Loan Program and

backed by monoline bond insurance companies Substantially all of the remaining ARS are also backed by

monoline bond insurance companies We historically invested in these securities as part of our cash

management program However the lack of liquidity in these credit markets has prevented us and other

investors from selling these securities As such $1.9 million of these investments not subject to the UBS

Agreement are classified as long-term at March 31 2010 to reflect the lack of liquidity We believe we have

the ability to and intend to hold these ARS classified as available-for-sale until the auction process recovers

or the securities mature All of the securities are investment grade securities and we have no reason to

believe that any of the underlying issuers of these ARS are presently at risk or that the underlying credit

quality of the assets backing these ARS has been impacted by the reduced liquidity of these investments

We have continued to receive interest payments on these ARS according to their terms

We have estimated the fair value of these ARS using discounted cash flow analysis that considered the

following key inputs credit quality ii estimates on the probability of the issue being called or sold prior to

final maturity iii current market rates and iv estimates of the next time the security is expected to have

successful auction The contractual terms of these securities do not permit the issuer to call prepay or

otherwise settle the securities at prices less than the stated par value of the security

We have elected fair value accounting for the put option recorded in connection with the UBS Agreement
discussed in Note 3Investment Securities This election was made in order to mitigate volatility in earnings

caused by accounting for the put option and underlying ARS under different methods We have estimated

the value of the put option as the difference between the par value of the underlying ARS and the fair value

of the ARS after applying an estimated risk discount as the put option gives us the right to sell the

underlying ARS to the broker during the period June 30 2010 to July 2012 for price equal to the par

value

The following table provides summary of changes in fair value of our Level financial assets in fiscal 2009

and 2010 in thousands

Level

Fair Value

Measurements

Balance at March 31 2008 $54419
Total gains or losses realized/unrealized

Included in earnings 4554
Included in accumulated other comprehensive income 1033

Purchases sales issuances and settlements net 11120
Transfers out of Level 4135
Balance at March 31 2009 $35643
Total gains or losses realized/unrealized

Included in earnings 156

Included in accumulated other comprehensive income 11

Purchases sales issuances and settlements net 8880
Transfers out of Level 2411
Balance at March 31 2010 $24625
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In fiscal 2009 transfers out of Level represent three ARS related to the Lehman Brothers bankruptcy that

once received were valued using Level and Level inputs

In fiscal 2010 transfers out of Level represent ARS for which we received call notice prior to

September 30 2009 Accordingly these ARS were valued using Level inputs and were classified as short-

term investments in the condensed consolidated financial statements at September 30 2009 In fiscal 2010
these ARS were settled at par

Financial Instruments

The carrying value of certain financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable

accounts payable accrued expenses accrued royalties and secured credit lines approximate fair value

based on their short-term nature Investments classified as available for sale and trading are stated at fair

value

The book value and fair value of our convertible senior notes at March 31 2010 was $100.0 million and

$109.4 million respectively we estimated the fair value based on level inputs specifically inputs other

than level that are observable

We transact business in many different foreign currencies and are exposed to financial market risk resulting

from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates particularly the GBP and the Euro which may result in

gain or loss of earnings to us We utilize foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate foreign currency risk

associated with foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities primarily certain inter-company

receivables and payables Our foreign exchange forward contracts are not designated as hedging

instruments and are accounted for as derivatives whereby the fair value of the contracts are reported as

other current assets or other current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets and the associated gains

and losses from changes in fair value are reported in interest and other income expense net in the

consolidated statements of operations

Cash Flow Hedging Activities From time to time we hedge portion of our foreign currency risk related to

forecasted foreign currency denominated sales and expense transactions by entering into foreign exchange
forward contracts that generally have maturities less than 90 days Our hedging programs reduce but do not

entirely eliminate the impact of currency exchange rate movements in net sales and operating expenses

During fiscal 2010 we entered into foreign exchange forward contracts related to cash flow hedging activities

in the notional amount of $29.2 million These contracts were settled during fiscal 2010 and resulted in loss

of $0.7 million which is included in interest and other income expense net in our consolidated statements

of operations There were no such cash flow hedge activities during fiscal 2009

Balance Sheet Hedging Activities We utilize foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate foreign currency

risk associated with foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities primarily certain inter-company

receivables and payables Our foreign exchange forward contracts are not designated as hedging

instruments and are accounted for as derivatives whereby the fair value of the contracts are reported as

other current assets or other current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets and the associated gains

and losses from changes in fair value are reported in interest and other income expense net in the

consolidated statements of operations The forward contracts generally have contractual term of one

month or less and are transacted near month-end Therefore the fair value of the forward contracts generally

is not significant at each month-end

At March 31 2010 and March 31 2009 we had foreign exchange forward contracts related to balance

sheet hedging activities in the notional amount of $90.1 million and $67.2 million respectively with fair

value that approximates zero at both March 31 2010 and March 31 2009 We estimated the fair value of

these contracts using Level inputs specifically inputs obtained in quoted public markets The net gain

recognized from these contracts during fiscal 2010 was $4.8 million The net loss recognized from these

contracts during fiscal 2009 was $2.3 million These gains and losses are included in interest and other

income expense net in our consolidated statements of operations
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Accounts Receivable Allowances

Accounts receivable allowances at March 31 2010 2009 and 2008 consisted of the following in

thousands

Year ended March 31 2010

Allowance for price protection and returns

Allowance for co-op advertising

Allowance for doubtful accounts and other

Total

Year ended March 31 2009

Allowance for price protection and returns

Allowance for co-op advertising

Allowance for doubtful accounts and other

Total

Year ended March 31 2008

Allowance for price protection and returns

Allowance for co-op advertising

Allowance for doubtful accounts and other

Total

Balance at

Beginning of

Period Provisions

$75312 $139121

13327 28758
12394 118

$101033 $167997

$92788 $194562
19907 53309

346 14412

$113041 $262283

$66071 $185921
13612 48008

866 67

$80549 $233996

Balance at

End of

Deductions Period

$145307 $69126

35417 6668

10762 1750

$191 486 $77544

$212038 $75312

59889 13327

2364 12394

$274291 $101033

$159204 $92788

41713 19907

587 346

$201504 $113041

Balance Sheet Details

Inventory Inventory at March 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following in thousands

March 31 March 31
2010 2009

Components $2447 $2225
Finished goods 11523 23560

Inventory $13970 $25785

Property and Equipment net Property and equipment net at March 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of the

following in thotisnr1s

Building

Land

Computer equipment and software

Furniture fixtures and equipment
Leasehold improvements

Automobiles

Less accumulated depreciation

Property and equipment net

Useful March 31 March 31
Lives 2010 2009

30 yrs $730 $730
401 401

3-10 yrs 53454 50382

yrs 7444 7705

3-6yrs 12978 12686
2-5 yrs 78 58

75085 71962

46711 38451
$28374 $33511
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Depreciation expense associated with property and equipment amounted to $12.8 million $17.5 million and

$1 7.4 million for fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Accrued and Other Current Liabilities Accrued and other current liabilities at March 31 2010 and 2009

consisted of the following in thousands

March 31
2010

Accrued liabilities $16613
Settlement payment due to Jakks 6000
Accrued compensation 34696
Accrued venture partner expense
Deferred revenue net

Accrued third-party software developer milestones

Accrued royalties __________

27058
56692

6403 17289
23676 21526
49944 42150

Accrued and other current liabilities $1 37332 $190140

The current and long-term portions of the settlement payments due to Jakks reflects the present value of the

consideration payable under the agreement between THQ and Jakks as explained further in Note 17
Settlement Agreements

Accrued venture partner expense consisted of the preferred payments owed to Jakks for WWE video games
sold under license granted by World Wrestling Entertainment Inc for the period beginning July 2006

and ending December 31 2009 On August 17 2009 we entered into settlement agreement with Jakks

that established the preferred payment rate owed to Jakks at rate 40% lower than the previous contract

rate We had been accruing this expense at the contract payment rate that expired June 30 2006 which

prior to the settlement was the best basis available upon which to estimate this expense As result of

establishing the preferred payment rate for the period under dispute we revised our previous estimate which

resulted in one-time reduction in accrued venture partner expense of $24.2 million with corresponding

reduction in venture partner expense during the three months ended September 30 2009 In addition

during the three months ended September 30 2009 we paid Jakks $33.5 million which we had previously

not paid pending the settlement of the preferred return rate matter inclusive of $32.8 million settlement

amount related to the period beginning July 2006 and ending March 31 2009 As further explained in

Note 7Settlement Agreements the LLC was terminated as of December 31 2009 the final amounts

due Jakks were paid within fiscal 2010 and accordingly the balance in accrued venture partner expense at

March 31 2010 was zero

Other Long-Term Liabilities Other long-term liabilities at March 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following

in thousands

March 31
2010

$75163
1612
5148
4741

March 31
2009

$1 9986
5158
4434
3925

March 31
2009

$25425

Accrued royalties

Unrecognized tax benefits and related interest

Deferred rent

Accrued liabilities

Settlement payment due to Jakks

Other long-term liabilities

12161

$98825 $33503
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Other Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include licenses software development and other intangible assets Intangible assets are

included in other long-term assets net except licenses and software development which are reported

separately in the consolidated balance sheets Other intangible assets at March 31 2010 and 2009

consisted of the following in thousands

March 31 2010 March 31 2009

Gross Gross

Useful Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Accumulated Net

Lives Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Software technology 2-5 years $4009 $4009 $3955 $930 $3025
Trade names 3-

lOyears 1102 1102 1282 624 658

Non-compete Employment .5-

contracts 6.5 years 633 633 633 615 18

Total $5744 $5744 $5870 $2169 $3701

Finite-lived other intangible assets were amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of their

estimated useful lives or the agreement terms typically from one and one-half to ten years and are assessed

for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be

recoverable Amortization of other intangible assets for fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 was $0.8 million

$1 .8 million and $1 .3 million respectively Additionally in fiscal 2010 we recognized $2.9 million of

restructuring charges related to the write-off of intangible assets related to our fiscal 2009 realignment plan

Other Long-Term Assets

In addition to other intangible assets other long-term assets include our investment in Yukes Japanese
video game developer We own approximately 15% of Yukes which is publicly traded on the Nippon New
Market in Japan This investment is classified as available-for-sale and reported at fair value with unrealized

holding gains and losses excluded from earnings and reported as component of other comprehensive
income loss until realized In fiscal 2010 the pre-tax unrealized holding gain related to our investment in

Yukes was $1 .7 million and in fiscal 2009 the pre-tax unrealized holding loss was $3.2 million As of

March 31 2010 the inception-to-date net unrealized holding gain on our investment in Yukes was

$2.4 million Due to the long-term nature of this relationship this investment is included in other long-term

assets in the consolidated balance sheets

Other long-term assets as of March 31 2010 and 2009 consisted of the following in thousands

March 31 March 31
2010 2009

Investment in Yukes $5564 $3847
Other intangible assets see Note 3701
Deferred financing costs 2781

Other 2255 2931

Total other long-term assets $10600 $10479

Restructuring

During fiscal 2009 we updated our strategic plan in an effort to increase our profitability and cash flow

generation We significantly realigned our business to focus on fewer higher quality games and have

established an operating structure that supports our more focused product strategy The realignment

included the cancellation of several titles in development the closure or spin-off of several of our

development studios and the streamlining of our corporate organization in order to support the new product

strategy including reductions in worldwide personnel

As result of these initiatives we recorded $5.7 million and $12.3 million in restructuring charges for fiscal

2010 and 2009 respectively resulting in restructuring charges of $1 8.0 million incurred to date Restructuring

charges are recorded as restructuring expenses in our consolidated statement of operations and include the

costs associated with lease abandonments less estimates of sublease income write-off of related long-lived

assets due to the studio closures as well as costs of other non-cancellable contracts We do not expect any
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future charges under the fiscal 2009 realignment other than additional facility related charges in the event

actual and estimated sublease income changes

The following table summarizes the significant components and activity under the restructuring plan for fiscal

2010 and 2009 and the accrual balances as of March 31 2010 and 2009 in thousands

Lease and
Contract Asset

Terminations Impairments Total

Balance as of March 31 2008

Charges to operations 5617 6649 12266
Non-cash write-offs 6649 6649
Cash payments 1447 1447
Foreign currency and other adjustments 886 886

Balance as of March 31 2009 $5056 $5056

Charges to operations 1936 3735 5671

Non-cash write-offs 3735 3735
Cash payments 4828 4828
Foreign currency and other adjustments 228 228

Balance as of March 31 2010 $2392 $2392

As of March 31 2010 $1.6 million of the restructuring accrual is included in accrued short-term liabilities and

$0.8 million is included in other long-term liabilities As of March 31 2009 $2.2 million of the restructuring

accrual was included in accrued short-term liabilities and $2.8 million was included in other long-term liabilities

The accrual balance as of March 31 201 relates to future lease payments for facilities vacated under our

2009 restructuring plan offset by estimates of future sublease income We expect the final settlement of this

accrual to occur by August 2015 which is the last payment date under our longest lease agreement that

was abandoned under our restructuring

In fiscal 2010 related to the 2009 realignment plan we also incurred

non-cash charges of $7.9 million recorded in cost of salessoftware amortization and royalties

related to the write-off of capitalized software for games that were cancelled in connection with

the realignment plan and

cash charges of $1 .3 million related to severance and other employee benefits Employee related

severance costs are classified in product development selling and marketing and general and

administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations based upon
the employees classification

In fiscal 2009 related to the realignment plan we also incurred

non-cash charges of $63.3 million recorded in cost of salessoftware amortization and royalties

related to the write-off of capitalized software for games that were cancelled in connection with

the realignment plan

non-cash charges of $1 .0 million recorded in cost of saleslicense amortization and royalties

related to impairment of licenses in connection with the cancelled games and

cash charges of $12.7 million related to severance and other employee benefits Employee

related severance costs are classified in product development selling and marketing and

general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

based upon the employees classification

10 Secured Credit Lines

In October 2008 we obtained line of credit with UBS in conjunction with the ARS settlement agreement

see Note 3Investment Securities which allows for borrowings of up to 75% of the market value of the

ARS as determined by UBS Borrowings under the line of credit are due on demand and are secured by

certain of our ARS held with UBS which have par value of $23.0 million and fair value of $21 .0 million at
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March 31 2010 As long as any borrowings are outstanding under the line of credit all interest dividends

distributions premiums and other income and payments received into our ARS investment account at UBS
will be automatically transferred to UBS as payments on the line of credit Additionally proceeds from any

liquidation redemption sale or other disposition of all or part of the ARS will be automatically transferred to

UBS as payments If these payments are insufficient to pay all accrued interest on the borrowings by the

monthly due date then UBS will either require us to make additional interest payments or at UBS discretion

capitalize unpaid interest as an additional advance UBS intent is to cause the interest rate payable by us to

be equal to the weighted average interest or dividend rate payable to us on the ARS pledged as collateral

Upon cancellation of the line of credit we will be reimbursed for any amount paid in interest on the line of

credit that exceeds the income on the ARS We had $1 3.2 million in borrowings outstanding at an interest

rate of 0.6% on this line of credit at March 31 2010

In December 2008 we obtained margin account at Wells Fargo Company for the purpose of borrowing

against our ARS this account was terminated in the three months ended December 31 2009

11 Convertible Senior Notes

On August 2009 we issued $1 00.0 million 5.00% convertible senior notes Notes After offering costs

the net proceeds to THQ were $96.8 million The Notes are due August 15 2014 unless earlier converted
redeemed or repurchased The Notes pay interest semiannually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of

each year beginning February 15 2010 through maturity and are convertible at each holders option at any
time prior to the close of business on the trading day immediately preceding the maturity date The Notes are

our unsecured and unsubordinated obligations

The Notes are initially convertible into shares of our common stock at conversion rate of 117.4743 shares

of common stock per $1 000 principal amount of Notes equivalent to an initial conversion price of

approximately $8.51 per share At this conversion rate and upon conversion of 100% of our Notes

outstanding at March 31 2010 our Notes would convert into 11.7 million shares of common stock The

conversion rate is subject to adjustment in certain events such as stock split the declaration of dividend

or the issuance of additional shares Also the conversion rate will be subject to an increase in certain events

constituting make-whole fundamental change the maximum number of shares to be issued under which

cannot exceed 14.7 million The Notes will be redeemable in whole or in part at our option at any time after

August 20 2012 for cash at redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the Notes plus accrued

but unpaid interest if the price of share of our common stock has been at least 150% of the conversion

price then in effect for specified periods In the case of certain events such as acquisition or liquidation of

THQ or delisting of our common stock from U.S national securities exchange holders may require us to

repurchase all or portion of the Notes for cash at purchase price of 100% of the principal amount of the

Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest

Costs incurred related to the Notes offering amounted to $3.2 million and are classified as other long-term

assets net in the consolidated balance sheet at March 31 2010 these costs are being amortized on

straight-line basis over the term of the Notes Amortization expense associated with these costs was

$0.4 million in fiscal 2010 and is classified as interest and other income expense net in the consolidated

statements of operations Additionally interest expense related to the Notes was $3.1 million in fiscal 2010

and is classified as interest and other income expense net in the consolidated statement of operations

The effective interest rate including amortization of debt issuance costs for fiscal 2010 was 5.35% In fiscal

2010 we paid $2.7 million in interest on the Notes

12 Credit Facility

On June 30 2009 we entered into Loan and Security Agreement the Credit Facility with Bank of

America N.A of as agent and the lenders party thereto from time to time The Credit Facility provides

for $35.0 million revolving credit facility which can be increased to $50.0 million subject to lender consent

pursuant to $15.0 million accordion feature and includes $15.0 million letter of credit subfacility

The Credit Facility has three-year term and bears interest at floating rate equivalent to at our option

either the base rate plus spread of 1.0% to 2.5% or LIBOR pIus 2.5% to 4.0% depending on the fixed

charge coverage ratio Borrowings under the Credit Facility are conditioned on our maintaining certain fixed

charge coverage ratio and certain liquidity level as set forth in the Credit Facility In fiscal 2010 we incurred

fees totaling $0.6 million related to the initiation of the Credit Facility of which $0.4 million was closing fee
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paid to of We will be required to pay other customary fees including an unused line fee based on

usage under the Credit Facility The borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility fluctuates based upon our

levels of U.S accounts receivable subject to standard deductions and reserves At March 31 2010 we had

no borrowings under the Credit Facility and $35.0 million of available borrowing capacity In fiscal 2010 we

incurred unused line fees amounting to less than $0.1 million these fees are classified as general and

administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations

The Credit Facility is guaranteed by most of our domestic subsidiaries each an Obligor and secured by

substantially all of our assets

The Credit Facility contains customary affirmative and negative covenants including among other terms and

conditions limitations on our and each Obligors ability to create incur guarantee or be liable for

indebtedness other than certain types of permitted indebtedness dispose of assets outside the ordinary

course subject to certain exceptions acquire merge or consolidate with or into another person or entity

other than certain types of permitted acquisitions create incur or allow any lien on any of their respective

properties except for certain permitted liens make investments or capital expenditures other than certain

types of investments or capital expenditures or pay dividends or make distributions each subject to certain

limitations In addition the Credit Agreement provides for certain events of default such as nonpayment of

principal and interest when due there under breaches of representations and warranties noncompliance

with covenants acts of insolvency and default on certain material contracts subject to certain limitations and

cure periods At March 31 2010 we were in compliance with all covenants related to the Credit Facility

13 Capital Stock Transactions

On July 31 2007 and October 30 2007 our board authorized the repurchase of up to $25.0 million of our

common stock from time to time on the open market or in private transactions for an aggregate of

$50.0 million As of March 31 2010 and 2009 we had $28.6 million authorized and available for common

stock repurchases During fiscal 201 we did not repurchase any shares of our common stock There is no

expiration date for the authorized repurchases

14 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income Loss

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income loss were as follows in thousands

Foreign Net

Currency Unrealized Net Accumulated

Translation Gains Other

Gains Losses Comprehensive

Losses on Securities Income Loss

Balance at March 31 2007 $16107 $1496 $17603

Other comprehensive income 9372 219 9591

Balance at March 31 2008 25479 1715 27194
Other comprehensive loss 28019 1567 29586
Balance at March 31 2009 2540 148 2392
Other comprehensive income 8978 1281 10259

Balance at March 31 2010 $6438 $1429 $7867

The foreign currency translation adjustments relate to indefinite investments in non-U.S subsidiaries and

thus are not adjusted for income taxes

15 Earnings Loss Per Share

Basic earnings loss per share is computed as net income loss attributable to THQ Inc divided by the

weighted-average number of shares outstanding for the period Diluted earnings per share reflects the

potential dilution that could occur from common shares issuable through stock-based compensation plans

including stock options stock-based awards purchase opportunities under our ESPP and the conversion of

the Notes see Note 11Convertible Senior Notes Under the provisions of the if-converted method the

Notes are assumed to have been converted at the beginning of the respective period or at the time of

issuance if later and are included in the denominator of the diluted calculation and the after-tax interest

expense and amortization of debt issuance costs in connection with the Notes are added back to the

numerator of the diluted calculation However the if-converted amounts are only included in the numerator

and denominator of the diluted calculation if the result of the if-converted calculation is dilutive
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The following table is reconciliation of the weighted-average shares used in the computation of basic and

diluted loss per share for the periods presented in thousands

Fiscal Year Ended March 31
2010 2009 2008

Net loss attributable to THQ Inc used to compute basic loss per share $9017 $431 12 $35337

Weighted average number of shares outstandingbasic 67522 66861 66475
Dilutive effect of potential common shares

Number of shares used to compute loss per sharediluted 67522 66861 66475

As result of our net loss for fiscal 201 the result of the if-converted calculation applied to our Notes issued

on August 2009 was antidilutive and as such we did not include the potential conversion of 11.7 million

shares under our Notes in our diluted loss per share calculation Additionally after-tax interest expense and

amortization of debt issuance costs in connection with the Notes totaling $3.1 million and $0.4 million net of

tax of zero see Note 9Income Taxes for further information respectively was not added back to the

numerator of the diluted calculation for fiscal 2010

As result of our net loss for fiscal years 2010 2009 and 2008 all potential shares were excluded from the

computation of diluted earnings per share as their inclusion would have been antidilutive There were

10.4 million 9.0 million and 5.2 million potential common shares that were excluded from the computation of

diluted loss per share for fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Had we reported net income for fiscal

2010 2009 and 2008 an additional 0.3 million 0.7 million and 1.8 million shares of common stock

respectively would have been included in the number of shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share

16 Employee Defined Contribution Plan

For our United States employees we sponsor defined contribution plan under Section 40 1k of the Internal

Revenue Code The plan allows for discretionary company matching of employee contributions as well as

discretionary profit-sharing contributions based on company performance We also have various defined

contribution/pension plans for our non-U.S employees some of which are required by local laws and allow

or require company contributions Employer contributions under all defined contribution/pension plans were

$1.9 million $5.9 million and $6.1 million in fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The decrease in

employer contributions in fiscal 2010 was related to our cost containment efforts for discretionary plans

17 Settlement Agreements

Settlement Agreement between THQ and Jakks related to the Preferred Return Arbitration

In June 1998 the THQ Jakks Pacific LLC LLC joint venture entered into video game license

agreement with the WWE the license granted the LLC exclusive worldwide rights to publish video games
based upon WWE content the License In October 1999 we entered into an operating agreement with

JAKKS Pacific Inc Jakks that governed our relationship with respect to the License the LLC Operating

Agreement Pursuant to the LLC Operating Agreement THQ was responsible for funding all operations

including all payments owed to WWE and managing the day-to-day operations of the LLC including all tasks

necessary to develop and publish the WWE-licensed games Jakks was responsible for the approval process

and other relationship matters with WWE

Pursuant to the terms of the LLC Operating Agreement JAKKS was entitled to preferred payment from net

sales derived from exploitation of the WWE videogame license the Preferred Return THO was entitled to

the remaining profits and cash distributions of the LLC Accordingly prior to December 31 2009 the results

of the LLC were consolidated with our results as THQ was determined to be the primary beneficiary of the

LLC The Preferred Return was classified as cost of salesventure partner expense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations The LLC was dissolved as of December 31 2009 see below
Agreements between THQ and Jakks and thus as of January 201 we will no longer consolidate the

LLCs results nor record venture partner expense

The LLC Operating Agreement set the rate of the Preferred Return through December 31 2003 and

thereafter THQ and Jakks extended the Preferred Return rate through June 30 2006 The percentage of

the Preferred Return for the period beginning July 2006 and ending December 31 2009 the Subsequent
Distribution Period was to be determined by agreement or failing that by arbitration The parties were

unable to reach agreement on the Preferred Return rate for the Subsequent Distribution Period and thus

submitted their dispute to binding arbitration In July 2009 the arbitrator rendered decision accepting our
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position and establishing significantly lower Preferred Return rate to JAKKS The new rate was effective as

of July 2006 and applied through December 31 2009 On August 17 2009 we entered into settlement

agreement with JAKKS which reflected the decision of the arbitrator From July 2006 through June 30

2009 we had been accruing this expense at the contract payment rate that expired June 30 2006 which

prior to the arbitrators decision was the best basis available upon which to estimate this expense As

result of establishing the Preferred Return rate for the period under dispute we revised our previous estimate

which resulted in one-time reduction in accrued venture partner expense of $24.2 million with

corresponding reduction in venture partner expense during the three months ended September 30 2009 In

August 2009 we paid Jakks $32.8 million related to the period beginning July 2006 and ending

March 31 2009 which we had previously not paid pending the settlement of the Preferred Return rate

matter

Settlement Agreements related to the License

From October 2004 through December 2009 we were involved in various legal disputes with both WWE and

Jakks related to the License On December 22 2009 we entered into settlement agreements with both

WWE and Jakks related to the License and the LLC The material terms of the agreements are summarized

below The summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Agreements

Settlement Agreement between THQ and WWE

The settlement agreement between THQ and the WWE provides that THQ will pay $13175000 to

the WWE ii WWE will dismiss with prejudice all remaining claims against THQ Jakks and the LLC
and iii THQ and WWE will release claims against each other including claims against Brian Farrell

as more fully specified in the WWE Settlement Agreement The settlement agreement contained

provision stating that it would not become effective unless and until prior to December 31 2009
THQ and WWE entered into new license agreement for WWE video games WWE entered

into release agreement with Jakks and THQ entered into settlement agreement with Jakks

This settlement agreement became effective on December 22 2009 Accordingly in December 2009
THQ paid $1 31 75000 to WWE and all remaining claims against THQ Jakks and the LLC were
dismissed or withdrawn with prejudice

Agreements between THQ and Jakks

We entered into two agreements with Jakks The first settlement agreement terminated the LLC

Operating Agreement and provided for the parties to dissolve the LLC as of December 31 2009
vests ownership of and all right title and interest in and to all assets obligations and liabilities of

the LLC including but not limited to intellectual property belonging to the LLC in THQ effective

January 2010 allows THQ to enter into video game license with WWE effective January

2010 and provides that the LLC shall not renew the License and that any notice of renewal sent

to the WWE shall be of no force and effect and thus the License shall terminate as of December 31
2009 As consideration for the termination provisions set forth in this agreement THQ agreed to pay

Jakks total of $20.0 million as follows $6.0 million on or before June 30 2010 $6.0 million

on or before June 30 2011 $4.0 million on or before June 30 2012 and $4.0 million on or

before June 30 2013 The present value of these amounts is included in other current liabilities and

other long-term liabilities in our March 31 2010 consolidated balance sheet The LLC was dissolved

as of December 31 2009

The second settlement agreement between THQ and Jakks provides that THQ shall make the

payments to Jakks as set forth in the above-referenced agreement and that the parties will dismiss

and/or withdraw with prejudice all outstanding claims against each other As of December 31 2009
both parties had dismissed or withdrew with prejudice all claims against each other

To determine the appropriate accounting for the settlement agreements we first identified the various

elements of each arrangement We determined that we were not able to reliably estimate the fair value of the

litigation component of the settlement and thus have measured this component as the residual value

remaining after determining the fair value of any assets received The fair value of the assets receivedthe

new WWE licensewas determined using Level valuation inputs specifically discounted future cash flow

model over the eight-year term of the license and we concluded that the license rate approximated fair

value As result in the period ended December 31 2009 we recorded $29.5 million charge which was

classified as venture partner expense and represented the present value of the current and future cash

payment contained in the settlement the residual value less amounts previously accrued
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18 Stock-based Compensation

Prior to July 20 2006 we utilized two stock option plans the THQ Inc Amended and Restated 997 Stock

Option Plan the 1997 Plan and the THQ Inc Third Amended and Restated Nonexecutive Employee Stock

Option Plan the NEEP Plan The 1997 Plan provided for the issuance of up to 14357500 shares

available for employees consultants and non-employee directors and the NEEP Plan provided for the

issuance of up to 2142000 shares available for nonexecutive employees of THQ of which no more than

20% was available for awards to our nonexecutive officers and no more than 5% was available for awards

to the nonexecutive officers or general managers of our subsidiaries or divisions The 1997 Plan and the

NEEP Plan were cancelled on July 20 2006 the same day THQs stockholders approved the THQ Inc 2006

Long-Term Incentive Plan LTIP
Under the 1997 Plan we granted incentive stock options non-qualified stock options performance

accelerated restricted stock PARS and performance accelerated restricted stock units PARSUs The
NEEP Plan provided for the grant of only non-qualified stock options to non-executive officers of the

Company The LTIP provides for the grant of stock options including incentive stock options stock

appreciation rights SAR5 restricted stock awards restricted stock units RSUs and other performance

awards in the form of performance shares or performance units to eligible directors and employees of and

consultants or advisors to the Company Subject to certain adjustments as of March 31 2010 the total

number of shares of THQ common stock that may be issued under the LTIP shall not exceed 11500000
shares Shares subject to awards of stock options or SARs will count as one share for every one share

granted against the share limit and all other awards will count as 2.17 shares for every one granted against

the share limit As of March 31 2010 we had 5616298 shares available for grant under the LTIP

The purchase price per share of common stock purchasable upon exercise of each option granted under the

1997 Plan the NEEP Plan and the LTIP may not be less than the fair market value of such share of

common stock on the date that such option is granted Generally options granted under our plans become

exercisable over three years and expire on the fifth anniversary of the grant date Other vesting terms are as

follows

PARS and PARSUs that have been granted to our officers under the 1997 Plan and the LTIP

vest with respect to 100% of the shares subject to the award on the fifth anniversary of the grant

date subject to continued employment of the grantee provided however 20% of the shares

subject to each award will vest on each of the first through fourth anniversaries of the grant date

if certain performance targets for the Company are attained each fiscal year

PARSUs granted to our non-employee directors under the 1997 Plan are currently fully vested

Deferred Stock Units DSU5 granted to our non-employee directors under the LTIP vest monthly

over twelve month period provided however DSUs may not be released to director until

thirteen months after the date of grant DSUs granted to our non-employee directors prior to

July 31 2008 under the LTIP vested immediately but were also subject to thirteen-month

release restriction

RSUs granted to our employees do not carry any performance or acceleration conditions Certain

awards vest with respect to 00% of the shares on the third anniversary of the grant date and

other awards vest at each anniversary of the grant date over three-year period all subject to

continued employment of the grantee

The fair value of our restricted stock and restricted stock units is determined based on the closing trading

price of our common stock on the grant date The fair value of PARS PARSUs DSUs and RSUs granted is

amortized over the vesting period

Beginning in March 2007 we offered our non-executive employees the ability to participate in an employee
stock purchase plan as amended and restated ESPP Under the ESPP up to 1500000 shares of our

common stock may be purchased by eligible employees during six-month offering periods that commence
each March and September or the first business day thereafter each an Offering Period The first

business day of each Offering Period is referred to as the Offering Date The last business day of each

Offering Period is referred to as the Purchase Date Pursuant to our ESPP eligible employees may
authorize payroll deductions of up to percent of their base salary subject to certain limitations to

purchase shares of our common stock at 85 percent of the lower of the fair market value of our common
stock on the Offering Date or Purchase Date The fair value of the ESPP options granted is amortized over

the offering period
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Stock-based compensation includes all awards and purchase opportunities stock options PARS PARSUs
DSUs RSUs and ESPP options Nonvested shares and vested shares refer to our PARS PARSU DSU and

RSU awards

For fiscal 201 2009 and 2008 stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated

statements of operations was as follows in thousands

Year Ended March 31

2010 2009 2008

Cost of salessoftware amortization and royalties $3408 $5797 $6800
Product development 2606 3242 4773

Selling and marketing 1181 2432 2654
General and administrative 4688 7128 8444

Stock-based compensation expense before

income taxes 11883 18599 22671

Income tax benefit 3352 5447 6132
Total stock-based compensation expense after

incometaxes $8531 $13152 $16539

Income tax benefit presented for fiscal 201 and portion of fiscal 2009 is presented

prior to consideration of our deferred tax asset valuation allowance see Note

Income Taxes for further information

As discussed in Note 1Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies we

capitalize relevant amounts of stock-based compensation expense The following table summarizes

stock-based compensation expense included in our consolidated balance sheets as component of

software development in thousands

Balance at March 31 2008 $2802
Stock-based compensation expense capitalized during the period 5368
Amortization of capitalized stock-based compensation expense 5797
Balance at March 31 2009 $2373
Stock-based compensation expense capitalized during the period 2637
Amortization of capitalized stock-based compensation expense 3408
Balance at March 31 2010 $1602

Stock-based compensation expense is based on awards that are ultimately expected to vest and

accordingly stock-based compensation expense recognized in fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 has been

reduced by estimated forfeitures Our estimate of forfeitures is based on historical forfeiture behavior as well

as any expected trends in future forfeiture behavior

The fair value of stock options and ESPP options granted is estimated on the date of grant using the

Black-Scholes option pricing model Anticipated volatility is based on implied volatilities from traded options

on our stock and on our stocks historical volatility The expected term of our stock options granted is based

on historical exercise data and represents the period of time that stock options granted are expected to be

outstanding and the expected term for our ESPP options is the six-month offering period Separate groups

of employees that have similar historical exercise behavior are considered separately for valuation purposes
The risk-free rate for periods within the expected lives of stock options and ESPP options are based on the

US Treasury yield in effect at the time of grant
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The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of options granted during fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008

was $2.77 $3.25 and $8.28 respectively and were based on the weighted-average assumptions noted in

the table below

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

March 31 March 31 March31
2010 2009 2008

Dividend yield

Anticipated volatility 65.6% 46.8% 36%

Weighted-average risk-free interest

rate 1.5% 1.8% 3.9%

Expected lives 3.0 years 3.0 years 3.2 years

The fair value per share of ESPP options for the six-month offering periods that began on March 2010
September 2009 and September 2008 was $1 .62 $1 .98 and $3.98 respectively and were based on

the weighted- average assumptions noted in the table below

March September September
2010 2009 2008

Dividend yield

Anticipated volatility 48.1% 84.5% 36.8%

Weighted-average risk-free interest

rate 0.2% 0.2% 1.9%

Expected lives 0.5 years 0.5 years 0.5 year

summary of our stock option activity for fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 is as follows in thousands except per

share amounts

Weighted-

Average

Weighted- Remaining

Average Contractual Aggregate
Exercise Term Intrinsic

Options Price in years Value

Outstanding at March 31 2007 7564 $19.15

Granted 2982 $27.44

Exercised 1422 $14.89

Forfeited/expired/cancelled 1007 $25.86

Outstanding at March 31 2008 8117 $22.10

Granted 3925 $10.40

Exercised 438 $13.71

Forfeited/expired/cancelled 2779 $20.42

Outstanding at March 31 2009 8825 $17.84

Granted 4203 $6.26

Exercised 121 $4.62

Forfeited/expired/cancelled 3701 $15.89

Outstanding at March 31 2010 9206 $13.51 3.1 $6914

Vested and expected to vest 8392 $13.94 3.1 $6248

Exercisable at March 31 2010 3678 $20.73 1.8 $1105

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of stock option and
the quoted price of our common stock at March 31 2010 It excludes stock options that have exercise prices

in excess of the quoted price of our common stock at March 31 2010 The aggregate intrinsic value of stock

options exercised during fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 was $0.2 million $2.6 million and $19.5 million

respectively
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summary of the status of our nonvested shares for fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 is as follows in thousands

except per share amounts

Weighted-

Average
Grant-date

Fair Value

Shares Per Share

Nonvested shares at March 31 2007 339 $21 .81

Granted 494 $29.74

Vested 92 $23.60

Forfeited/cancelled 129 $25.34

Nonvested shares at March 31 2008 612 $22.16

Granted 369 $17.73

Vested 83 $22.88

Forfeited/cancelled 179 $20.99

Nonvested shares at March 31 2009 719 $20.09

Granted 42 $6.49

Vested 135 $11.66

Forfeited/cancefled 167 $20.74

Nonvested shares at March 31 2010 459 $1 9.40

The unrecognized compensation cost that we expect to recognize related to our nonvested stock-based

awards at March 31 2010 and the weighted-average period over which we expect to recognize that

compensation is as follows in thousands

Unrecognized

Compensation Weighted-

Cost at Average
March 31 Period

2010 in years

Stock options $11117 1.4

Nonvested shares 3258 .7

ESPP 187 0.4

$14562

Cash received from exercises of stock options for fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 was $0.6 million $6.0 million

and $21.1 million respectively The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from exercises of all

stock- based awards totaled zero for fiscal 2010 and 2009 and $5.5 million for fiscal 2008

During fiscal 2010 we increased additional paid-in capital by $4.1 million net of tax of $0.2 million related to

reduction in our unrecognized tax benefits primarily related to favorable resolutions of U.S federal income

tax examinations for the years March 31 2004 through March 31 2005

The fair value of all our stock-based awards that vested during fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 was $1 2.5 million

$22.4 million and $23.5 million respectively

Non-Employee Stock Warrants In prior years we granted stock warrants to third parties in connection with

the acquisition of licensing rights for certain key intellectual property The warrants vested upon grant and are

exercisable over the term of the warrant The exercise price of third-party stock warrants is equal to the fair

market value of our common stock at the date of grant No third-party stock warrants were granted or

exercised during fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 however warrants for 240000 shares expired unexercised in

fiscal 2010

At March 31 2010 we had 150000 stock warrants outstanding with an exercise price of $10.45 per share

and an expiration date of December 31 2013 At March 31 2009 and 2008 we had 390000 stock warrants

outstanding with weighted average exercise price per share of $12.32

We measure the fair value of our warrants granted on the measurement date The fair value of each stock

warrant issued to licensors is capitalized and amortized to cost of saleslicense amortization and royalties
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expense when the related product is released and the related net sales are recognized In fiscal 2010 2009
and 2008 we incurred amortization expense of $0.1 million $0.4 million and $0.5 million respectively
related to these warrants Additionally the recoverability of intellectual property licenses is evaluated on
quarterly basis with amounts determined as not recoverable being charged to expense In connection with

the evaluation of capitalized intellectual property licenses any capitalized amounts for related third-party

stock warrants are additionally reviewed for recoverability with amounts determined as not recoverable being
amortized to expense

19 Income Taxes

United States and foreign income loss before taxes and details of the provision for income tax were as

follows in thousands

Income loss from continuing operations before income taxes
United States

Foreign

Provision for income tax expense benefit
Current

Federal

State

Foreign

Total current

Deferred

Federal

State

Foreign

Total deferred

Provision for income tax expense benefit

Fiscal Year Ended March 31
2010 2009 2008

$26470 $384363 $99868
14765 2867 27233

$1 1705 $387230 $72635

$4302 $1734 $4552
316 90 102

3487 10461 13601

499 12285 8947

1337 24478 33930
11294 6317

591 1831 4485
746 33941 44732

$247 $46226 $35785

The differences between the U.S federal statutory tax rate and our effective tax rate expressed as

percentage of income loss from continuing operations before income taxes were as follows

Fsca Year Ended March 31
2010 2009 2008

U.S federal statutory tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Impact of changes in unrecognized tax benefits 2.7 0.3 6.4
State taxes net of federal impact .8 .9 5.7
Tax exempt interest income 0.7 0.3 3.3
Research and development credits 14.6 0.6 3.2
Non-deductible stock-based compensation 0.2 0.2 2.8

Valuation allowance 46.0 36.5

Capital losses 30.1
Rate differences in foreign taxes and other 37.6 9.6 .5

Effective tax rate 2.1% 12.0% 49.3%

73



Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the amounts of assets

and liabilities for accounting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes The components of

the net deferred income tax asset and liability were as follows in thousands

March 31
2010 2009

Deferred income tax assets

Accruals reserves and other expenses $35281 $33438
Tax credit carryforwards 36194 31090
Net operating loss carryforwards 129252 125680

Depreciation and amortization 7760 9565
Unrealized loss on investments 1557 3445
Other 23166 27910

Total deferred income tax assets 233210 231128

Valuation allowance 167443 164225
Deferred tax asset net of valuation allowance 65767 66903

Deferred income tax liabilities

Software development costs 58831 58809
Unrealized gain on investments 913

Total deferred income tax liabilities 59744 58809
Net deferred tax asset $6023 $8094

As of March 31 2010 current net deferred tax assets were $5.6 million and long term net deferred tax

assets were $0.4 million As of March 31 2009 current net deferred tax assets were $6.1 million and long

term net deferred tax assets were $2.0 million

As of March 31 2010 we have federal and various state net operating loss carryforwards totaling

$353.8 million and $212.7 million respectively that expire through 2030 and foreign net operating loss

carryforwards totaling $26.7 million the majority of which can be carried forward through 2030 provided that

we do not have an ownership change as defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code as

amended In order to discourage such an ownership change and protect our net operating loss

carryforwards on May 12 2010 we entered into Section 382 Rights Agreement for further information see

Note 20Stockholders Rights Plan

The tax credit carryforwards as of March 31 2010 include research and development tax credit carryforwards

of $24.5 million and $1 9.8 million for federal and state purposes respectively The federal tax credit

carryforwards expire through 2030 while the majority of the state credits are from California and can be

carried forward indefinitely

We evaluate our deferred tax assets on regular basis to determine if valuation allowance against the net

deferred tax assets is required cumulative taxable loss in recent years is significant negative evidence in

considering whether deferred tax assets are realizable We have had three years of cumulative U.S tax

losses and can no longer rely on common tax planning strategies to use U.S tax losses and we are

precluded from relying on projections of future taxable income to support the recognition of deferred tax

assets As such the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the existence of sufficient

taxable income generated in the carryforward periods As result our deferred tax assets are reduced by

valuation allowance of $167.4 million and $164.2 million at March 31 2010 and March 31 2009

respectively as we believe that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be fully realized

The increase in the valuation allowance was primarily due to our fiscal 2010 U.S tax loss partially offset by

the recognition of $3.6 million NOL carryback benefit claimed pursuant to change in tax law The deferred

tax assets for which valuation allowance has been established include all domestic deferred tax assets

such as federal and state net operating loss carryforwards and research and development credit

carryforwards as well as certain foreign net operating loss carryforwards

portion of the tax benefits associated with certain net operating loss carryforwards relates to employee

stock options Current year net operating losses have been reduced by $0.9 million for these items credit

will be recorded to additional paid-in capital when the net operating losses attributable to the employee stock

options can be utilized to reduce our income taxes payable
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At March 31 2010 we had accumulated foreign earnings of $70.5 million We do not plan to repatriate these

earnings therefore no U.S income tax has been provided on the foreign earnings Additionally we have
not tax effected the cumulative translation adjustment as we have no intention of repatriating foreign

earnings

We recognize the financial statement benefit of tax position only after determining that the relevant tax

authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit For tax positions meeting the

more likely than noV threshold the amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that

has greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in

thousands

Balance at April 12007 $18604
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 2266
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 1755
Reductions as result of lapse of applicable statute of limitations 229
Settlements 7250
Balance at March 31 2008 11636
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 807
Additions for tax positions of prior years 42
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 1506
Balance at March 31 2009 10979
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 171
Settlements 6180
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 499
Balance at March 31 2010 $6019

The total unrecognized tax benefit of $6.0 million at March 31 2010 is reflected in our consolidated balance

sheet as $4.4 million in net long-term deferred tax assets and $1 .6 million in other long-term liabilities The
amount of unrecognized tax benefits at March 31 2010 includes $4.8 million of unrecognized tax benefits

which if ultimately recognized will reduce our annual effective tax rate

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S federal jurisdiction and various states and foreign jurisdictions

Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation of the related tax laws and

regulations and require significant judgment to apply With few exceptions we are no longer subject to U.S
federal state and local or non-U.S income tax examinations by tax authorities for fiscal years before 2004

On September 2009 we received notification from the IRS that the Joint Committee on Taxation had

completed its review of our file and took no exception to the conclusions reached by the IRS We have
evaluated the impact of the conclusions reached in the IRS examination and accordingly in fiscal 2010 we
reduced our uncertain tax positions

Our uncertain tax positions at March 31 2010 relate to tax years that remain subject to examination by the

relevant tax authorities The THQ/JAKKS Pacific LLC joint venture is currently under routine examination by
the IRS for the 2006 taxable year We are currently under audit by various U.S state and foreign jurisdictions

for fiscal years subsequent to 2003 We expect some of these examinations to be concluded and settled in

the next 12 months however we are currently unable to estimate the potential impact to the liability for

unrecognized tax benefits or the timing of such changes We do not anticipate any significant changes in the

unrecognized tax benefits in fiscal 2011 related to the expiration of the statutes of limitations

Our policy is to recognize interest and penalty expense if any related to uncertain tax positions as

component of income tax expense For fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 we recognized zero $0.2 million and
$0.1 million in interest expense respectively related to uncertain tax positions As of March 31 2010 and

2009 we had an accrued liability of zero and $0.8 million respectively for interest related to uncertain tax

positions These amounts if any are included in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance

sheets

20 Stockholders Rights Plan

As of March 31 2010 THQs stockholders held their stock subject to an Amended and Restated Rights

Agreement dated August 22 2001 as amended by the First Amendment to the Amended and Restated
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Rights Agreement dated as of April 2002 collectively the Rights Agreement Pursuant to the Rights

Agreement and as adjusted pursuant to Section 11p of the Rights Agreement as result of the stock splits

which occurred on April 2002 and on September 2005 each share of THO common stock held on

March 31 2010 was accompanied by four-ninths 4/9 of preferred stock purchase right Right which

entitled the registered holder to purchase four nine-thousandths 4/9000 of share of Series Junior

Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $44.44 The Rights would have become exercisable

10 days after any person or group subject to certain exceptions acquired or 10 business days after any

person or group subject to certain exceptions announced its intention to commence tender offer for 15%

or more of the outstanding common stock of THQ In the event that any such person or group acquired 5%
or more of our outstanding common stock each holder of Right other than such person or group would

have been entitled to purchase at the exercise price the number of shares of common stock having

current market value equal to two times the exercise price of the Right

Pursuant to the Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated May 12 2010

the Rights expired on May 12 2010 and on the same date the Company and Computershare Trust

Company N.A as rights agent entered into Section 382 Rights Agreement the 382 Rights Agreement
Pursuant to the 382 Rights Agreement each holder of THQs common stock on May 24 2010 received

right to purchase one one-thousandth of share of Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the

Company par value $01 the Preferred Stock at purchase price of $35.00 If issued each such

fractional share of Preferred Stock would give the stockholder approximately the same dividend voting and

liquidation rights as does one share of the Companys common stock However prior to exercise right does

not give its holder any rights as stockholder of the Company including without limitation any dividend

voting or liquidation rights The rights will not be exercisable until the earlier of ten business days after

public announcement that person has become an Acquiring Person by acquiring beneficial ownership of

4.9% or more of the Companys outstanding common stock or in the case of person that had beneficial

ownership of 4.9% or more of the Companys outstanding common stock as of the close of business on

May 12 201 by obtaining beneficial ownership of additional shares of the Companys common stock

representing one-tenth of one percent 0.1% of the common stock then outstanding and ii ten business

days or such later date as may be specified by the Companys board prior to such time as any person

becomes an Acquiring Person after the commencement of tender or exchange offer by or on behalf of

person that if completed would result in such person becoming an Acquiring Person

21 Commitments and Contingencies

summary of annual minimum contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of March 31

2010 is as follows in thousands

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments6

Fiscal License

Years Software

Ending Development
March 31 Commitments1 Advertising2 Leases3 Debt4 Other5 Total

2011 $112478 $5798 $14905 $13249 $6653 $153083

2012 59963 14207 14209 6582 94961

2013 16600 2676 11217 4000 34493

2014 12000 1325 10043 4000 27368

2015 10000 577 8850 100000 119427

Thereafter 22500 1000 11560 35060

$233541 $25583 $70784 $113249 $21235 $464392

Licenses and Software Development We enter into contractual arrangements with third parties for the rights to

exploit intellectual property and for the development of products Under these agreements we commit to provide

specified payments to an intellectual property holder or developer Assuming all contractual provisions are met

the total future minimum contract commitments for such agreements in place as of March 31 2010 are

$233.5 million License/software development commitments in the table above include $111 .2 million of

commitments to licensors/developers that are included in our consolidated balance sheet as of March 31 2010

because the licensors do not have any significant performance obligations to us These commitments were

included in both current and long-term licenses and accrued royalties/current and long-term software

development and accrued liabilities

Advertising We have certain minimum advertising commitments under most of our major license agreements

These minimum commitments generally range from 2% to 12% of net sales related to the respective license
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Leases We are committed under operating leases with lease termination dates through 2020 Most

of our leases contain rent escalations Of these obligations $1 .6 million and $0.8 million are accrued

and classified as accrued and other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities respectively in the

March 31 2010 consolidated balance sheet due to abandonment of certain lease obligations in

connection with our fiscal 2009 business realignment We expect to receive $0.8 million $0.4 million

$0.2 million in sublease rental income in fiscal 2011 fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2013 respectively under

non-cancelable sublease agreements Rent expense was $13.9 million $15.9 million and

$16.1 million for fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Secured Credit Lines In fiscal 2009 we obtained credit line with UBS related to our portfolio of

ARS held by UBS We had $13.2 million in borrowings outstanding on the UBS credit line at

March 31 2010 see Note 10Secured Credit Lines

Convertible Senior Notes On August 2009 we issued the Notes The Notes pay interest

semiannually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year beginning February 15 2010

through maturity and are convertible at each holders option at any time prior to the close of business

on the trading day immediately preceding the maturity date In fiscal 2010 we paid $2.7 million in

interest on the Notes and absent any conversions we expect to pay $5.0 million in each of the fiscal

years 2011 through 2014 and $2.5 million in fiscal 2015 for an aggregate of $25.2 million in interest

payments over the term of the Notes see Note 11Convertible Senior Notes

Other As discussed more fully in Note 17Settlement Agreements the amounts payable to Jakks

totaling $20.0 million are reflected in the table above The present value of these amounts is

included in other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet at

March 31 2010 The remaining other commitments included in the table above are also included as

current or long-term liabilities in our March 31 2010 consolidated balance sheet

We have omitted unrecognized tax benefits from this table due to the inherent uncertainty regarding

the timing and amount of certain payments related to these unrecognized tax benefits The

underlying positions have not been fully developed under audit to quantify at this time At March 31

2010 we had $6.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits See Note 19Income Taxes in the notes

to the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding the unrecognized tax

benefits

Manufacturer Indemnification We must indemnify the platform manufacturers Microsoft Nintendo Sony of

our games with respect to all loss liability and expenses resulting from any claim against such manufacturer

involving the development marketing sale or use of our games including any claims for copyright or

trademark infringement brought against such manufacturer As result we bear risk that the properties

upon which the titles of our games are based or that the information and technology licensed from others

and incorporated into the products may infringe the rights of third parties Our agreements with our

third-party software developers and property licensors typically provide indemnification rights for us with

respect to certain matters However if manufacturer brings claim against us for indemnification the

developers or licensors may not have sufficient resources to in turn indemnify us

Indemnity Agreements We have entered into indemnification agreements with the members of our Board of

Directors our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer to provide contractual right of

indemnification to such persons to the extent permitted by law against any and all liabilities costs expenses

amounts paid in settlement and damages incurred by any such person as result of any lawsuit or any

judicial administrative or investigative proceeding in which such person is sued as result of service as

member of our Board of Directors as Chief Executive Officer or as Chief Financial Officer The indemnification

agreements provide specific procedures and time frames with respect to requests for indemnification and

clarify the benefits and remedies available to the indemnitees in the event of an indemnification request

Litigation

We are subject to ordinary routine claims and litigation incidental to our business We do not believe that any

liability from any reasonably foreseeable disposition of such claims and litigation individually or in the

aggregate would have material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of

operations
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22 Segment and Geographic Information

We operate in one reportable segment in which we are developer publisher and distributor of interactive

entertainment software for home video game consoles handheld platforms and PCs The following

information sets forth geographic information on our net sales and total assets for fiscal 2010 2009 and

2008 in thousands

North Asia

America Europe Pacific Consolidated

Year ended March 31 2010

Net sales to unaffiliated customers $558673 $277647 $62817 $899137
Total assets $581790 $93836 $38703 $714329
Year ended March 31 2009

Net sales to unaffiliated customers $457819 $314063 $58081 $829963
Total assets $466895 $105407 $26027 $598329
Year ended March 31 2008

Net sales to unaffiliated customers $503134 $454880 $72453 $1030467
Total assets $895145 $156351 $32824 $1084320

Our largest single customer accounted for 7% 14% and 14% of our gross sales in fiscal 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively Our second largest customer accounted for 15% 13% and 12% of our gross sales in

fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Information about THQs net sales by platform for fiscal 2010 2009 and 2008 is presented below in

thousands

Fiscal Year Ended March 31
2010 2009 2008

Consoles

Microsoft Xbox 360

Nintendo Wii

Sony PlayStation

Sony PlayStation

Other
_________ _________ ___________

Handheld

Nintendo Dual Screen 144272 168726 226912
Sony PlayStation Portable 44508 50927 84030
Wireless 11403 22865 19751
Nintendo Game Boy Advance 3336 36655

200183 245854 367348

PC 72436 88003 94264
Total Net Sales $899137 $829963 $1030467

23 Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

Twelve Months Ended March 31 2010

$236929 $162895 $129483
137219 134334 91431

199546 106753 85533

52816 92003 252642
121 9766

626518 496106 568855

Quarter Ended

June 30 Sept 30 Dec 31 March 31 Fiscal

In thousands except per share data 2009 2009 2009 2010 2010

Net sales $243501 $101290 $356678 $197668 $899137
Gross profit 85997 47173 84156 55762 273088
Restructuring 1652 870 336 2813 5671

Operating income loss 7166 6084 1351 9380 9649
Net income loss attributable to THQ Inc 6409 5570b 542 10398 9017
Earnings loss per sharebasic $0.09 $0.08 $0.01 $0.15 $0.13
Earnings loss per sharediluted $0.09 $0.08 $0.01 $0.15 $0.13
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Twelve Months Ended March 31 2009

In thousands except per share data

Net sales

Gross profit

Goodwill impairment

Restructuring

Operating income loss
Income loss from continuing operations

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net

of tax

Net income loss attributable to THQ lnc
Earnings loss per sharebasic

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Earnings loss per sharebasic

Earnings loss per sharediluted

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Earnings loss per sharediluted

Quarter Ended

Includes business realignment charges and adjustments related to severance and cancellation of

games which are not classified as restructuring as follows income/expense

Quarter Ended Full Fiscal

________ Sept 30 Dec 31 March 31 Year

$518 $67 $7852 $8091
669 35623 37223 77042

Includes one-time reduction of $24.2 million classified as venture partner expense related to

reduction in accrued venture partner expense for additional information see Note 6Balance

Sheet Details

Includes $29.5 million in settlement charges classified as venture partner expense related to the

Agreements described in Note 7Settlement Agreements Also includes benefit to income tax

expense of $3.6 million related to the recognition of net operating loss benefit claimed pursuant to

change in tax law

See Note 1Description of the Business and Significant Accounting Policies for discussion of the

fiscal 2009 goodwill impairment charges

Based on amounts attributable to THQ Inc i.e subsequent to the allocation of noncontrolling

interest

Includes other-than-temporary impairment on investment securities of $4.6 million and additional

income tax expense related to the recognition of $71 .6 million valuation allowance on our

September 30 2009 closing deferred tax assets see Note 9Income Taxes

Includes other-than-temporary impairment on investment securities of $1.7 million

24 Discontinued Operations

In December 2006 we sold our 50% interest in Minick Holding AG Minick As of June 30 2008 we

received $20.6 million in cash from the sale of Minick and we recognized gain of $2.1 million in the three

months ended June 30 2008 The gain is presented as Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax

in our consolidated statement of operations for fiscal 2009 Pursuant to the Minick sale agreement no

additional consideration was outstanding as of June 30 2008

June 30 Sept 30 Dec 31 March 31 Fiscal

2008 2008 2008 2009 2009

$137578 $164816 $357310 $170259 $829963

36191 28360 42722 15653 91620
118131 668 118799

4752 7514 12266

46012 54966 199586 87149 387713
29266 115296 191860 97034 433456

2042 2042

27224 11 5260W 191 754 96874 4311 12

$0.44 $1.73 $2.86 $1.44 $6.48
0.03 0.03

$0.41 $1.73 $2.86 $1.44 $6.45

$0.44 $1.73 $2.86 $1.44 $6.48
0.03 0.03

$0.41 $1.73 $2.86 $1.44 $6.45

In thousands June 30

Fiscal 2010 $824
Fiscal 2009 3527

79



Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Definition and/imitations of disc/osure controls and procedures Our disclosure controls and procedures as
defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e underthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the
Exchange Act are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to

be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act such as this report is recorded processed
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commissions
rules and forms Disclosure controls and procedures are also designed to ensure that such information is

accumulated and communicated to our management including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures
These limitations include the possibility of human error the circumvention or overriding of the controls and

procedures and reasonable resource constraints In addition because we have designed our disclosure

controls and procedures based on certain assumptions which we believe are reasonable about the

likelihood of future events our disclosure controls and procedures may not achieve its desired purpose under

all possible future conditions Accordingly our disclosure controls and procedures provide reasonable

assurance but not absolute assurance of achieving their objectives

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

after evaluating the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures have concluded that as of

April 2010 our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in providing the requisite reasonable

assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange
Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SECs rules and

forms and is accumulated and communicated to our management including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Changes in internal control over financial reporting There were no changes in our internal control over

financial reporting that occurred during our fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 that have materially affected or are

reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We as management of THQ Inc and its subsidiaries the Company are responsible for establishing and

maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the

Securities and Exchange Commission internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or

under the supervision of the Companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons

performing similar functions and effected by the Companys board of directors management and other

personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation

of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

and includes those policies and procedures that

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts

and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the Company and

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition

use or disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements

Management has conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over

financial reporting as of April 2010 based on the control criteria established in report entitled Internal
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ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission Based on such assessment we have concluded that the Companys internal control over

financial reporting is effective as of April 2010

Deloitte Touche LLP the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated

financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K has issued an audit report on our internal

control over financial reporting That report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Is BRIAN FARRELL /s PAULJ PUCINO

Brian Farrell Paul Pucino

Chairman of the Board President and Executive Vice President

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer Principal Financial Officer

June 2010 June 42010

Item 9B Other Information

None
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of THQ Inc

Agoura Hills California

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of THQ Inc and subsidiaries the Company as

of April 2010 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The Companys management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report

on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing
the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of

internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision of

the companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions and
effected by the companys board of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control

over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records

that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have
material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of

collusion or improper management override of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud may not

be prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the

internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of April 32010 based on the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheet as of April 2010 and the related consolidated statements

of operations total equity and cash flows for the year then ended of the Company and our report dated

June 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements

/s/DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP
Los Angeles California

June 42010
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The following information required by Item is incorporated herein by reference from our definitive Proxy

Statement for the 201 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which will be filed within 120 days after the close of

our fiscal year the Proxy Statement

Information regarding directors who are nominated for election is included under the caption

Proposal Number 1Election of Directors

Information regarding executive officers is included under the caption Executive Officers

Information related to involvement in certain legal proceedings is included under the caption

Involvement in Certain Proceedings

Information regarding the audit committee and its financial expert is included under the caption

Committees of the Board of Directors and

Information regarding Section compliance is included under the caption Section 16a
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Information regarding our code of ethics applicable to our directors principal executive officer principal

financial officer principal accounting officer and other senior financial officers appears under the caption

Charters Code of Ethics and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required under this Item relating to executive compensation will be included in the Proxy

Statement under the heading Executive Compensation and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related

Stockholder Matters

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Information for our equity compensation plans in effect as of March 31 2010 is as follows

Number of

Securities

to be Issued Upon
Exercise of

Outstanding

Options
Plan Warrants and

Category Rights

Equity compensation plans approved by security

holders 9868472

Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders 1507501

Total 10019222

Number of Securities

Remaining Available

for

Weighted-average Future Issuance

Exercise Price of Under

Outstanding Equity Compensation

Options Plans Excluding
Warrants and Securities Reflected in

Rights Column

$12.68 5616298

$10.46

$12.64 5616298

Represents the aggregate number of shares of THQ common stock to be issued upon exercise of

individual compensation arrangements with employee and non-employee option and warrant holders

Amount includes 50000 outstanding warrants for further information related to these warrants see

Note 18Stock-based Compensation in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included

in Item The 750 outstanding options were granted under sub-plan of the Companys Third

Amended and Restated Non-executive Employee Stock Option Plan the NEEP Plan For

description of the material features of the NEEP Plan see Note 18Stock-based Compensation in

the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Item As of July 20 2006 the

Company does not grant equity awards from the NEEP or from any other non-security holder

approved equity compensation plan
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The information required by this Item related to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and

management is incorporated herein by reference to the information in the Proxy Statement under the caption

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

There were no reportable business relationships transactions with management or indebtedness of

management during fiscal 2010

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information regarding principal accounting fees and services and the Companys pre-approval policies

and procedures for audit and non-audit services provided by the Companys independent accountant is

incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the caption Proposal Number 2Ratification of

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statements of the Company are included in Part IlItem

Page

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 40

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated balance sheetsMarch 31 2010 and 2009 41

Consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2009 and 2008 42

Consolidated statements of total equity for the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2009 and 2008 43

Consolidated statements of cash flows for the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2009 and 2008 44

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45
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Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed herewith or are incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed with the

SEC We will furnish copies of the exhibits for reasonable fee covering the expense of furnishing copies

upon request

Exhibit

Number Title

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Post-Effective Amendment
No ito the Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on January 1998 File No 333-32221

the S-3 Registration Statement

3.2 Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Post-

Effective Amendment No to the S-3 Registration Statement

3.3 Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2001

3.4 Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q for the period ended September 30 2007

3.5 Amended and Restated Bylaws incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companys Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on March 12 2009

3.6 Amended and Restated Certificate of Designation Preferences and Rights of Series Junior

Participating Preferred Stock of THQ Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the

Companys Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on May 13 2010 File No 001-15959 the

May 2010 8-A
4.1 Rights Agreement dated as of May 12 2010 by and between the Company and Computershare

Trust Company N.A as rights agent which includes as Exhibit the Form of Rights Certificate

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the May 2010 8-A

4.2 Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of August 22 2001 between the Company
and Computershare Investor Services LLC as Rights Agent incorporated by reference to

Exhibit to Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on

August 28 2001 File No 001-15959

4.3 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated April 2002 between the

Company and Computershare Investor Services LLC as Rights Agent incorporated by reference

to Exhibit to Amendment No to the Companys Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on

April 12 2002 file No 000-18813

4.4 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of May 12 2010

between the Company and Computershare Investor Services LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 13 2010

4.5 Indenture dated as of August 2009 between the Company and Union Bank N.A as trustee

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

August 2009 the August 2009 8-K
4.6 Form of 5.00% Convertible Senior Note incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

August 2009 8-K

10.1 Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of December 31 2008

between the Company and Brian Farrell incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31 2009 the
March 2009 10-K

0.2 Indemnification Agreements dated as of November 30 2004 between the Company and each

director of the Company being the following Lawrence Burstein Henry DeNero Brian

Dougherty Brian Farrell and James Whims incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form 0-0 for the quarterly period ended December 31 2004 the
December 2004 0-Q

0.3 Indemnification Agreement dated as of March 28 2006 between the Company and Jeffrey

Griffiths the form of which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Companys
December 2004 0-Q
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Exhibit

Number Title

0.4 Indemnification Agreement dated as of January 31 2008 between the Company and Gary

Rieschel the form of which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 0.4 to the Companys
December 2004 10-0

10.5 Indemnification Agreement dated as of March 2009 between the Company and Paul Pucino

the form of which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Companys December 2004

10-0

0.6 THO Inc Amended and Restated 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit to the Companys Proxy Statement on Schedule 4A filed July 2008

10.7 THQ Inc Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit to the Companys Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed July 2009

10.8 THQ Inc Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Option Plan as amended on August 18 2005

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 for the

period ended September 30 2005

10.9 Third Amended and Restated Non-executive Employee Stock Option Plan incorporated by

reference to Appendix to the Companys Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed July 2003

10.10 THO Inc Stock Unit Deferred Compensation Plan effective as of August 18 2005 incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended March 31 2007 the March 2007 10-K

10.11 Form of Severance Agreement with Executive Officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 for the quarter ended June 30 2006 the
June 2006 10-0

10.12 Form of Severance Agreement with Senior Officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

the Companys June 2006 10-0

10.13 Form of Severance Agreementwith Officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the

Companys June 2006 10-0

0.1 Form of Change-in-Control Agreement with Executive and Senior Officers incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Companys June 2006 10-0

10.15 Form of Change-in-Control Agreement with Officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to

the Companys June 2006 10-0

10.16 THO Inc Management Deferred Compensation Plan effective as of January 12005 incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 23
2004

10.17 Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 30 2009 by and among the Company the

financial institutions party to the Agreement from time to time as lenders Lenders and Bank of

America N.A as agent for the Lenders incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Companys Quarterly report on Form 10-0 for the period ended September 30 2009 the

September 2009 0-0
10.18 FirstAmendmentto Loan and SecurityAgreementdated asofJanuary2l 2010 byand among

the Company Lenders and Bank of America N.A as agent for the Lenders

10.19 Settlement Agreement dated as of August 17 2009 by and between the Company and JAKKS

Pacific Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys September 2009 10-0

10.20 Settlement Agreement dated as of December 22 2009 between the Company and World

Wrestling Entertainment Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on December 29 2009

10.21 Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release dated as of December 22 2009 by and between the

Company Jakks Pacific Inc and THQ/JAKKS Pacific LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 29 2009

10.22 Agreement dated as of December 22 2009 between the Company and JAKKS Pacific Inc

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 0.3 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

December 29 2009

10.23 PlayStation CD-Rom DVD-Rom Licensed Publisher Agreement dated as of April 2000
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Exhibit

Number Title

between Sony Computer Entertainment America Inc and the Company incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.10 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 for the period ended

September 30 2002 the September 2002 10-Q
0.24 Amendment to the PlayStation CD-Rom DVD-Rom Licensed Publisher Agreement dated

January 2004 between Sony Computer Entertainment America Inc and the Company
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the March 2009 10-K

10.25 Latin American Rider to the PlayStation CD-Rom DVD-Rom Licensed Publisher Agreement
effective as of December 2008 between Sony Computer Entertainment America Inc and the

Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the March 2009 10-K

1026 PlayStation Licensed Publisher Agreement dated as of July 28 2003 between Sony Computer
Entertainment Europe Limited and THQ International Limited incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 for the period ended September 30
2003

0.27 PlayStation Portable Licensed Publisher Agreement dated as of November 17 2004 between

Sony Computer Entertainment America Inc and the Company incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys December 2004 0-0

10.28 Latin American Rider to the PlayStation Portable Licensed Publisher Agreement effective as of

December 17 2008 between Sony Computer Entertainment America Inc and the Company
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the March 2009 10-K

10.29 Global PlayStation Format Licensed Publisher Agreement and North American Territory Rider

effective as of March 2007 by and between Sony Computer Entertainment America Inc and the

Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended March 31 2008

10.30 Latin American Rider to the Global PlayStation Format Licensed Publisher Agreement effective

as of December 12 2008 between Sony Computer Entertainment America Inc and the Company
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the March 2009 10-K

0.31 Xbox 360 Publisher License Agreement dated as of October 31 2005 by and between Microsoft

Licensing GP and the Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys
Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 for the quarter ended December 31 2005

0.32 Amendment to the Xbox 360 Publisher License Agreement effective as of October 2006 by

and between Microsoft Licensing GP and the Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1

tn th nmnnv icirtrl Rnrrt nn Frrm 1T fnr th ru irtr nrlrl flmhr 2flfl\

10.33 Amendment to the Xbox 360 Publisher License Agreement dated as of January 17 2007 by and

between Microsoft Licensing GP and the Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to

the Companys Annual Report on the March 2007 10-K

10.34 Amendment to the Xbox 360 Publisher License Agreement effective as of July 2008 by and

between Microsoft Licensing GP and the Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 for the quarter ended September 30 2008

10.35 Amendment No to the Xbox 360 Publisher License Agreement effective as of October 21 2008

between Microsoft Licensing GP and the Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q for the quarter ended December 31 2008

10.36 Form of Web Portal Xbox LIVE WebServices Addendum to the Xbox 360 Publisher License

Agreement dated as of October 31 2005 by and between Microsoft Licensing GP and the

Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Companys September 2009 10-0

10.37 Letter Amendment to the Xbox 360 Publisher License Agreement dated as of October 19 2009

by and between Microsoft Licensing GP and THQ UK Limited

10.38 Amendment to the Xbox 360 Publisher License Agreement Russian Incentive Program Hits

Program Revisions effective as of February 26 2010 by and between Microsoft Licensing GP
and the Company

10.39 Confidential License Agreement for the Nintendo DS handheld platform dated as of January 25
2005 between Nintendo of America Inc and the Company incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.32 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31 2005
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Exhibit

Number Title

0.40 First Amendment to the Confidential License Agreement for Nintendo DS effective as of

October 15 2007 between Nintendo of America Inc and the Company incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 for the quarter ended

June 302008

10.41 Side Letter Agreement to the Confidential License Agreement for Nintendo DS dated February 25
2009 between Nintendo of America Inc and the Company incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.35 to the March 2009 10-K

10.42 Confidential First Renewal License agreement for Nintendo DS EEA Australia and New Zealand

effective as July 20 2008 between Nintendo Co Ltd the Company and certain of the

Companys subsidiaries incorporated by reference to Exhibit 0.2 to the Companys Quarterly

Report on Form 0-Q for the quarter ended December 31 2008

10.43 Amendment Letter dated November 23 2009 to Confidential First Renewal License Agreement for

Nintendo DS and Nintendo DSi EEA Australia and New Zealand by and between

Nintendo Co Ltd the Company and certain of the Companys subsidiaries incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 for the quarter ended

December 31 2009 the Companys December 2009 0-Q

10.44 Confidential License Agreement for the Wii Console Western Hemisphere dated as of

October 12 2007 between Nintendo of America Inc and the Company incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended

December 31 2007

0.45 Add On Content Addendum to the Confidential License Agreement for the Wii Console Western

Hemisphere effective as of March 23 2009 between Nintendo of America Inc and the Company

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the March 2009 10-K

10.46 First Amendment to Confidential License Agreement for the Wii Console Western Hemisphere

effective as of September 15 2009 by and between Nintendo of America Inc and the Company

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

September 25 2009

0.47 Confidential First Renewal License Agreement for the Wii Console EEA Australia and New

Zealand effective as of October 30 2009 by and among the Company certain of Companys
subsidiaries and Nintendo Co Ltd

10.48 Lease agreement dated December 22 2004 between the Company as Tenant and

FORCE-AGOURA ROAD LLC and Dennis Jacobsen Family Holdings II LLC as Landlord

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Companys December 2004 10-0

14 Code of Ethics for Executive Officers and Other Senior Financial Officers as adopted May 27
2004 incorporated by reference from the Companys Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

March 31 2006

21 Subsidiaries of the Company

23.1 Consent of Deloitte Touche LLP

31.1 Certification of Brian Farrell Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31 .2 Certification of Paul Pucino Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32 Certification of Brian Farrell Chief Executive Officer and Paul Pucino Chief Financial Officer

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

Management contract of compensatory plan or arrangement
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Portions have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission

pursuant to request for confidential treatment in accordance with Rule 24b-2 under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Dated June 2010 THQ INC

By Is Brian Farrell

Brian Farrell Chairman of the Board

President and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

Dated June 2010 THQ INC

By /s Paul Pucino

Paul Pucino Executive Vice President Chief

Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

Dated June 2010 THQ INC

By Is Ten Manby

Ten Manby Vice President Chief Accounting

Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

Is BRIAN FARRELL Director Chairman of the Board President June 2010

Brian Farrell
and Chief Executive Officer Principal

Executive Officer

Is PAULJ PUCINO Executive Vice President Chief Financial June 42010
Paul Pucino Officer Principal Financial Officer

I5ITERIJ MANBY Vice President Chief Accounting Officer June 42010
Ten Manby Principal

Accounting Officer

Is LAWRENCE BURSTEIN Director June 2010

Lawrence Burstein

Is HENRY DENERO Director June 2010

Henry DeNero

Is BRIAN DOUGHERTY Director June 2010

Brian Dougherty

Is JEFFREY GRIFFITHS Director June 2010

Jeffrey Griffiths

Is GARY RIESCHEL Director June 2010

Gary Rieschel

/s JAMES WHIMS Director June 42010

James Whims
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THQ Inc and Subsidiaries

Reconciliation of GAAP net loss to non-GAAP net income loss
In thousands except per share data

Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended

March 31 March 31

2010 2009 2010 2009

Net sales 197668 170259 899137 829963

Changes in deferred net revenue 253 15939 10485 17348

Non-GAAP net sales 197415 154320 888652 812615

Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended

March 31 March31

2010 2009 2010 2009

Operating loss 9380 87149 9649 387713

Non-GAAP adjustments affecting operating loss

JAKKS preferred return rate reduction 24221

JAKKS and WWE settlement 29488

Changes in deferred net revenue 253 15939 10485 17348

Change in deferred cost of sales 303 10780 5462 13749

Goodwill impairment 668 118799

Business realignment expenses 11715 44737 14812 89308

Stock-based compensation and related costs 2535 5069 10196 18599

Total non-GAAP adjustments affecting operating loss 14300 45315 25252 223107

Non-GAAP operating income loss 4920 41834 15603 164606

Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended

March 31 March 31

2010 2009 2010 2009

Net loss attributabletoTHQ Inc 10398 96874 9017 431112

Non-GAAP adjustments

Non-GAAP adjustments affecting operating loss 14300 45315 25252 223107

Realignment attributable to noncontrolling interest 1050 1050
Gain on sale of investments 640

Other-than-temporary impairment on investments 1718 6279

Mark-to-market on trading Auction Rate Securities 119 157 157

Interest and other income expense net 63
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance and related tax 29054 146075

Income tax adjustments 1.566 15452 1.657 46293

Non-GAAP net income loss 4416 36358 12668 101787

Non-GAAP earnings loss per share diluted 0.06 0.54 0.19 1.52

Notes

See explanation above regarding the Companys practice on reporting non-GAAP financial measures

Represents the one-time reduction in accrued joint venture partner expense resulting from the settlement of the preferred return rate with JAKKS Pacific

Represents the expense related to the settlement of litigation with WWE and JAKKS Pacific in December 2009

See table below for further detail related to income statement classification of these adjustments

Represents realignment attributable to noncontrolling interest

Realized gains on sales of investments to the extent we had previously excluded related other-than-temporary impairmentfrom non-GAAP amounts

Mark-to-market adjustment related to unrealized gains on trading Auction Rate Securities ARS partially offset by related unrealized losses on put option

received in connection with the ARS This amount is recorded in Interest and other income expense net
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On April 2009 the Company adopted fixed long-term projected tax rate of 15% for the purposes of evaluating its operating performance and to

forecast plan and analyze future periods

Non-GAAP earnings loss per share diluted has not been calculated using the if-converted method relative to the Convertible Senior Notes Notes
issued in August 2009 as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive or because the Notes were not outstanding

The following table provides further detail on the income statement classification of certain non-GAAP adjustments that impact cost and expenses

Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended

March 31 March 31

2010 2009 2010 2009

Change in deferred cost of sales

Change in deferred product costs 183 5514 2690 3477

Change in deferred software amortization and royalties 120 5266 2772 10272

Total change in deferred cost of sales 303 10780 5462 13749

Business realignment expenses

Cost of sales software amortization and royalties 7853 33554 7853 63314

Cost of sales license amortization and royalties 980 980

Product development 1049 1521 727 9368

Selling and marketing 394 497 2014

General and administrative 774 64 1366

Restructuring 2813 7514 5671 12266

Total business realignment expenses 11715 44737 14812 89308

Stock-based compensation and related costs

Cost of sales software amortization and royalties 682 1440 3408 5797

Product development 586 1551 1763 3242

Selling and marketing 332 406 843 2432

General and administrative 935 1672 4182 7128

Total stock-based compensation and related costs 2535 5069 10196 18599

Notes

Stock-based compensation and related costs in the twelve months ended March 31 2010 is net of the impact of the reversal of portion of payroll tax

accruals established in fiscal 2007 during our historical stock option grant practices inquiry
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brian Farrell

President and Chief Executive Officer

Chairman of the Board of Directors

anny Bilson

Fxecutive Vice President Core Games

Ian Curran

Fxecutive Vice President Global Publishing

Martin Good

txecutive Vice President Kids Family

Casual Games and Global Online Services

Idward Kaufman

Ixecutive Vice President Business and

egal Affairs Corporate Secretary

Paul Pucino

Ixecutive Vice President and Chief

Iinancial Officer

Steven Dauterman

Senior Vice President Core Games

Product Development

Stephen DeCosta

Senior Vice President Core Games

Operations and Finance

Rory Donnelly

Senior Vice President European Publishing

Germaine Gioia

Senior Vice President Licensing and

Merchandising

Kris Graves

Senior Vice President Human Resources

und Administration

Cindy Hudson

Senior Vice President Kids Family and

Casual Games Product Development

rerri Schiek

Senior Vice President Americas Publishing

I3OARD OF DIRECTORS

Brian Farrell

President and Chief Executive Officer

Chairman of the Board of Directors

FHQ Inc

Lawrence Burstein

President

Unity Venture Capital Associates Ltd

private investment company

Henry DeNero

Independent Management Consultant

Brian Dougherty
Chief Executive Officer

AirSet Inc

software development company

Jeffrey Griffiths

President and Chief Executive Officer

Lumber Liquidators Holdings Inc

hardwood flooring retailer

Former President and CEO

Electronics Boutique Holdings Corp
video game retailer

Gary Rieschel

Founder and Managing Director

Qiming Venture Partners

private investment company

James Whims

Managing Director of TechFund Capital

L.P

TechFund Capital II L.P and

TechFund Capital Europe

venture capital firms

CORPORATE OFFICE

THQ Inc

29903 Agoura Road

Agoura Hills California 91301

Tel 818-871-5000

Fax 818-871-7400

Web www.thq.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche LLP

Los Angeles California

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
AGENT

Computershare Investor Services LLC

North LaSalle Street

Chicago Illinois 60602

COMMON STOCK

NASDAQ Global Select Market

Symbol THQI

FORM 10-K

copy of the companys annual
report

on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

March 31 2010 is available on THQs
website www.thq.com The report will

also be furnished upon request directed

to

Julie MacMedan

Vice President Investor Relations and

Corporate Communications

THQ Inc

Tel 818-871-5125

Email investor@thq.com

ANNUAL MEETING

Four Seasons Hotel Westlake

Dole Drive

Westlake Village CA 91362

This annual report contains statements that are

forward-looking statements within the meaning

of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of

1995 Such statements include but are not limited

to the companys expectations for the current and

future fiscal years These forward-looking statements

are based on current expectations estimates and

projections about the business of THQ Inc and

its subsidiaries collectively referred to as THQ
and are based upon managements beliefs and

certain assumptions made by management Such

forward-looking statements are subject to risks

and uncertainties that could cause actual results to

differ materially from those expressed or implied by

such forward-looking statements including but not

limited to economic competitive and technological

factors affecting the operations markets products

services and pricing of THQ Unless otherwise

required bylaw THQ disclaims any obligation to

update its view on any such risks or uncertainties or

to revise or publicly release the results of any revision

to these forward -looking statements Readers should

carefully review the risk factors and the information

that could materially affect THQc financial results

described in other documents that THQ files from

time to time with the Securities and Exchange

Commission including its Quarterly Reports on

Form 10-Q and its Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the fiscal period ended March 31 2010 and

particularly the discussion of risk factors that may

affect
results of operations set forth therein Readers

are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these

forward-looking statements which speak only as of

the date of this annual report

THQ Red Faction Red Faction Guerrilla Red

Faction Armageddon Darksiders Homefront

Drawn to Life World of Zoo deBlob deBlob

The Underground Company of Heroes Saints

Row Devils Third and their respective logos

are trademarks and/or registered trademarks of

THQ Inc All other trademarks are trademarks or

registered trademarks of their respective owners
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